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geries so as to trigger 3M’s duty to warn.?

[17,18] We need not reach this ques-
tion because an alternative ground exists
to affirm. Under South Carolina law, a
manufacturer or seller is liable under ei-
ther theory for failing to warn only if the
plaintiff shows “that he was injured by the
product” in question. Dema v. Shore En-
ters., Ltd., 312 S.C. 528, 435 S.E.2d 875,
876 (S.C. Ct. App. 1993); Bragg, 462 S.E.2d
at 326; Madden, 328 S.E.2d at 112; see also
Bray v. Marathon Corp., 356 S.C. 111, 588
S.E.2d 93, 95 (2003) (“A products liability
plaintiff must prove the product defect was
the proximate cause of the injury sus-
tained.”); Young v. Tide Craft, Inc., 270
S.C. 453, 242 S.E.2d 671, 679 (1978) (hold-
ing that the plaintiff’s failure-to-warn claim
failed because she did not show that the
issue with the product in question that
ostensibly required a warning was a proxi-
mate cause of the injuries). The question
whether the Bair Hugger used in Louis
Gareis’s surgery caused his PJI was tried
to the jury, which returned a special ver-
dict finding that the Gareises failed to
prove this point. As 3M points out in its
opening brief and as discussed above, see
supra Section II.A., the jury heard exten-
sive evidence supporting this finding. Its
“verdict in favor of [3M] on the [causation
issue] indicates the jury would not have
found in favor” of the Gareises on their
failure-to-warn claim even if the claim had
survived summary judgment. See Cava-
tato, 570 F.3d at 1024. Thus, the district

3. It is undisputed that 3M did not provide a
warning for the Bair Hugger used in Louis
Gareis’s surgery.

4. In their opening brief, the Gareises re-
peatedly assert that the district court errone-
ously granted summary judgment to 3M re-
garding their duty-to-warn (or failure-to-
warn) ‘‘claim.” For the first time in their
reply brief, they assert that other counts be-
sides their failure-to-warn counts were erro-
neously dismissed at summary judgment for

court’s grant of summary judgment on this
claim, “even if wrong, did no harm.” See
Wing, 748 F.2d at 498. Accordingly, we
affirm it.

III.

For the foregoing reasons, we affirm.
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Background: Following affirmance on di-
rect appeal of petitioner’s state-court con-
victions for first-degree murder, forcible
rape, and armed criminal action, and death
sentence, 265 S.W.3d 257, and denial of his
state-court motion for postconviction relief,
378 S.W.3d 328, he filed petition for feder-
al habeas relief. The United States District

the same reason their failure-to-warn counts
were erroneously dismissed. We do not con-
sider whether these other counts were proper-
ly dismissed. See, e.g., United States v. Grace,
893 F.3d 522, 525 (8th Cir. 2018) (“Issues not
raised in a party’s opening brief are
waived.”); Lors v. Dean, 595 F.3d 831, 835 n.3
(8th Cir. 2010) (per curiam) (finding waiver
where the appellant failed to raise the errone-
ous dismissal of a count in his complaint until
the reply brief).
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Court for the Eastern District of Missouri,
Catherine D. Perry, Senior District Judge,
173 F.Supp.3d 855, granted the petition, in
part, and vacated the death sentence.
State appealed.

Holdings: The Court of Appeals, Kobes,
Circuit Judge, held that:

(1) on an issue of apparent first impres-
sion, defense counsel did not perform
deficiently, as element of ineffective
assistance of counsel claim, in failing to
investigate potential impeachment evi-
dence in psychiatrist’s background pri-
or to penalty phase of trial;

(2) petitioner was not prejudiced, as ele-
ment of ineffective assistance claim, by
counsel’s failure to investigate evidence
in psychiatrist’s background; and

(3) federal habeas relief was not warranted
based on state trial judge’s weighing of
mitigating and aggravating factors that
resulted in imposition of death penalty.

Reversed and remanded.

Erickson, Circuit Judge, filed concurring
opinion.

1. Habeas Corpus &=845

A district court’s decision in a federal
habeas claim of ineffective assistance of
counsel presents mixed question of fact
and law. U.S. Const. Amend. 6; 28
U.S.C.A. § 2254(d).

2. Habeas Corpus =842, 846

The Court of Appeals reviews a dis-
trict court’s decision on a habeas claim of
ineffective assistance of counsel de novo,
but findings of underlying predicate facts
are reviewed under the clearly erroneous
standard. U.S. Const. Amend. 6; 28
U.S.C.A. § 2254(d).

3. Criminal Law ¢=1881

A convicted defendant’s claim that de-
fense counsel’s assistance was so defective

9 FEDERAL REPORTER, 4th SERIES

as to require reversal of a conviction or
sentence has two components: first, the
defendant must show that counsel’s per-
formance was deficient, and second, the
defendant must show that the deficient
performance prejudiced the defense. U.S.
Const. Amend. 6.

4. Criminal Law ¢=1961

Defense counsel did not perform defi-
ciently, as element of ineffective assistance
of counsel claim, in failing to investigate
potential impeachment evidence in psychi-
atrist’s background, involving his disciplin-
ary record for falsifying lab reports, prior
to penalty phase of defendant’s capital
murder trial, in which psychiatrist was
scheduled to provide mitigation testimony
regarding defendant’s extreme mental or
emotional disturbance which substantially
impaired his ability to appreciate criminali-
ty of his conduct; psychiatrist was referred
by mitigation specialist, counsel reviewed
psychiatrist’s curriculum vitae, counsel
knew that psychiatrist was presenter at
seminars and had served as witness in
other death penalty cases, and there was
no reason to question psychiatrist’s cre-
dentials. U.S. Const. Amend. 6.

5. Criminal Law ¢&=1884, 1891

While defense counsel’s strategic
choices made after thorough investigation
of law and facts relevant to plausible op-
tions are virtually unchallengeable, in a
claim of ineffective assistance of counsel,
strategic choices made after less than com-
plete investigation are reasonable precisely
to extent that reasonable professional
judgments support limitations on investi-
gation. U.S. Const. Amend. 6.

6. Criminal Law ¢&=1891

Defense counsel has a Sixth Amend-
ment duty to make reasonable investiga-
tions or to make a reasonable decision that

makes particular investigations unneces-
sary. U.S. Const. Amend. 6.

2a
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7. Criminal Law &=1891

In assessing the adequacy of defense
counsel’s investigation, a court deciding a
claim of ineffective assistance of counsel
must conduct an objective review of coun-
sel’s performance, measured for reason-
ableness under prevailing professional
norms, which includes a context-dependent
consideration of the challenged conduct as
seen from counsel’s perspective at the
time. U.S. Const. Amend. 6.

8. Criminal Law &=1871

For purpose of evaluating an ineffec-
tive assistance of counsel claim, defense
counsel should be strongly presumed to
have rendered adequate assistance and
made all significant decisions in exercise of
reasonable professional judgment. U.S.
Const. Amend. 6.

9. Criminal Law ¢=1871

The burden of rebutting the strong
presumption that defense counsel has ex-
ercised reasonable professional judgment
rests squarely on the defendant asserting
a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.
U.S. Const. Amend. 6.

10. Criminal Law ¢=1931

To comply with the Sixth Amendment,
defense counsel must practice some degree
of diligence in ensuring the foundation is

laid for the admission of an expert’s testi-
mony. U.S. Const. Amend. 6.

11. Criminal Law €=1960, 1961

Blindly putting on a single expert mit-
igation witness at a capital sentencing
hearing does not satisfy defense counsel’s
Sixth Amendment obligation to discover
and evaluate potential mitigating evidence.
U.S. Const. Amend. 6.

12. Criminal Law ¢=1931

Defense counsel is not deficient under
the Sixth Amendment where they reason-
ably rely on the professional community to

vet an expert witness. U.S. Const.

Amend. 6.

13. Criminal Law €=1931

In order to satisfy the Sixth Amend-
ment, defense counsel should generally in-
vestigate expert witness credentials to en-

sure his testimony is admissible. U.S.
Const. Amend. 6; Fed. R. Evid. 702.

14. Criminal Law ¢&=1883

In deciding the prejudice prong of an
ineffective assistance of counsel claim, the
court asks whether it is reasonably likely
the result would have been different, but
for counsel’s deficient performance; the
likelihood of a different result must be

substantial, not just conceivable. U.S.
Const. Amend. 6.

15. Criminal Law €=1960, 1961

Defendant was not prejudiced, as ele-
ment of ineffective assistance of counsel
claim, by counsel’s failure to investigate
potential impeachment evidence in psychi-
atrist’s background, involving his disciplin-
ary record for falsifying lab reports, prior
to penalty phase of defendant’s capital
murder trial, in which psychiatrist was
scheduled to provide mitigation testimony
regarding defendant’s extreme mental or
emotional disturbance which substantially
impaired his ability to appreciate criminali-
ty of his conduct; although psychiatrist did
not testify, and counsel could have hired
another expert if impeachment evidence
had been discovered, there was no showing
that other expert’s testimony would have
resulted in sentence other than death pen-
alty, in light of substantial aggravation
evidence. U.S. Const. Amend. 6.

16. Habeas Corpus &=486(1), 773

Taken together, the Antiterrorism and
Effective Death Penalty Act (AEDPA) and
Strickland establish a doubly deferential
standard of review for an ineffective assis-
tance of counsel claim asserted in a federal

3a
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habeas petition. U.S. Const. Amend. 6; 28
U.S.C.A. § 2254(d)(1).

17. Habeas Corpus €422

A federal habeas court will generally
not review the merits of claims, including
constitutional claims, that a state court
declined to hear because the petitioner
failed to abide by a state procedural rule;
in those cases, the state court’s judgment
rests on independent and adequate state
procedural grounds, and normally, a feder-
al habeas court cannot grant relief. 28
U.S.C.A. § 2254(d)(1).

18. Criminal Law ¢=1971

Posteonviction counsel eannot be inef-
fective for failing to raise meritless claim.
U.S. Const. Amend. 6.

19. Sentencing and Punishment

&=1780(3)

Jury instructions at a capital sentenc-
ing may not preclude jurors from consider-
ing any mitigating evidence unless all 12
jurors agreed on the existence of a particu-
lar such circumstance.

20. Sentencing and Punishment €1658

In a capital sentencing proceeding, ju-
rors must be allowed to make their own
decisions on which mitigating factors they
think weigh against the aggravating fac-
tors.

21. Habeas Corpus €=450.1, 452

If a federal habeas court must extend
a rationale before it can apply to the facts
at hand, then by definition the rationale
was not “clearly established” at the time of
the state-court decision, within the mean-
ing of the Antiterrorism and Effective
Death Penalty Act (AEDPA), and thus,
habeas relief is not warranted on that ba-
sis. 28 U.S.C.A. § 2254(d).

See publication Words and Phrases
for other judicial constructions and
definitions.

9 FEDERAL REPORTER, 4th SERIES

22. Habeas Corpus =496

Missouri Supreme Court’s rejection of
petitioner’s argument that his death sen-
tence imposed by state court judge, based
on weighing of mitigating and aggravating
circumstances after jury was deadlocked
on issue, was based on finding of fact not
made by jury in violation of Sixth Amend-
ment right to jury trial was not contrary to
or unreasonable application of clearly es-
tablished federal law, and thus, did not
warrant federal habeas relief; United
States Supreme Court precedent required
only that capital defendant was entitled to
jury determination of any fact on which
legislature conditioned increase in maxi-
mum punishment, but no such precedent
provided that weighing of mitigating and
aggravating circumstances at capital sen-
tencing was finding of fact that could only
be found by jury. U.S. Const. Amend. 6;
28 U.S.C.A. § 2254(d).

23. Jury &=34(9)

Pursuant to the Sixth Amendment,
capital defendants are entitled to a jury
determination of any fact on which the
legislature conditions an increase in their
maximum  punishment. U.S. Const.
Amend. 6.

24. Habeas Corpus =453

A federal habeas court may not sit in
judgment of a state supreme court’s inter-
pretation of the state’s law. 28 U.S.C.A.
§ 2254(d).

25. Sentencing and Punishment ¢=1652,
1668

As a constitutional threshold, to ren-
der a defendant eligible for the death pen-
alty in a homicide case, the trier of fact
must convict the defendant of murder and
find one aggravating circumstance or its
equivalent at either the guilt or penalty
phase.

4a
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Appeal from United States District
Court for the Eastern District of Mis-
souri - St. Louis

Kent E. Gipson, LAW OFFICE OF
KENT GIPSON, Kansas City, MO, Lau-
rence E. Komp, FEDERAL PUBLIC DE-
FENDER’S OFFICE, Kansas City, MO,
for Petitioner - Appellee.

Scott McLaughlin, Pro Se.

Caroline Marie Coulter, Gregory Mi-
chael Goodwin, Stephen David Hawke, Mi-
chael Joseph Spillane, Assistant Attorneys
General, ATTORNEY GENERAL’S OF-
FICE, Jefferson City, MO, for Respon-
dent - Appellant.

Before SHEPHERD, ERICKSON, and
KOBES, Circuit Judges.

KOBES, Circuit Judge.

Scott McLaughlin filed this habeas ac-
tion alleging (1) he received ineffective as-
sistance of sentencing counsel when his
lawyer failed to investigate potential im-
peachment evidence of his own expert
witness; and (2) his death sentence was
unconstitutional due to flaws in the jury
instructions. The district court agreed and
vacated his death sentence. We disagree
and reverse.

I.

A

The night before a hearing on his adult
abuse charge, Scott McLaughlin ambushed
his ex-girlfriend Beverly Guenther while
she was leaving work. When Guenther told
him to leave, McLaughlin attacked, stab-
bing Guenther repeatedly with a steak
knife. Guenther fought for her life,
scratching MecLaughlin’s arms and face,
but he forced her to the ground and con-
tinued to stab and strangle her. Then he
raped her. Once he was (finished,
McLaughlin threw Guenther’s body into

the back seat of his car and took her to the
Missouri River to dispose of her remains.
He couldn’t dump her into the river be-
cause the brush was too thick. Instead, he
left Guenther’s half-naked body in the
brush and drove off.

The next day, MecLaughlin was
“laugh[ing] and jok[ing].” App. 2336. A
friend described his demeanor as “friend-
ly” and said that the two had “nice conver-
sations.” Id. He went shopping to buy
bleach and other cleaning supplies, which
he said he needed to get rid of a mildew
smell in his car. When he got home from
shopping, McLaughlin poured the bleach
inside his car.

Police came looking for McLaughlin and
brought him in for questioning. They found
blood on his clothes and in his car. At the
station, police showed him the evidence
they had against him, and McLaughlin
eventually confessed and led police to
Guenther’s body.

The State charged MecLaughlin with
rape, first-degree murder, and two counts
of armed criminal action and sought the
death penalty. A jury convicted him of
rape, first-degree murder, and one count
of armed criminal action.

B.

The case moved to the penalty phase. In
Missouri, when the State seeks a penalty
of death after a jury conviction of first-
degree murder, “a second stage of the trial
shall proceed at which the only issue shall
be the punishment to be assessed and
declared.” Mo. Ann. Stat. § 565.030.4. The
trier of fact hears evidence in aggravation
and mitigation of the punishment. Id. After
that, the jury must find beyond a reason-
able doubt that a statutory aggravator is
present. Id. § 565.030.4(2). If no aggrava-
tor is present, then death cannot be as-

Sa
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sessed. Id. If the jury finds a statutory
aggravator, they move to the second step
where they consider whether the evidence
in mitigation is sufficient to outweigh the
evidence in aggravation. Id. § 565.030.4(3).
If the jury finds it is, then death cannot be
assessed. Id. If the mitigation evidence
does not outweigh the aggravation evi-
dence, then the jury proceeds to the third
step to “decide[ ] under all of the circum-
stances” whether or “not to assess and
declare the punishment at death.” Id.
§ 565.030.4(4). If they cannot, the judge
must decide. Id. § 565.030.4.

The State argued four statutory aggra-
vators: (1) the crime involved depravity of
mind based on the repeated and excessive
acts of physical abuse McLaughlin inflicted
on Guenther; (2) the murder was commit-
ted while McLaughlin was engaged in the
perpetration of forcible rape; (3) Guenther
was killed because she was a potential
witness in McLaughlin’s burglary prosecu-
tion; and (4) Guenther was Kkilled because
she was a potential witness in an order-of-
protection investigation.

In support, the State presented evidence
of McLaughlin’s history of stalking,
harassment, and aggression towards Guen-
ther. Following their break-up, McLaugh-
lin repeatedly called Guenther at work,
showed up at her office uninvited, and
lurked outside of her home. Another time,
police arrested McLaughlin for burglariz-
ing Guenther’s house. After charges were
filed, McLaughlin stopped Guenther in the
parking lot of her work to ask about the
pending case. When Guenther told
McLaughlin that she did not want to talk
to him, he tried to kiss her twice. On
another occasion, McLaughlin jumped
from the bushes and groped her breast.
Guenther reported McLaughlin was be-
coming more violent and aggressive as
time went on.

9 FEDERAL REPORTER, 4th SERIES

The State also presented evidence of
MecLaughlin’s criminal history. McLaugh-
lin had been convicted for first-degree
tampering, first-degree sexual assault
against a minor, forgery, and felony non-
support. He was also convicted of third-
degree assault for attempting to cut Guen-
ther’s neighbor with a knife.

McLaughlin argued for non-statutory
mitigators in his defense. He started with
a discussion of his troubled childhood.
McLaughlin’s biological father was an alco-
holic who abused his mother. He was
placed in multiple foster homes. Eventual-
ly, he was placed with and adopted by
Louise and Harlan MecLaughlin. Harlan
physically abused him. At a young age,
MecLaughlin was beaten with a paddle, but,
as time went on, Harlan, a police officer,
used a Taser and nightstick to punish him.
MecLaughlin also suffered emotional abuse.
He and his siblings had their access to
food limited by locks placed on the refrig-
erator and cabinet doors. McLaughlin’s
sister also recounted that Louise once
forced McLaughlin to drown a kitten in a
bucket of water.

Next, McLaughlin presented evidence
from  medical professionals.  When
McLaughlin was nine, he underwent a
comprehensive mental evaluation by two
doctors—Dr. Anthony Udziela and Dr. Pa-
squale Accardo. Both testified at the pen-
alty phase.

Dr. Udziela talked about MecLaughlin’s
intelligence. He noted that McLaughlin
has a low IQ and suffered from significant
issues related to attachment, anxiety, and
mistrust associated with the neglect he
suffered at a young age. He said that
McLaughlin’s childhood problems “mark-
edly affected his development and had a
major impact on him resulting in an ad-
justment disorder with depressed fea-
tures.” App. 2482.
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Dr. Accardo testified about a neurode-
velopmental assessment. The test showed
that McLaughlin’s language skills, common
sense monitoring, and cognitive ability
were all deficient. Dr. Accardo also testi-
fied that McLaughlin’s attention deficit hy-
peractive disorder and impulsivity were
neurologically based. He further said that
while McLaughlin was capable of making
good choices, these limitations and
MecLaughlin’s childhood had an impact on
his ability to do so. Dr. Accardo also ob-
served that McLaughlin appeared to be
suffering from depression.

MecLaughlin then called Dr. Sripatt Kul-
kamthorn, his treating physician before
the murder. Dr. Kulkamthorn testified
that McLaughlin struggled with depres-
sion and anxiety. Dr. Kulkamthorn pre-
scribed McLaughlin an antidepressant, but
McLaughlin only received the pills during
visits because he could not afford the pre-
scription.

Next, Dr. Mark Cunningham, a clinical
and forensic psychologist, testified about
his examination of McLaughlin. Dr. Cun-
ningham  conducted interviews with
McLaughlin and several members of his
biological and adoptive families and re-
viewed MecLaughlin’s medical, academic,
mental health, and prison records. He tes-
tified that McLaughlin had a choice when
he killed Guenther, but that the choice was
affected by risk and protective factors that
pervaded his life, arising from his child-
hood and other factors.

At closing argument, McLaughlin’s law-
yer urged the jury to consider the “exces-
sive” evidence in mitigation of McLaugh-
lin’s moral culpability. App. 2589. Counsel
acknowledged that McLaughlin could un-
derstand the choice he made, but argued
that the choice was colored by the facts
and circumstances of his life.

The jury could not decide the issue of
death. In a special verdict form, the jury

found the existence of a statutory aggra-
vator—depravity of mind—beyond a rea-
sonable doubt. The jurors did not find
unanimously that the mitigating factors
outweighed the aggravating factors. Turn-
ing to the next step, the jury could not
unanimously agree on whether death was
warranted under all of the circumstances.
Because the jurors were unable to agree
on punishment, adjudication of the issue
went to the trial judge. The judge sen-
tenced McLaughlin to death.

McLaughlin appealed, and the Missouri
Supreme Court affirmed his death sen-
tence. State v. McLaughlin, 265 S.W.3d
257 (Mo. 2008) (McLaughlin I). The court
found that the State’s process was consis-
tent with Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584,
589, 122 S.Ct. 2428, 153 L.Ed.2d 556
(2002), which held that “[c]apital defen-
dants ... are entitled to a jury determina-
tion of any fact on which the legislature
conditions an increase in their maximum
punishment,” because the jury had already
found the facts necessary to make
MecLaughlin eligible for a death sentence.
McLaughlin 1, 265 S.W.3d at 264.

C.

MecLaughlin filed a state habeas petition
alleging that his sentencing counsel were
constitutionally deficient because they
failed to call a psychiatrist like Dr. Ste-
phen Peterson, whom McLaughlin prof-
fered in support of his petition. If counsel
had done so, he claimed, the jury would
have heard evidence about MecLaughlin’s
mental state at the time he murdered
Guenther. Specifically, he was under ex-
treme mental or emotional disturbance
which substantially impaired his ability to
appreciate the criminality of his conduct.
McLaughlin alleged that if the jury heard
testimony like this, it would have sup-
ported statutory mitigators and there is a

Ta
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reasonable probability that he would not
have been sentenced to death.

In fact, McLaughlin’s lawyers had such
a witness—Dr. Keith Caruso—but chose
not to put him on the stand because of
last-minute questions about his back-
ground. Dr. Caruso would have testified
that McLaughlin was under extreme emo-
tional disturbance and, due to mental ill-
ness, lacked the ability to appreciate the
criminality of his conduct. He would also
have testified that McLaughlin was suffer-
ing from a depressive episode of bipolar
disorder at the time of the murder.

Dr. Caruso was hired on the recommen-
dation of Lisa McCulloch, a mitigation spe-
cialist. McCulloch saw Dr. Caruso give a
presentation at a death penalty legal edu-
cation program. David Kenyon, one of the
members of McLaughlin’s trial team, re-
viewed Dr. Caruso’s curriculum vitae and
found he was licensed in several states but
did not do more research. Later, Robert
Steele joined the trial team. Steele did not
inquire into Dr. Caruso’s background be-
cause he “had no reason to think there was
anything wrong with Dr. Caruso.” App.
2741.

During the jury’s deliberations at the
guilt phase, Dr. Caruso told McLaughlin’s
lawyers about potential impeachment evi-
dence that could be used against him: sev-
enteen years earlier he had falsified data
in a lab report. The data was never pub-
lished, so no sanctions were imposed, but
there was an investigation and the infor-
mation was published in the Federal Reg-
ister. Dr. Caruso said that the impeach-
ment evidence had only been used in three
of the ninety cases he testified in, and he
gave counsel a list of rehabilitation ques-
tions.

While Steele knew the information could
be problematie, he still planned to call Dr.
Caruso. During opening arguments of the
penalty stage, Steele said the jury would

9 FEDERAL REPORTER, 4th SERIES

hear from multiple experts, including Dr.
Caruso. The defense team later changed
their mind. At the close of the penalty
stage, Steele told the State and the trial
court about the decision not to call Dr.
Caruso. He said he did not believe it was
ineffective to mention him in opening, but
warned the prosecution not to mention Dr.
Caruso in closing argument. The prosecu-
tion argued that the defense did not pres-
ent testimony about McLaughlin’s state of
mind at the time of the murder, but did
not specifically discuss the failure to call
Dr. Caruso.

The motion court denied habeas relief
and found that the decision to not call Dr.
Caruso was reasonable. The motion court
also found that the failure to call a psychia-
trist like Dr. Peterson did not prejudice
MecLaughlin because Dr. Peterson’s testi-
mony was similar to the evidence of the
other testifying experts.

The Missouri Supreme Court affirmed.
See McLaughlin v. State, 378 S.W.3d 328,
334 (Mo. 2012) (McLaughlin II). On ap-
peal, McLaughlin raised a new claim that
his counsel were also ineffective for failing
to investigate Dr. Caruso’s background. Id.
at 340. The court denied that claim on
procedural grounds, finding the argument
was waived. Id.

D.

McLaughlin then filed this petition, in-
cluding allegations that his sentencing
counsel were ineffective for failing to in-
vestigate Dr. Caruso’s credentials and that
his jury instructions violated Mills v. Ma-
ryland, 486 U.S. 367, 108 S.Ct. 1860, 100
L.Ed.2d 384 (1988) and Ring.

After an evidentiary hearing, the district
court vacated MecLaughlin’s death sen-
tence. The court found that McLaughlin’s
sentencing counsel were ineffective in vio-
lation of his Sixth Amendment rights for
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failing to investigate Dr. Caruso’s reliabili-
ty as a witness. The district court found
that this prejudiced McLaughlin because
the potential testimony of a psychiatrist
like Dr. Peterson made for a reasonable
probability of a different sentencing out-
come. This was because Dr. Peterson ex-
amined MecLaughlin in person and would
have said that McLaughlin had a reduced
capacity to conform his conduct to the
requirements of the law at the time of the
murder. That evidence would have been
particularly relevant, the court found, be-
cause the sentencing case was a close call,
as evidenced by the jury’s deadlock on the
issue. More evidence may have moved the
jury enough to change the outcome.

The court also found that McLaughlin’s
sentencing procedure was constitutionally
deficient under Mills and Ring. As to the
Mills claim, the court found that requiring
the jury to unanimously find that the miti-
gating factors outweighed the aggravating
factors was per se unconstitutional. On the
Ring claim, the court found that Missouri
law treats the balancing stage as an issue
of fact. As an issue of fact, Ring would
require a jury to unanimously find the
mitigating factors do not outweigh the ag-
gravating factors. In reaching that conclu-
sion, the district court relied on the Mis-
souri Supreme Court’s decision in State v.
Whitfield, 107 S.W.3d 253 (Mo. 2003), ab-
rogated by State v. Wood, 580 S.W.3d 566,
585 (Mo. 2019), reh’g denied (Sept. 3,
2019), cert. denied, — U.S. ——, 140 S.
Ct. 2670, 206 L.Ed.2d 823 (2020).

The State appealed.

IIL

[1,2] The State first argues that
MecLaughlin’s Sixth Amendment right to
effective assistance of counsel was not vio-
lated. “A district court’s decision in a habe-
as claim of ineffective assistance of counsel
presents a mixed question of fact and law.”

United States v. White, 341 F.3d 673, 677
(8th Cir. 2003). “We review the ineffective
assistance issue de novo, but findings of
underlying predicate facts are reviewed
under the clearly erroneous standard.” Id.

[81 “A convicted defendant’s claim that
counsel’s assistance was so defective as to
require reversal of a conviction or death
sentence has two components.” Strickland
v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct.
2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). “First, the
defendant must show that counsel’s per-
formance was deficient.” Id. “Second, the
defendant must show that the deficient
performance prejudiced the defense.” Id.
“Surmounting Strickland’s high bar is nev-
er an easy task.” Padilla v. Kentucky, 559
U.S. 356, 371, 130 S.Ct. 1473, 176 L.Ed.2d
284 (2010). The State argues that
MecLaughlin fails both prongs.

A

[4-6] McLaughlin claims his sentenc-
ing counsel were deficient for failing to
investigate Dr. Caruso’s credentials. While
“strategic choices made after thorough in-
vestigation of law and facts relevant to
plausible options are virtually unchallenge-
able,” “strategic choices made after less
than complete investigation are reasonable
precisely to the extent that reasonable pro-
fessional judgments support the limitations
on investigation.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at
690-91, 104 S.Ct. 2052. “In other words,
counsel has a duty to make reasonable
investigations or to make a reasonable de-
cision that makes particular investigations
unnecessary.” Id. at 691, 104 S.Ct. 2052.

[7-9] “In assessing counsel’s investiga-
tion, we must conduct an objective review
of their performance, measured for ‘rea-
sonableness under prevailing professional
norms,” which includes a context-depen-
dent consideration of the challenged con-
duct as seen ‘from counsel’s perspective at
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the time.”” Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S.
510, 523, 123 S.Ct. 2527, 156 L.Ed.2d 471
(2003) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688,
689, 104 S.Ct. 2052). Counsel should be
“strongly presumed to have rendered ade-
quate assistance and made all significant
decisions in the exercise of reasonable pro-
fessional judgment.” Strickland, 466 U.S.
at 690, 104 S.Ct. 2052. “The burden of
rebutting this presumption rests squarely
on the defendant.” Dunn v. Reeves, —
U.S. ——, 141 S. Ct. 2405, 2410, 210
L.Ed.2d 812 (2021) (citation omitted).

Before addressing this challenge, we
carefully delineate what this case is (and is
not) about. McLaughlin takes issue with
his counsel’s failure to find potential -
peachment evidence on Dr. Caruso. This
issue is qualitatively different from the one
presented in many of the cases relied on
by the district court, which concern the
failure to investigate a potential defense or
inquire into the substance of the expert
witness’s testimony. A death penalty case
involves mountains of evidence and many
witnesses. And “[d]efense lawyers have
limited time and resources, and so must
choose from among countless strategic op-
tions.” Dunn, 141 S. Ct. at 2410 (citation
omitted). Finding impeachment evidence
on a witness is no small task, as it can be
drawn from a broad universe of informa-
tion. It would be malpractice to spend too
much time on such a search, disregarding
other trial-related responsibilities out of
fear that some obscure source might cast
doubt on your witness’s credibility. Cf,
e.g., United States v. Jewell, 614 F.3d 911,
926 (8th Cir. 2010) (finding a district court
abused its discretion for failing to admit
evidence that the adverse attorney in a
witness’s unrelated divorce proceedings
found the witness untruthful).

[10] We note, too, that even in the
range of cases involving expert credentials,
this case falls on the more attenuated side.
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Sometimes, the failure to investigate an
expert’s credentials leads to the testimony
being inadmissible. Cf. Polski v. Quigley
Corp., 538 F.3d 836, 839 (8th Cir. 2008)
(citation omitted) (for expert testimony to
be admissible under Rule 702, “the pro-
posed witness must be qualified to assist
the finder of fact”); see also Fed. R. Evid.
702. Unquestionably, a lawyer must prac-
tice some degree of diligence in ensuring
the foundation is laid for the admission of
an expert’s testimony. See People v. Cor-
nille, 95 I1.2d 497, 69 Ill.Dec. 945, 448
N.E.2d 857, 865-66 (1983) (noting that “it
is obvious that every party ... has an
obligation to verify the credentials of its
expert witnesses” because the expert’s cre-
dentials lay the foundation for the admis-
sion of their testimony). Not only do these
types of inquiries involve important
threshold matters, they are also simpler to
verify by objective criteria by using, e.g.,
verified copies of academic transcripts.
Neither can be said for the impeachment
evidence at issue here.

We turn now to case law. We have not
directly addressed the inquiry that must
be made into an expert’s credentials or
credibility in a criminal case. In Dees v.
Caspiri, we suggested, in dicta, that coun-
sel’s investigation “probably was suffi-
cient” where the expert came on the rec-
ommendation of an experienced attorney
and had years of experience in the field.
904 F.2d 452, 455 (8th Cir. 1990). Keeping
Dees in mind, we look to other courts for
further guidance.

The Sixth Circuit is the only of our
sister circuits to address a similar issue. In
Skaggs v. Parker, the court found that the
failure to investigate an expert witness’s
falsified academic history was not deficient
where counsel had a general familiarity
with and had used the witness before. 235
F.3d 261, 268 (6th Cir. 2000). The court
noted that “[g]iven the magnitude of what
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was at stake, and the centrality of [the
defendant’s] mental state to a legitimate
defense, counsel should have taken more
time and given more thought to their ex-
pert witness.” Id. Nevertheless, consider-
ing counsel’s familiarity with the witness,
the actions “did not fall below an objective
standard of reasonableness under Strick-
land.” Id.

Two cases from the Northern District of
Illinois are also helpful. In United States
ex rel. Hanna v. McGinnis, counsel’s fail-
ure to verify the credentials of an expert
was not deficient where an expert referral
service supplied the expert. No. 90 C 7004,
1991 WL 203806, at *6 (N.D. Ill. Oct. 4,
1991). The court expressed concern that
requiring an attorney “to review every cre-
dential of each expert he retains, even an
expert provided and presumably screened
by a referral service, would impermissibly
intrude into the realm of professional judg-
ment and impose an unrealistic burden
upon counsel.” Id.

[11]1 In United States ex rel. Erickson
v. Shomig, the court reached a different
conclusion. 162 F. Supp. 2d 1020 (N.D. IIL
2001). There, the failure to investigate the
background of the sole mitigation witness
was constitutionally deficient after cross-
examination showed that the expert lied
about having psychology degrees and the
trial judge disqualified the witness as an
expert. Id. at 1030, 1044. The court reject-
ed the argument that the attorney acted
reasonably by relying on the recommenda-
tion of the defendant’s family to hire the
witness, saying that counsel should have
exercised greater diligence where the wit-
ness played a central role to the defense’s
lone mitigation strategy. Id. at 1044. In the

1. We recognize that reliance on a professional
community alone may be insufficient in cer-
tain cases. Sometimes, preparation and dis-
cussion with an expert may reveal certain red
flags about the expert’s credentials. But that

court’s words, “[b]lindly putting on a single
witness at a capital sentencing hearing
does not satisfy” the obligation to discover
and evaluate potential mitigating evidence.
Id.

[12] Consistent with Skaggs and Han-
na, we conclude that McLaughlin did not
carry his burden to show that “counsel
took an approach that no competent law-
yer would have chosen.” Dunn, 141 S. Ct.
at 2410. Those cases stand for the general
proposition that counsel is not deficient
where they reasonably rely on the profes-
sional community to vet an expert. Accord
Dees, 904 F.2d at 455; contra Shomig, 162
F. Supp. 2d at 1044 (counsel deficient for
relying on recommendation of defendant’s
family). Counsel did so here. Dr. Caruso
was referred by a mitigation specialist, and
Kenyon checked Dr. Caruso’s curriculum
vitae. The lawyers knew that Dr. Caruso
was a presenter on mitigation topics at
national seminars and that he had served
as a witness in several other death penalty
cases. McLaughlin has not shown that,
under these circumstances, no competent
lawyer could have made the choice to trust
the legal community’s appraisal of Dr. Ca-
ruso.!

[13] Even if further investigation was
more prudent, it is not clear that the inves-
tigation should have covered the falsified
lab reports. Counsel should generally in-
vestigate witness credentials to ensure tes-
timony is admissible. See Shomig, 162 F.
Supp. 2d at 1044; Cornille, 69 Ill.Dec. 945,
448 N.E.2d at 866. That is not what
MecLaughlin argues. Instead, he suggests
that a broader search into Dr. Caruso was
necessary and would have yielded im-
peachment information because a Google

is not this case. McLaughlin does not point to
any reason why the defense team should have
made further investigation, and Steele testi-
fied that he had “no reason to think there was
anything wrong with Dr. Caruso.” App. 2741.
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search returned news about the falsified
lab reports. But McLaughlin’s proposed
search does not address the purpose of
that general duty—to ensure the expert’s
admissibility. That sort of search would
not necessarily yield the news about falsi-
fied lab reports. And surely, the Constitu-
tion does not require a scavenger hunt. See
Rompilla v. Beard, 545 U.S. 374, 383, 125
S.Ct. 2456, 162 L.Ed.2d 360 (2005) (“[T]he
duty to investigate does not force defense
lawyers to scour the globe on the off
chance something will turn up.”).

In sum, we find that McLaughlin did not
overcome the presumption that counsel
performed reasonably by not investigating
Dr. Caruso’s credentials.

B.

[14] The State also challenges the dis-
trict court’s finding that the failure to call
a psychiatrist prejudiced McLaughlin. To
show prejudice, “Strickland asks whether
it is ‘reasonably likely’ the result would
have been different.” Harrington v. Richt-
er, 562 U.S. 86, 111, 131 S.Ct. 770, 178
L.Ed.2d 624 (2011) (citation omitted). “The
likelihood of a different result must be
substantial, not just conceivable.” Id. at
112, 131 S.Ct. 770.

1.

[156] The district court found that
McLaughlin was prejudiced because if
counsel had further investigated Dr. Caru-
so they could have hired another psychia-
trist like Dr. Peterson. Dr. Peterson would
have testified based on a face-to-face eval-
uation of McLaughlin and made clinical
observations about his frame of mind at
the time of the murder. He also would
have testified that McLaughlin was under
extreme duress and had a reduced capaci-
ty to conform his conduct to the require-
ments of the law. Plus, the failure to put
up this witness was aggravated by sen-
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tencing counsel’s mention of Dr. Caruso
during opening statements, and the jury
could have thought that the failure to call
the witness was attributable to something
else. This problem was exacerbated by the
Government’s closing argument, which
pointed out that McLaughlin did not pres-
ent evidence about his mental state at the
time of the murder.

In the district court’s view, this preju-
dice was important in the context of what
was already a close case. The jury found
only one of the four aggravating factors—
depravity of mind. Dr. Peterson’s testimo-
ny would have weighed against that find-
ing. The jury also hung on the substantive
issues of whether the mitigating evidence
outweighed the aggravating evidence and
whether finding death was appropriate. As
the issues were close, the case could have
been swayed by introducing additional evi-
dence relevant to the question. See Strick-
land, 466 U.S. at 696, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (a
“weakly supported” conclusion is “more
likely to have been affected by errors than
one with overwhelming record support”).

The State disagrees. First, it says that
the district court should not have consid-
ered prejudice resulting from counsel men-
tioning Dr. Caruso during opening argu-
ment. Second, the State argues that Dr.
Peterson’s testimony would not have
changed the outcome of the case. The
State says that even if Dr. Peterson’s testi-
mony had some probative value, the evi-
dence showing depravity of mind was too
strong to be outweighed by the evidence in
mitigation.

We start by narrowing the scope of our
analysis. When considering prejudice, the
district court found that it was relevant
that McLaughlin’s counsel told the jury
that it would hear from Dr. Caruso. This
was error. We have said before that “[h]a-
beas relief will not be granted based on
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the cumulative effect of attorney errors.”
Shelton v. Mapes, 821 F.3d 941, 951 (8th
Cir. 2016); see also Forrest v. Steele, 764
F.3d 848, 861 (8th Cir. 2014) (“By requir-
ing that counsel’s performance be ‘reason-
able considering all the -circumstances,’
Strickland does not purport to aggregate
each discrete and potentially unrelated
claim of ineffectiveness into a single per-
formance inquiry.”) (cleaned up). By add-
ing potential prejudice caused by counsel’s
opening statements to its overarching
analysis, the district court violated this
rule.

Moving on, we agree with the State that
Dr. Peterson’s testimony would not result
in a different verdict. The State provided
an overwhelming amount of evidence in
aggravation.? McLaughlin stalked and ter-
rorized Guenther before the murder. He
planned the attack, telling others that he
was going to “fucking Kkill[ ] that bitch” and
saying he did not “want to be locked up”
because of her. App. 2317-18. He waited
for Guenther outside of her work armed
with a steak knife and attacked her. While
Guenther scratched and screamed,
McLaughlin stabbed her seven times and
threw her to the ground, then strangled
and raped her.? McLaughlin showed equal
care for Guenther’s body, dragging it into
his car, tying Guenther’s legs together
with twine, and dumping the body in the
brush by the Missouri River. One would
expect a traumatic crime like this to induce

2. The jury found McLaughlin acted with de-
pravity of mind. ‘“Depravity of mind” requires
evidence to support at least one of the follow-
ing factors:

mental state of defendant, infliction of phys-
ical or psychological torture upon the vic-
tim as when victim has a substantial period
of time before death to anticipate and re-
flect upon it; brutality of defendant’s con-
duct; mutilation of the body after death;
absence of any substantive motive; absence
of defendant’s remorse and the nature of
the crime.

immediate feelings of regret and remorse.
Instead, McLaughlin was seen the next
day laughing and joking with friends as
though nothing happened. Even after his
arrest, McLaughlin told one of Guenther’s
friends, “You're next.” This evidence sub-
stantially outweighed any evidence in miti-
gation.

Plus, Dr. Peterson’s evidence would
have been at least somewhat cumulative
to Dr. Cunningham’s testimony. Both in-
terviewed McLaughlin and examined his
ability to conform his actions to societal
standards. At trial, Dr. Cunningham ac-
knowledged that McLaughlin had a choice
when he killed Guenther, but that the de-
cision was influenced by certain “risk” and
“protective” factors throughout his life.
Dr. Peterson would have testified that
McLaughlin was suffering extreme emo-
tional disturbance when Guenther rejected
him. This “impaired his capacity to con-
form his conduct to the requirements of
law.” MecLaughlin Br. 12. Dr. Peterson
and Dr. Cunningham’s accounts overlap
significantly because both suggest that the
rejection by Guenther triggered pains
from McLaughlin’s childhood, impacting
his decision to kill.

At the same time, we do not discount
MecLaughlin’s argument to the contrary.
MecLaughlin says that there is a difference
in the testimonies. Dr. Peterson would

State v. Johnson, 284 S.W.3d 561, 586 (Mo.
2009) (citation omitted).

3. In McLaughlin’s initial state appeal, he ar-
gued that he could not have raped Guenther
because she was not alive at the moment of
penetration. See McLaughlin I, 265 S.W.3d at
269. The Missouri Supreme Court rejected
that theory. In any case, penetration after
death would tilt even more in favor of finding
McLaughlin acted with depravity of mind. See
id. at 277 (“[IIf, as [McLaughlin] argues, the
rape occurred wholly or partially after death,
the crime would be even more depraved.”).
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have been able to testify about McLaugh-
lin’s mental state at the time of the mur-
der. We recognize that the testimony of
Dr. Peterson may have been better at
establishing this. In some ways, it would
have been the denouement of the mitiga-
tion case: while the testimony of the other
three doctors set up the circumstances
surrounding McLaughlin’s life and his
hardships, Dr. Peterson could have told
the jury what the effect of all these cir-
cumstances was at the critical moment. We
understand the effect that this might have
had on the overall trial strategy, but con-
sidering the substantial overlap and the
weight of the evidence in aggravation, we
do not think this evidence would have
shown a “substantial” likelihood of a differ-
ent result.

Even if Dr. Peterson’s testimony was
not cumulative, some of it is undermined
by the record. McLaughlin says that Dr.
Peterson would have testified that
MecLaughlin was unable to appreciate the
criminality of his conduct. But McLaugh-
lin’s actions to cover up the murder say
otherwise. See United States v. Hiebert, 30
F.3d 1005, 1007 (8th Cir. 1994) (“A defen-
dant’s attempt to conceal his commission
of a crime suggests that he knows the
action is wrongful ....”). After killing
Guenther, MecLaughlin tried to dump
Guenther’s body in the Missouri River.
The next day, he cut up sections of fabric
from his car’s backseat and bought bleach
to clean the blood. He knew murder was a
crime. Even before the murder, McLaugh-
lin knew that his other actions towards
Guenther were unlawful. See id. (“[T]he
defendant’s knowledge that one crime was
wrong evidences that he understood that
other criminal acts were inappropriate.”).
And, one of the motivating factors in kill-
ing Guenther was that he did not “want to
be locked up” on the other charges Guen-
ther filed against him. App. 2318. Put to-
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gether, these actions are incompatible with
Dr. Peterson’s conclusion.

We conclude that there was not a sub-
stantial likelihood of a different result. The
evidence in aggravation of the offense far
outweighed the evidence in mitigation—
even if bolstered by Dr. Peterson’s exami-
nation. While we think that the case is
made closer by the jury deadlock, we find
that the new evidence is not enough to call
into question the soundness of the verdict.
See Boyd v. Allen, 592 F.3d 1274, 1303
(11th Cir. 2010) (denying ineffective assis-
tance claim in jury override case despite
noting that “prejudice ‘is more easily
shown’” in such cases) (citation omitted).

2.

[16] On the issue of prejudice, the
state habeas court found that McLaughlin
was not prejudiced by sentencing counsel’s
failure to call a psychiatrist. The prejudice
analysis is the same one presented here:
whether there is a substantial likelihood of
a different result if McLaughlin had called
Dr. Peterson. Under 28 U.S.C.
§ 2254(d)(1), we can only provide habeas
relief “with respect to any claim that was
adjudicated on the merits in State court
proceedings” if “the adjudication of the
claim ... resulted in a decision that was
contrary to, or involved an unreasonable
application of, clearly established Federal
law, as determined by the Supreme Court
of the United States.” “Taken together,
[the Antiterrorism and Effective Death
Penalty Act of 1996] and Strickland estab-
lish a ‘doubly deferential standard’ of re-
view.” Williams v. Roper, 695 F.3d 825,
831 (8th Cir. 2012) (citation omitted). Even
if our analysis above is mistaken, we do
not think the state court’s decision “was
contrary to, or involved an unreasonable
application of, clearly established Federal
law.” The required deference in Section
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2254(d)(1) imposes an independent ground
for reversal.

II1.
[17] The State argues that the district
court should not have considered

McLaughlin’s failure to investigate claim
because it was procedurally defaulted
when he failed to raise it in his state
habeas case. “[A] federal court will not
review the merits of claims, including con-
stitutional claims, that a state court de-
clined to hear because the prisoner failed
to abide by a state procedural rule.” Mar-
tinez v. Ryan, 566 U.S. 1, 9, 132 S.Ct.
1309, 182 L.Ed.2d 272 (2012). In those
cases, the state court’s judgment “rests on
independent and adequate state procedural
grounds,” and normally, we cannot grant
relief. Coleman v. Thompson, 501 U.S. 722,
736, 111 S.Ct. 2546, 115 L.Ed.2d 640
(1991).

[18] To excuse procedural default,
MecLaughlin must show that his post-con-
viction counsel was defective with respect
to a “substantial” claim. Martinez, 566
U.S. at 14, 132 S.Ct. 1309. Post-conviction
counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to
raise a meritless claim. See Grubbs v. Delo,
948 F.2d 1459, 1464 (8th Cir. 1991) (coun-
sel on direct appeal cannot be considered
ineffective for having failed to raise a mer-
itless issue). As McLaughlin’s failure to
investigate claim is meritless, the claim
was not “substantial,” and MecLaughlin’s
procedural default is not excused.

Iv.

The district court also found that two
constitutional issues marred McLaughlin’s
sentencing. First, it reasoned that the jury
instructions violated Mills by requiring a
jury to unanimously find that mitigating
factors outweighed aggravating factors.
Second, it found that Missouri’s capital

sentencing system, which permits the
judge to make findings of mitigating fac-
tors, violates Ring because it unconstitu-
tionally vests the authority to make factual
findings in the judge.

A

[19,20] The State disputes the district
court’s finding that the sentencing instruc-
tions violated M:ills, arguing that the dis-
trict court misunderstood Mills. We agree.
Mills held that capital sentencing instruc-
tions may not “preclude[ ] [jurors] from
considering any mitigating evidence unless
all 12 jurors agreed on the existence of a
particular such circumstance.” 486 U.S. at
384, 108 S.Ct. 1860; see also Griffin v.
Delo, 33 F.3d 895, 906 (8th Cir. 1994). In
other words, jurors must be allowed to
make their own decisions on which mitigat-
ing factors they think weigh against the
aggravating factors. The instructions here
permitted that—they did not require una-
nimity on any specific mitigating factor.
See App. 1603 (“Does the jury unanimous-
ly find that there are facts and circum-
stances in mitigation of punishment suffi-
cient to outweigh facts and circumstances
in aggravation of punishment?”). In Grif-
fin, we upheld a similar instruction in a
Missouri death penalty case that required
unanimity but allowed the jurors to consid-
er multiple mitigating circumstances. 33
F.3d at 905. We reverse the district court’s
conclusion to the contrary.

B.

[21] The State also challenges the dis-
trict court’s application of Ring. This was
addressed in McLaughlin’s initial appeal to
the Missouri Supreme Court. Under AED-
PA, the availability of federal habeas relief
is narrow for claims “adjudicated on the
merits” in state-court proceedings. 28
US.C. § 2254(d). A state prisoner must
show that the state court decision (1) “was
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contrary to, or involved an unreasonable
application of, clearly established Federal
law, as determined by the Supreme Court
of the United States”; or (2) “was based on
an unreasonable determination of the facts
in light of the evidence presented in the
State court proceeding.” 28 U.S.C.
§ 2254(d). “‘[IIf a habeas court must ex-
tend a rationale before it can apply to the
facts at hand,” then by definition the ratio-
nale was not ‘clearly established at the
time of the state-court decision.”” White v.
Woodall, 572 U.S. 415, 426, 134 S.Ct. 1697,
188 L.Ed.2d 698 (2014) (citation omitted).

[22,23] In Ring, the Supreme Court
held that “[c]apital defendants ... are en-
titled to a jury determination of any fact
on which the legislature conditions an in-
crease in their maximum punishment.”
Ring, 536 U.S. at 589, 122 S.Ct. 2428. The
district court found that “[ulnder Missouri
law, the weighing of mitigating and aggra-
vating circumstances is a finding of fact”
that can only be performed by the jury. D.
Ct. Dkt. 77 at 72. To get there, the court
relied on State v. Whitfield, 107 S.W.3d at
261, which held as much.

[24] But the tides have changed. In
McLaughlin’s initial appeal, the Missouri
Supreme Court found that the rule from
Whitfield was inapplicable. See McLaugh-
lin I, 265 S.W.3d at 263. And, since, the
Missouri Supreme Court has disavowed
Whitfield’s interpretation of the statute.
See Zink v. State, 278 S.W.3d 170, 192-93
(Mo. 2009) (en banc) (counsel was not inef-
fective for failing to raise “meritless” argu-
ment that sentencing violated Ring be-
cause the weighing step is not a finding of
fact); see also Wood, 580 S.W.3d at 585
(collecting cases). We do not sit in judg-
ment of a state supreme court’s interpreta-
tion of state law, and the district court
should not have, either. Missouri’s statute
never required the weighing of mitigating
and aggravating circumstances to be a
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finding of fact, see Wisconsin Cent. Ltd. v.
United States, — U.S. ——, 138 S. Ct.
2067, 2074, 201 L.Ed.2d 490 (2018) (“every
statute’s meaning is fixed at the time of
enactment”) (emphasis omitted), so it is
impervious to McLaughlin’s challenge.

[25] Nor can the requirement to find
mitigating factors beyond a reasonable
doubt be found in any Supreme Court
precedent. As a constitutional threshold,
the Court has found that “[t]o render a
defendant eligible for the death penalty in
a homicide case, ... the trier of fact must
convict the defendant of murder and find
one ‘aggravating -circumstance’ (or its
equivalent) at either the guilt or penalty
phase.” Twuilaepa v. California, 512 U.S.
967, 971-72, 114 S.Ct. 2630, 129 L.Ed.2d
750 (1994). But the Court has refused to
adopt definitive standards of proof in the
context of mitigating factors, observing
that “the ultimate question whether miti-
gating circumstances outweigh aggrava-
ting circumstances is mostly a question of
mercy.” Kansas v. Carr, 577 U.S. 108, 119,
136 S.Ct. 633, 193 L.Ed.2d 535 (2016). We
will not speculate whether the Court will
one day require mitigating factors to be
found by a jury beyond a reasonable
doubt. For our purposes today, we need
only recognize that requiring as much
would be an extension of Ring, placing it
outside our authority under Section
2254(d). See Whate, 572 U.S. at 426, 134
S.Ct. 1697.

IV.

The judgment of the district court is
reversed. The case is remanded for pro-
ceedings consistent with this opinion.

ERICKSON, Circuit Judge, concurring.

I write separately to highlight and join
the district court’s concerns about defense
counsel’s failure to conduct any type of
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investigation about Dr. Caruso, an expert
that counsel anticipated would be his star
witness during the penalty phase. Decades
ago, the United States Supreme Court ac-
knowledged “that death is a punishment
different from all other sanctions in kind
rather than degree.” Woodson v. North
Carolina, 428 U.S. 280, 303-04, 96 S.Ct.
2978, 49 L.Ed.2d 944 (1976) (citations omit-
ted). “Because of that qualitative differ-
ence, there is a corresponding difference in
the need for reliability in the determina-
tion that death is the appropriate punish-
ment in a specific case.” Id. at 305, 96 S.Ct.
2978.

Here, the undisputed record shows that
the impeachment evidence at issue was
readily available and easily ascertainable.
Once Dr. Caruso made counsel aware of
the potential impeachment evidence, the
third “hit” on counsel’s Google search pro-
duced a June 1994 Office of Research In-
tegrity, U.S. Public Health Service docu-
ment. That document provided information
about Dr. Caruso’s misconduct, explaining
that Dr. Caruso, while a student in the
department of psychiatry, “altered, fabri-
cated, and destroyed primary laboratory
data.”

As recognized by the majority, lawyers
are tasked with exercising some degree of
diligence with regard to expert testimony.
I am not convinced that McLaughlin failed
to meet his burden of showing counsel
performed deficiently. Counsel’s conduct in
vetting the expert witness—one that he
believed would be the most significant pen-
alty phase witness—was limited to two
things: (1) a review of the expert’s curricu-
lum vitae, and (2) a mitigation specialist’s
recommendation based solely on watching
the expert present at a seminar. It is
certainly debatable whether this vetting
process meets either the low diligence
standard noted by the majority or falls
within the range of acceptable professional

competence. Indeed, counsel admitted on
the record at trial that he believed he was
ineffective in the handling of Dr. Caruso.
Counsel’s concern was not that he decided
against calling Dr. Caruso to testify, but
that he did not investigate Dr. Caruso’s
background and when Dr. Caruso pointed
out to him impeachment evidence, counsel
failed to take the time to consider the
significance of the information and pro-
ceeded to mention Dr. Caruso’s anticipated
testimony during opening statements. It is
these decisions that counsel acknowledged
had a prejudicial effect. Trial. Tr. 1953-55.

In spite of my concerns related to pro-
fessional competence, I concur in the re-
sult because, after carefully reviewing the
record, I agree with the majority that
McLaughlin is unable to show that coun-
sel’s performance prejudiced him. Even
without Dr. Caruso, as noted by the Mis-
souri Supreme Court in McLaughlin v.
State, 378 S.W.3d 328, 344 (Mo. 2012),
defense counsel presented significant evi-
dence documenting McLaughlin’s intelli-
gence issues and long-standing mental
health issues ranging from personality dis-
orders to neurological problems. It is be-
yond question that the State capitalized on
the absence of a defense expert who had
talked to or evaluated McLaughlin recent-
ly. Specifically, the State argued that
MecLaughlin’s evidence should be discred-
ited for a number of reasons, including the
fact that the experts who testified had not
seen or treated McLaughlin for 24 years.
Notwithstanding these arguments, before
the jury was extensive testimony about
MecLaughlin’s life and his characteristics,
including:

® MecLaughlin’s attachment and trust
issues stemming from his traumatic
childhood;

® MecLaughlin’s early antisocial behav-
ior;
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® MecLaughlin’s association with devi-

ant peers;

® McLaughlin’s anxiety issues;

® McLaughlin’s history of treatment

for depression, including MecLaugh-
lin’s admission to the hospital for six
days, which occurred four months
before the murder, because of major
depressive disorder triggered by the
breakup with the victim;

® McLaughlin’s intellectual deficiencies

and neuro-developmental problems
and how they impact MecLaughlin’s
behavior and understanding of the
world;

® MecLaughlin’s problems with impulse

control; and

® FEach of the risk factors present in

the models used by the Department
of Justice that “push[ed] [McLaugh-
lin’s] ramp at a very high angle in
terms of predisposing him toward
both alcohol abuse and towards crim-
inality.”

On the evidence before it, the jury was
left with no reason to believe that any of
MecLaughlin’s intellectual or mental health
issues that began as a child had resolved
or improved over time. Defense counsel
presented ample evidence for a jury to find
that McLaughlin was undergoing a mental
health crisis at the time of the murder.
The jury, however, could not unanimously
agree on whether the mitigating factors
outweighed the aggravating factor of de-
pravity of mind. On this record, I cannot
say that testimony from Dr. Caruso, or an
alternative psychiatrist, would have made
a difference in the outcome. Because
MecLaughlin has failed to demonstrate a
reasonable probability that the outcome
would have been different, McLaughlin’s
ineffective assistance of counsel claim fails.

With regard to the constitutional claims
regarding the jury instructions and Mis-
souri’s death penalty scheme, the Missouri

9 FEDERAL REPORTER, 4th SERIES

Supreme Court in State v. Wood, 580
S.W.3d 566, 586-87 (Mo. 2019), made clear
that the only factual finding that must be
made by the jury under its death penalty
statute pertains to the existence of at least
one aggravating circumstances (the eligi-
bility step). The jury in this case made the
necessary eligibility finding and the judge
acted within his sentencing discretion
when he decided on a sentence of death. I
cannot say that the Missouri Supreme
Court’s decision is contrary to, or involves
an unreasonable application of clearly es-
tablished Supreme Court precedent, or
that the decision is based on an unreason-
able determination of the facts. For these
reasons, I concur.
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point fully covered by an express con-

tract and in direct conflict therewith.
Legg v. W. Bank, 873 N.W.2d 763, 771-72
(Iowa 2016) (internal citations and quota-
tion marks omitted).

It is undisputed that Dean Snyder’s
claims against Travelers are covered by
the Policy. Accordingly, under Iowa law,
Dean Snyder cannot maintain an alterna-
tive claim for unjust enrichment. See
Butts v. Iowa Health Sys., 863 N.W.2d 36,
at *9 (Iowa Ct.App.2015) (unpublished ta-
ble decision) (“[Tlhe plaintiffs’ claim for
unjust enrichment fails because there is an
express contract between the parties.” (cit-
ing Johnson v. Dodgen, 451 N.W.2d 168,
175 (Iowa 1990)); Ne. Iowa Co Op. v.
Lindaman, 843 N.W.2d 477, at *9 (Iowa
Ct.App.2014) (unpublished table decision)
(“Where an express contract exists on a
subject matter, the law will not imply a
contract under the doctrine of unjust en-
richment. (citing Smith v. Stowell, 256
TIowa 165, 125 N.W.2d 795, 800 (Iowa
1964)).

III. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, Defendant’s Mo-
tion to Dismiss, ECF No. 16, must be
granted, and the case is dismissed.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

O ¢ KEY NUMBER SYSTEM
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Scott MCLAUGHLIN, Petitioner,
v.
Troy STEELE, Respondent.
Case No. 4:12CV1464 CDP
United States District Court,
E.D. Missouri, Eastern Division.

Signed March 22, 2016

Background: Following affirmance on di-
rect appeal of defendant’s state court con-

viction for murder, forcible rape, and
armed criminal action, and sentencing to
death, 2656 S'W.3d 257, and affirmance of
denial of his motion for post-conviction re-
lief, 378 S.W.3d 328, defendant filed peti-
tion for federal habeas relief.

Holdings: The District Court, Catherine
D. Perry, J., held that:

(1) defendant’s posteonviction counsel’s
failure to raise his ineffective assis-
tance of counsel claim based on his
trial counsel’s failure to investigate
psychiatrist’s background during pen-
alty phase of his murder trial estab-
lished cause for defendant’s default on
issue in postconviction proceeding;

(2) trial counsel’s failure to investigate
psychiatrist’s background prior to pen-
alty phase of defendant’s murder trial
was deficient;

(3) defendant was prejudiced by counsel’s
deficient performance in failing to ade-
quately investigate psychiatrist;

(4) state appellate court reasonably ap-
plied Strickland in determining that
defendant’s trial counsel was not defi-
cient for failing to present the testimo-
ny of a neuropsychologist during pen-
alty phase;

(5) defendant was entitled to federal habe-
as relief on his claim that his death
sentence by state court judge was
based on findings of fact not made by
jury in violation of his Sixth Amend-
ment right to jury trial;

(6) state appellate court’s determination
that defendant’s trial counsel was not
deficient for failing to present evidence
from three lay witnesses to whom de-
fendant’s brother allegedly admitted to
raping defendant’s victim and testimo-
ny from a DNA expert corroborating
those incriminating statements was not
an unreasonable application of the law;
and
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(7) state appellate court’s determination
that trial court properly admitted evi-
dence of defendant’s victim’s state-
ments to law enforcement about de-
fendant’s threatening and assaultive
actions toward her was not an unrea-
sonable application of Crawford.

Petition granted in part, and sentence va-

cated.

1. Habeas Corpus &=450.1

Before obtaining federal habeas relief,
a prisoner must show that the state court
decision under review was so lacking in
justification that there is no possibility for
fairminded disagreement. 28 U.S.C.A.
§ 2254(d).

2. Habeas Corpus €=765.1
A federal habeas court applies the
standard of review contained in habeas

corpus statute to the last reasoned opinion
of the state courts. 28 U.S.C.A. § 2254(d).

3. Courts &=92
Habeas Corpus €¢=450.1, 452
The “clearly established Federal law”
described in federal habeas corpus statute
includes only holdings, not dicta, from the
United States Supreme Court. 28
U.S.C.A. § 2254(d).

4. Habeas Corpus €=45(.1

Holdings of the United States Su-
preme Court sometimes announce guiding
principles, and courts need not wait for
some nearly identical factual pattern be-
fore a legal rule must be applied in a
federal habeas proceeding; the more gen-
eral the holding, the broader the range of
reasonable applications thereof. 28
U.S.C.A. § 2254(d).

5. Habeas Corpus €=450.1

Even a general standard announced
by the United States Supreme Court may
be applied in an unreasonable manner, for
purposes of federal habeas relief. 28
U.S.C.A. § 2254(d).
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6. Habeas Corpus €=450.1, 452

Federal law is “clearly established,”
for purposes of federal habeas relief, if
Supreme Court precedent has supplied a
clear answer to the question presented,
and that answer may be derived from mul-
tiple cases. 28 U.S.C.A. § 2254(d).

7. Habeas Corpus &=450.1, 452

The “contrary to” and “unreasonable
application of” standards described in fed-
eral habeas corpus statute are distinct. 28
U.S.C.A. § 2254(d).

8. Habeas Corpus ¢=452

A state court’s decision is “contrary
to” clearly established federal law, for pur-
poses of federal habeas relief, if it arrives
at a conclusion opposite to that reached by
the Supreme Court on a question of law or
arrives at a result opposite to one reached
by the Supreme Court on materially indis-
tinguishable facts. 28 U.S.C.A. § 2254(d).

9. Habeas Corpus &450.1

A state court’s decision is “an unrea-
sonable application of” clearly established
federal law, for purposes of federal habeas
relief, only if it was objectively unreason-
able, not merely wrong. 28 U.S.C.A.
§ 2254(d).

10. Habeas Corpus ¢=450.1

Under the “unreasonable application”
clause of the federal habeas corpus statute,
a federal habeas court may grant the writ
if the state court identifies the correct
governing legal principle but unreasonably
applies that principle to the facts of the
prisoner’s case. 28 U.S.C.A. § 2254(d).

11. Habeas Corpus €=450.1, 452

A state court decision may be both
“contrary to” and an “unreasonable appli-
cation of” clearly established federal law,
for purposes of federal habeas relief. 28
U.S.C.A. § 2254(d).
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12. Habeas Corpus &=450.1, 768

A state court’s decision is based on an
unreasonable determination of the facts in
light of the evidence presented in state
court proceedings, as required to grant
habeas relief under “unreasonable applica-
tion” clause of federal habeas statute, only
if the petitioner shows by clear and con-
vincing evidence that the state court’s pre-
sumptively correct factual findings do not
enjoy support in the record. 28 U.S.C.A.
§§ 2254(d), 2254(e)(1).

13. Habeas Corpus €=450.1

A federal habeas court may not grant
relief under “unreasonable application”
clause just because it would have reached
a different conclusion in the first instance;
instead, a petitioner must show that the
determination of facts was objectively un-
reasonable. 28 U.S.C.A. § 2254(d).

14. Criminal Law ¢=1881

Under Strickland, a defendant first
must identify specific acts or omissions
made by counsel that were outside the
wide range of professionally competent as-
sistance, and second, must demonstrate
that there is a reasonable probability that,
but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the
result of the proceeding would have been
different. U.S. Const.Amend. 6.

15. Criminal Law €=1959

In arguing that counsel was ineffec-
tive under Strickland, for alleged errors
during the penalty phase of a capital trial,
a defendant must demonstrate that there
is a reasonable probability that absent
counsel’s inadequate representation, the
jury would not have sentenced him to
death. U.S. Const.Amend. 6.

16. Criminal Law ¢>1883

For Strickland purposes, a “reason-
able probability” is one sufficient to under-

mine confidence in the outcome. U.S.
Const.Amend. 6.

See publication Words and Phrases
for other judicial constructions and
definitions.

17. Criminal Law &=1440(2)

In Missouri, Strickland claims are not
cognizable on direct appeal; instead, such a
claim may be brought for the first time in
a collateral postconviction proceeding.
U.S. Const.Amend. 6; Mo. Sup. Ct. R.
29.15.

18. Criminal Law €=1578

Under MIssouri law, once a postcon-
viction movant is appointed counsel and
that counsel files an amended postconvic-
tion motion, the pro se motion is supersed-
ed and rendered a nullity. Mo. Sup. Ct. R.
29.15.

19. Habeas Corpus &=404

A habeas petitioner can only overcome
bar on federal review of a claim that was
rejected by a state court for failure to
follow a state procedural rule by demon-
strating cause for the default and actual
prejudice as a result of the alleged viola-
tion of federal law.

20. Habeas Corpus €=405.1

Cause for a habeas petitioner’s default
in state court for failure to follow a state
procedural rule, which is required for fed-
eral habeas court to review a claim reject-
ed by a state court, must be something
external to the petitioner, something that
cannot fairly be attributed to him.

21. Habeas Corpus ¢~406

A substantial claim of ineffective trial
counsel, underlying a federal habeas peti-
tioner’s claim that his initial-review post-
conviction counsel was constitutionally in-
effective and caused petitioner’s default, as
required for petitioner to overcome bar on
federal review of a claim that was rejected
by state court for failure to follow state
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procedural rule, is one that has some mer-
it; in other words, “substantial” means that
reasonable jurists could debate whether
the petition should have been resolved in a
different manner or that the issues pre-
sented were adequate to deserve encour-
agement to proceed further. U.S. Const.
Amend. 6.

22. Habeas Corpus 406

Defendant’s postconviction counsel’s
failure to raise his ineffective assistance of
counsel claim based on his trial counsel’s
failure to investigate psychiatrist’s back-
ground during penalty phase of his murder
trial established cause for defendant’s de-
fault on issue in postconviction proceeding,
as required element for overcoming bar on
federal review of claim that was rejected
by state court for failure to follow state
procedural rule; postconviction counsel ad-
mitted he intended to include ineffective
assistance argument in his brief and had
no reason for his failure to include it,
which fell below prevailing professional
norms. U.S. Const.Amend. 6; 28 U.S.C.A.
§ 2254(d).

23. Criminal Law ¢=1882

Although they are not compulsory, co-
dified professional practice standards can
provide important guidance on identifying
prevailing norms for purposes of determin-
ing if an attorney’s representation consti-
tuted ineffective assistance. U.S. Const.
Amend. 6.

24. Habeas Corpus =409

Prejudice required for a habeas peti-
tioner to overcome bar on federal review
of a claim that was rejected by a state
court for failure to follow a state procedur-
al rule is inexorably related to Strickland
prejudice where postconviction counsel’s
deficiency was his complete failure to pres-
ent a substantial claim of ineffective assis-
tance of trial counsel; if there is a reason-
able probability that the sentencing would
have gone differently had trial counsel
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been constitutionally adequate, there is
necessarily a reasonable probability that
the state court would have so found had
postconviction counsel properly presented
that underlying claim. U.S. Const.Amend.
6.

25. Habeas Corpus =406, 773

Postconviction counsel’s inadequacy in
failing to raise a substantial ineffective-
trial-counsel claim on state law grounds
does not itself entitle the petitioner to
federal habeas relief, only to review of the
underlying procedurally defaulted claim by
federal habeas court; that review is to be
conducted de novo. U.S. Const.Amend. 6;
28 U.S.C.A. § 2254(d).

26. Criminal Law ¢=1960

Trial counsel’s failure to investigate
psychiatrist’s background prior to penalty
phase of defendant’s murder trial, in which
psychiatrist was scheduled to provide miti-
gation testimony regarding defendant’s
mental illnesses and extreme mental or
emotional disturbance at time he commit-
ted crimes, was deficient, as element of
ineffective assistance of counsel, despite
fact that trial counsel’s ultimate decision
not to call psychiatrist after discovering
damaging information regarding his disci-
plinary record was reasonable; trial coun-
sel did not conduct any investigation into
psychiatrist’s background until the night
before psychiatrist was scheduled to testi-
fy, at which time he was able to readily
find information regarding psychiatrist’s
disciplinary record, there was no strategic
rationale for failing to conduct the investi-
gation, and no other experts presented
during penalty phase provided same infor-
mation regarding defendant’s mental state
at time of offense. U.S. Const.Amend. 6.

27. Criminal Law ¢=1931

In order to render effective assis-
tance, in making the decision whether to
retain a particular expert, counsel must do
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something beyond reviewing what the ex-
pert says about himself on his resume.
U.S. Const.Amend. 6.

28. Criminal Law ¢=1883

To show prejudice from counsel’s defi-
cient performance, a petitioner must dem-
onstrate that there is a reasonable proba-
bility that, but for counsel’s professional
errors, the result of the proceeding would
have been different. U.S. Const.Amend. 6.

29. Criminal Law €¢=1959

In evaluating whether counsel’s defi-
cient performance in a capital case preju-
diced defendant, the question is whether
there is a reasonable probability that, ab-
sent the errors, the sentencer, including an
appellate court to the extent it indepen-
dently reweighs the evidence, would have
concluded that the balance of aggravating
and mitigating circumstances did not war-
rant death. U.S. Const.Amend. 6.

30. Criminal Law €=1960

There was a reasonable probability
that absent trial counsel’s failure to ade-
quately investigate psychiatrist prior to
having him testify during penalty phase of
defendant’s murder trial the jury would
have concluded that the balance of aggra-
vating and mitigating circumstances did
not warrant death, and thus defendant was
prejudiced by counsel’s deficient perform-
ance, as element of ineffective assistance of
counsel; had counsel conducted an ade-
quate investigation, he would have discov-
ered psychiatrist’s disciplinary record and
had opportunity to find different psychia-
trist to testify, no other expert witnesses
testified during penalty phase regarding
defendant’s mental state at time of offense,
testimony regarding defendant’s mental
state and inability to conform his conduct
to law likely would have influenced jury’s
consideration of mitigating circumstances,
and counsel would not have broken his
promise made to jury in opening statement

to present such evidence. U.S. Const.

Amend. 6.

31. Habeas Corpus ¢*486(5)

State appellate court unreasonably ap-
plied Strickland when it rejected defen-
dant’s claim that his trial counsel was inef-
fective in failing to call a psychiatrist to
testify regarding mitigating factors during
penalty phase of his murder trial on basis
that such testimony would have been cu-
mulative, as required for federal habeas
relief; testimony by other experts focused
on defendant’s abusive upbringing and the
risk of defendant experiencing functional
and emotional defects throughout his life,
but a psychiatrist who interviewed defen-
dant following commission of his crimes
could have testified to his mental state at
time of offenses and his present mental
and emotional disturbances and inability to
conform his behavior to the law. U.S.
Const.Amend. 6; 28 U.S.C.A. § 2254(d).

32. Criminal Law €=1882, 1888

Courts reviewing a counsel’s repre-
sentation under Strickland should look to
that counsel’s overall performance, but in
order to get to this point in the analysis, a
court must find that counsel committed an
error of constitutional proportion. U.S.
Const.Amend. 6.

33. Habeas Corpus €=486(5)

State appellate court reasonably ap-
plied Strickland in determining that defen-
dant’s trial counsel was not deficient for
failing to present the testimony of a neu-
ropsychologist during penalty phase of his
trial for murder, and thus defendant was
not entitled to federal habeas relief on
such claim; although trial counsel’s deci-
sion not to call a neuropsychologist was
based on advice from two of their other
experts, one of whom was not called to
testify due to disciplinary record, it was
reasonable to rely on experts’ opinion
within their respective areas of expertise,
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psychiatry and psychology, to determine
whether the testimony of another expert
was necessary. U.S. Const.Amend. 6; 28
U.S.C.A. § 2254(d).

34. Habeas Corpus <=486(5)

State appellate court’s determination
that documentary evidence from defen-
dant’s school, medical, and jail records re-
flecting his troubled family history, learn-
ing issues, and psychological problems was
cumulative, and thus that any deficiency in
trial counsel’s failure to introduce such
evidence in penalty phase of defendant’s
murder trial did not prejudice defendant,
was not an unreasonable determination of
fact warranting federal habeas relief; docu-
ments would have only corroborated and
bolstered testimony already given by vari-
ous witnesses, and although prosecution
did attempt to attack the credibility of
other sources of such information, the dif-
ference between viewing defendant’s rec-
ords and learning their contents form wit-
nesses was not so great as to make the
determination that the documents were cu-
mulative unreasonable.  U.S. Const.
Amend. 6; 28 U.S.C.A. § 2254(d).

35. Criminal Law ¢=1426(3)

In Missouri, claims of trial court er-
ror, including constitutional claims of trial
court error, must be raised on direct ap-
peal.

36. Habeas Corpus =423, 770

Court would consider defendant’s
claim that his death sentence by state
court judge was based on findings of fact
not made by the jury, in violation of his
Sixth Amendment right to jury trial, under
deferential standard of review set out in
Anti-Terrorism and Effective Death Penal-
ty Act (AEDPA), despite fact that defen-
dant did not raise his claim properly in
state court, where state Supreme Court
did review claim for plain error, state did
not raise defendant’s procedural default as
a defense to defendant’s claim, and state
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courts fully considered the claim on the
merits and both sides fully briefed the
issues. U.S. Const.Amend. 6; 28 U.S.C.A.
§ 2254,

37. Habeas Corpus <496, 508

State court’s rejection of defendant’s
argument that his death sentence by state
court judge was based on findings of fact
not made by the jury in violation of his
Sixth Amendment right to jury trial was
contrary to and an unreasonable applica-
tion of the law, and thus defendant was
entitled to federal habeas relief, where Su-
preme Court precedent required that any
findings of fact required to increase a de-
fendant’s authorized punishment be found
by a jury beyond a reasonable doubt, and
jury’s verdict, which indicated it was dead-
locked with regard to punishment, did not
make any factual finding regarding wheth-
er mitigating factors outweighed the ag-
gravating factor the jury did agree upon,
which was a required factual finding in
order to impose death penalty. U.S.
Const.Amend. 6; 28 U.S.C.A. § 2254(d);
Mo. Ann. Stat. § 565.030.

38. Jury &=34(9)
Sentencing
&=1785(2)
Missouri law requires factual findings
regarding mitigation prior to imposition of
a death sentence, and under Ring, a jury

must make those factual findings. U.S.
Const.Amend. 6.

39. Habeas Corpus =453

Federal courts are bound by the state
courts’ interpretation of state law and that
interpretation may not be questioned on
habeas review.

40. Habeas Corpus &=486(4)

State appellate court’s determination
that defendant’s trial counsel was not defi-
cient for failing to present evidence from
three lay witnesses to whom defendant’s

and Punishment
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brother allegedly admitted to raping de-
fendant’s victim and testimony from a
DNA expert corroborating those incrimi-
nating statements was not an unreasonable
application of the law, and thus defendant
was not entitled to federal habeas relief on
such grounds from his death sentence for
his conviction for rape, murder, and armed
criminal action; lay witness testimony
would have been hearsay, consisting of
statements made approximately six
months after the murder that did not con-
tradict evidence against defendant, which
trial counsel was not obligated to intro-
duce, and defendant’s DNA expert’s test
on samples collected from victim did not
exclude defendant as a potential source of
DNA. U.S. Const.Amend. 6; 28 U.S.C.A.
§ 2254(d).

41. Criminal Law €=419(1)

For the constitution to require a hear-
say statement to be admitted notwith-
standing a state evidentiary rule to the
contrary, it must meet certain criteria:
among other things, it must have been
made under circumstances marked with
indicia of reliability and, if believed, it
must exonerate the defendant. U.S.
Const.Amend. 14.

42. Criminal Law &>368(3)

One factor tending to show reliability
of a hearsay statement, such that the con-
stitution requires the statement to be ad-
mitted, is whether a statement was made
spontaneously to a close acquaintance
shortly after the murder had occurred.
U.S. Const.Amend. 14.

43. Habeas Corpus =481

State appellate court’s determination
that trial court properly admitted evidence
of victim’s statements to law enforcement
about defendant’s threatening and assaul-
tive actions toward her was not an unrea-
sonable application of Crawford standard
for admitting testimonial statements from
witnesses who had since become available

under the forfeiture by wrongdoing excep-
tion, and thus defendant was not entitled
to federal habeas relief from his conviction
and sentencing to death for murder, rape
and armed criminal action, despite fact
that jury rejected statutory aggravating
circumstances related to defendant’s mo-
tive for murder, where trial court found
that victim’s statements were admissible
because it found by clear and convincing
evidence that defendant had killed victim
to prevent her from testifying against him
in ongoing burglary and abuse cases,
whereas jury was required to find aggra-
vating factors beyond a reasonable doubt.
U.S. Const.Amend. 6; 28 U.S.C.A.
§ 2254(d).

44. Criminal Law €¢=662.80

A testimonial statement from an un-
available witness is admissible if it falls
under the “forfeiture by wrongdoing” ex-
ception, under which a testimonial state-
ment can be admitted notwithstanding the
Confrontation Clause if the defendant en-
gaged in conduct designed to prevent the
speaker from testifying. U.S. Const.
Amend. 6.

45. Habeas Corpus =497

State appellate court reasonably ap-
plied the law in determining that trial
court did not err in failing to sua sponte
declare a mistrial because prosecutor’s
closing argument was so inflammatory and
so outrageous, and thus defendant was not
entitled to federal habeas relief from his
death sentence for murder, rape, and
armed criminal action on such basis, where
prosecutor’s reference to soldiers in World
War II did not explicitly encourage jury to
consider defendant a part of some greater
adversary in deciding whether to impose
death penalty, but only referred to jurors’
greater duty to society, and prosecutor’s
statements about sending a message to
others and defendant’s alleged mitigating
circumstances being “excuses” for his be-
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havior comprised only a small portion of
overall argument, prosecutor was clear
that the chief reason jury should impose
death was evidence in individual case, and
jury was instructed that arguments were
not evidence. 28 U.S.C.A. § 2254(d).

46. Habeas Corpus €497

When trial counsel does not object to
a closing argument, federal habeas relief is
only available if the prosecutor’s closing
argument was so inflammatory and so out-
rageous that any reasonable trial judge
would have sua sponte declared a mistrial.

47. Habeas Corpus &=382

A “fairly presented claim,” for pur-
poses of permitting federal habeas review,
rests on the same factual arguments and
legal theories as proffered in state court
and does not present significant additional
facts. 28 U.S.C.A. § 2254(b)(1).

See publication Words and Phrases
for other judicial constructions and
definitions.

48. Habeas Corpus =382

Defendant did not fairly present his
claim that prosecutor’s comments during
closing arguments regarding sending a
message to others by imposing the death
penalty on defendant and that defendant’s
proffered mitigating circumstances were
excuses for his bad behavior in challenging
his conviction and death sentence in state
court, and thus such claim was not review-
able on federal habeas review; although
defendant asserted prosecutorial miscon-
duct during closing arguments in his state
court appeals, his state court appeals only
mentioned prosecutor’s remark about
World War II soldiers, but did not mention
the “sending a message” or “excuses” lan-
guage. 28 U.S.C.A. § 2254(b)(1).

49. Criminal Law &=1134.47(4),
1171.1(2.1)

To determine whether a prosecutorial

remark infected a defendant’s trial with

unfairness, a court must first determine
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whether the remark was improper and
then, the court must: (1) measure the type
of prejudice that arose from the argument;
(2) examine what defense counsel did in
rebuttal to minimize prejudice; (3) review
jury instructions to see if the jury was
properly instructed; and (4) determine if
there is a reasonable probability that the
outcome of the sentencing phase would
have been different, taking into account all
of the aggravating and mitigating circum-
stances.

50. Habeas Corpus =498

State appellate court’s rejection of de-
fendant’s claim that trial court erred in
refusing to submit to the jury an instruc-
tion on second-degree felony murder as a
lesser-included offense to capital murder
was not an unreasonable application of Su-
preme Court’s decision in Beck v. Ala-
bama, 447 U.S. 625, which required juries
to be instructed on a lesser-included of-
fense in death-penalty cases, and thus de-
fendant was not entitled to federal habeas
relief from his conviction and death sen-
tence for murder, rape, and armed crimi-
nal action, where trial court instructed
jury on conventional second-degree mur-
der, which was also a lesser included of-
fense to defendant’s capital murder
charge, preventing the “all-or-nothing”
problem Beck sought to remedy. 28
U.S.C.A. § 2254(d).

51. Habeas Corpus =508

State appellate court’s determination
that the “depravity of mind” statutory ag-
gravating circumstance for which jury
could impose the death penalty was de-
fined by clear and objective language that
limited the jury’s discretion to impose the
death penalty was not an unreasonable
application of Supreme Court’s decision in
Godfrey v. Georgia, 44 U.S. 420, which
required a state to channel the sentencer’s
discretion to impose the death penalty by
clear and objective standards that provid-
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ed specific and detailed guidance that ren-
dered the process reviewable, and thus
defendant was not entitled to federal habe-
as relief from his death sentence on such
grounds, where discretion of jury to im-
pose death penalty based on depravity of
mind was limited by requirement that the
defendant committed repeated and exces-
sive acts of physical abuse upon the victim.
28 U.S.C.A. § 2254(d).

52. Habeas Corpus &=508

State appellate court’s determination
that trial court’s admission of testimony
from victim’s son regarding the tragic
deaths of his toddler brother and his
grandfather when he was a child was not
so unduly prejudicial that it rendered the
trial fundamentally unfair was not an un-
reasonable application of Supreme Court’s
decision in Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S.
808, which allowed prosecutors to offer
evidence providing a quick glimpse of the
life that defendant chose to extinguish as
long as it did not render trial fundamental-
ly unfair, and thus defendant was not enti-
tled to federal habeas relief from his death
sentence for murder of victim, where, tak-
en in context with rest of victim’s son’s
testimony and prosecutor’s decision not to
mention the deaths in his closing argu-
ments, there was no implication that de-
fendant was somehow responsible for
those deaths or that jury should have con-
sidered them when imposing a sentence.
28 U.S.C.A. § 2254(d).

53. Habeas Corpus €=490(1)

In considering whether evidence was
so unduly prejudicial as to render a trial
fundamentally unfair, a habeas court must
consider, based on the totality of evidence
admitted at trial and the nature of that
evidence, the risk that improper evidence
led to the jury’s verdict; although a direct
connection between a piece of evidence and
a verdict can be a factor in assessing this
risk, such as when the jury responds to

special interrogatories, it cannot be the
only factor.

54. Habeas Corpus €=493(3)

State appellate court’s determination
that evidence of forcible rape was legally
sufficient to support defendant’s conviction
was not based on an unreasonable inter-
pretation of the law, and thus defendant
was not entitled to federal habeas relief on
such grounds, despite his argument that
forcible rape required the victim to be
alive at time of sexual intercourse, where,
pursuant to Supreme Court’s decision in
Bouie v. City of Columbia, 378 U.S. 347,
retroactive interpretation of a criminal
statute only violated a defendant’s due
process rights if it was unexpected and
indefensible in light of prior cases, and
state appellate court’s interpretation of
MIssouri forcible rape statute not to re-
quire the victim to be alive during the rape
did not constitute an unexpected change in
the forcible rape statute in light of prior
Missouri case law. U.S. Const.Amend. 14;
28 U.S.C.A. § 2254(d); Mo. Ann. Stat.
§ 566.030.1.

55. Sex Offenses =30

If a sleeping person cannot reasonably
resist sexual intercourse, as required ele-
ment of forcible rape under Missouri law,
neither can a deceased person. Mo. Ann.
Stat. § 566.030.1.

56. Habeas Corpus €508

State appellate court’s determination
that defendant was not entitled to a jury
instruction requiring “evidence as a whole”
to justify imposing death penalty on defen-
dant was not an unreasonable application
of the law, and thus defendant was not
entitled to federal habeas relief from his
death sentence based on such claim; al-
though Missouri death penalty statute re-
quired the “evidence as a whole” to justify
a death sentence, such language did not
have same force as factual findings that
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must be determined by a jury, and thus
did not need to be specifically included in
instructions. 28 U.S.C.A. § 2254(d); Mo.
Ann. Stat. § 565.032.

57. Jury €=34(9)

State law must condition eligibility for
the death penalty on some determination
of fact before the Sixth Amendment will
protect a defendant’s right to have that
determination made by a jury. U.S.
Const.Amend. 6.

58. Habeas Corpus €423

A procedurally defaulted claim is un-
reviewable by a habeas court, even if adju-
dicated by the state courts under discre-
tionary plain-error review.

59. Habeas Corpus ¢=818

A “substantial showing” of the denial
of a federal constitutional right, for pur-
poses of issuing a certificate of appealabili-
ty in a federal habeas proceeding, is a
showing that issues are debatable among
reasonable jurists, a court could resolve
the issues differently, or the issues deserve
further proceedings. 28 U.S.C.A. § 2253.

See publication Words and Phrases
for other judicial constructions and
definitions.

Kent E. Gipson, Kansas City, MO, Lau-
rence E. Komp, Laurence E. Komp Attor-
ney at Law, Manchester, MO, for Petition-
er.

Caroline M. Coulter, Stephen D. Hawke,
Attorney General of Missouri, Jefferson
City, MO, for Respondent.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

CATHERINE D. PERRY, UNITED
STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

Petitioner Scott McLaughlin is currently
on death row at the Potosi Correctional
Center in Mineral Point, Missouri, for the
murder of Beverly Guenther. Petitioner
was convicted by a jury in St. Louis Coun-
ty of first-degree murder, forcible rape,
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and armed criminal action. The jury found
him not guilty of a second count of armed
criminal action. After the jury deadlocked
on punishment, the trial judge sentenced
Petitioner to death for the murder. The
judge also imposed consecutive life sen-
tences for the rape and armed criminal
action convictions.

This action is before me now on Peti-
tioner’s request for a writ of habeas corpus
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2254. Two of Peti-
tioner’s claims warrant relief. First, in
what is referred to here as Petitioner’s
Claim 1A, petitioner alleges that defense
counsel was ineffective for failing to con-
duct an adequate investigation into a psy-
chiatrist he intended to call as an expert
witness during the penalty phase of the
case. Because of the inadequate investiga-
tion, counsel decided at the last moment
not to call the psychiatrist, and so did not
present any medical evidence on the statu-
tory mitigating factors of extreme emo-
tional disturbance and that petitioner
lacked the capacity to conform his conduct
to the requirements of the law. Post-con-
viction counsel failed to raise this claim,
and so it was not considered on the merits
by the Missouri courts. But the evidence
shows that postconviction counsel knew of
this issue and its significance well in ad-
vance of the relevant deadline, planned to
address it in his postconviction motion, and
then inexplicably failed to raise it in accor-
dance with Missouri’s postconviction pro-
cedure. The omission prejudiced Petition-
er, who to date has received no merits
adjudication of the underlying claim. Post-
conviction counsel’s error constituted inef-
fective assistance of counsel, which—under
Martinez v. Ryan, — U.S. ——, 132 S.Ct.
1309, 182 L.Ed.2d 272 (2012)—requires
this court’s review of the underlying claim.
In conducting that review, I find that trial
counsel’s cursory investigation of psychia-
trist Dr. Caruso was such a grievous over-
sight that it both failed to comport with
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professionally prevailing norms and also
prejudiced Petitioner at sentencing. These
errors together violated Petitioner’s Sixth
Amendment right to counsel and require
resentencing.

Second, because of the wording of the
special verdict form used in this case, the
court could not have known whether the
jury concluded that the mitigating circum-
stances surrounding the murder out-
weighed the aggravating circumstances.
That weighing is a finding of fact that
Missouri state law requires and the Sixth
Amendment reserves for a jury. The
judge’s imposition of a death sentence
without a jury finding on this mandatory
factual predicate was a violation of the
Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amend-
ments as described in Ring v. Arizona, 536
U.S. 584, 122 S.Ct. 2428, 153 L.Ed.2d 556
(2002), and Mills v. Maryland, 486 U.S.
367, 108 S.Ct. 1860, 100 L.Ed.2d 384
(1988). The Supreme Court of Missouri’s
affirmation of Petitioner’s death sentence
was based on an objectively unreasonable
application of Ring and was contrary to
Ring and Mulls. This error, raised in Peti-
tioner’s Claim 3, also requires resentenc-
ing.

Petitioner raises 10 other grounds for
relief. These remaining claims and sub-
claims are procedurally barred or fail on
the merits.

I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

The following recitation of facts comes
from the opinion of the Supreme Court of
Missouri affirming the conviction and sen-
tence in this case:

The evidence at trial, considered in
the light most favorable to the jury’s
verdict, shows that Scott McLaughlin
and Beverly Guenther began a tempes-
tuous relationship shortly after they met
in 2002. For several months, the two
lived together, but their cohabitation
was marked by break-ups that were
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sometimes so serious that Ms. Guenther
would obtain a restraining order against
Mr. McLaughlin. In the spring of 2003,
they ended their amorous relationship,
but continued to see each other on social
occasions. Throughout their relationship,
Mr. McLaughlin frequently called and
visited Ms. Guenther at her place of
employment.

On October 27, 2003, Mr. McLaughlin
was arrested and charged with burglar-
izing Ms. Guenther’s home. He claimed
that he was reclaiming things that he
left at her house after they stopped liv-
ing together. He was arraigned on the
burglary charge on November 18, 2003.
Based on this incident, Ms. Guenther
sought and received an order of protec-
tion against Mr. McLaughlin. On No-
vember 20, 2003, while the protective
order was still in effect, he drove to Ms.
Guenther’s place of employment and
waited for her to get off of work. When
she emerged from the office, he spoke
with her as she walked towards her
truck.

The state presented expert testimony
that the blood spatters and other physi-
cal evidence in the parking lot and truck
suggested that Mr. McLaughlin at that
point forced Ms. Guenther to the ground
and raped her, then stabbed her re-
peatedly, causing a fan-shaped blood
stain on the parking lot, and then
dragged her body to his car and placed
it in the hatchback. Mr. McLaughlin
then drove to the river with the inten-
tion of disposing of her body. He tried to
deposit her body in the river, but ran
into some thick underbrush along the
bank and left her corpse there. He then
returned to sleep in his parked car be-
cause one of the tires had become flat
when he stopped to dispose of the body.

The next day, Mr. McLaughlin
cleaned out the inside of his car with
bleach. As the day went on, he became
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increasingly hyperactive and nervous.
Eventually, Mr. McLaughlin asked a
friend to take him to a hospital in St.
Charles so that he could get some medi-
cation for his mental disorder. The po-
lice were informed that Mr. McLaughlin
was going to be at the hospital, and he
was arrested when he arrived.

State v. McLaughlin, 265 S.W.3d 257, 260
(Mo. banc 2008), cert. denied, 556 U.S.
1165, 129 S.Ct. 1906, 173 L.Ed.2d 1057
(2009).

II. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Based on his actions described above,
Petitioner was convicted by a jury of first-
degree murder, armed criminal action, and
forcible rape. The jury deadlocked partway
through Missouri’s multistep capital sen-
tencing process and completed a special
verdict form. The trial judge then imposed
a sentence of death for the murder and
consecutive life sentences for the rape and
armed criminal action. Petitioner appealed
certain aspects of his convictions and sen-
tences. The Supreme Court of Missouri
rejected Petitioner’s direct appeal in Au-
gust 2008 and denied rehearing the follow-
ing month. Id.

Petitioner then brought a motion in the
Circuit Court of St. Louis County, Mis-
souri, for postconviction relief under Mo.
Sup. Ct. R. 29.15. The motion court grant-
ed in part and denied in part a motion for
an evidentiary hearing on Petitioner’s
postconviction claims. After a four-day
hearing on several of Petitioner’s claims,
the motion court denied in full the Rule
29.15 motion. The Supreme Court of Mis-
souri affirmed the denial and again denied
rehearing. McLaughlin v. State, 378
S.W.3d 328 (Mo. banc 2012).

Petitioner then filed this federal petition
for a writ of habeas corpus under 28
U.S.C. § 2254.
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III. GROUNDS RAISED

Petitioner seeks habeas relief on the
following grounds:

1. Defense counsel was constitutionally
ineffective at the penalty phase of trial for:

A. failing to conduct an adequate investi-
gation into Dr. Caruso, and as a re-
sult, failing to present testimony from
a psychiatrist (Claim 1A),

B. failing to investigate, retain, and
present expert testimony from a
neuropsychologist that Petitioner
suffered from brain damage and oth-
er neuropsychological impairments
at the time the murder was commit-
ted (Claim 1B), and

C. failing to investigate and present
available school, medical, and jail
records regarding Petitioner’s men-
tal illnesses and intellectual impair-
ments (Claim 1C).

2. The trial court violated Petitioner’s
Eighth and Fourteenth Amendment rights
by instructing the jury they could not con-
sider Petitioner’s school, medical, and jail
records as substantive mitigating evidence
during the penalty phase of trial (Claim
2A), and his counsel was constitutionally
ineffective for failing to object to these
instructions (Claim 2B).

3. The trial court’s imposition of a death
sentence violated Petitioner’s  Sixth,
Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendment
rights because Missouri’s sentencing stat-
ute and jury instructions permitted the
trial court, rather than the jury, to make
findings of fact required to render Peti-
tioner eligible for the death penalty.

4. Defense counsel was ineffective for
failing to investigate and present evidence
that Petitioner’s brother raped the victim.

5. The trial court improperly admitted
hearsay statements of the vietim, which
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violated Petitioner’s Sixth, Eighth, and
Fourteenth Amendment rights.

6. The prosecutor’s penalty phase clos-
ing argument was constitutionally improp-
er because he compared the jurors to sol-
diers in wartime, expressed personal
opinions, and referred to facts not in evi-
dence (Claim 6A), and defense counsel
was ineffective for failing to object (Claim
6B).

7. The trial court violated Petitioner’s
Eighth and Fourteenth Amendment rights
by refusing to submit to the jury the lesser
included offense of felony murder.

8. The “depravity of mind” aggravating
circumstance upon which the State relied
in seeking Petitioner’s death sentence is
impermissibly vague and excessively broad
under the Eighth and Fourteenth Amend-
ments.

9. Vietim impact evidence presented at
the penalty phase of trial was so unduly
prejudicial as to violate Petitioner’s due
process rights under the Eighth and Four-
teenth Amendments.

10. There was legally insufficient evi-
dence to support Petitioner’s rape convic-
tion.

11. The trial court’s refusal to use lan-
guage required by Mo. Rev. Stat.
§ 565.062 for instructing the jury at a
capital sentencing violated Petitioner’s
Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendment
rights.

12. The trial court violated Petitioner’s
Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendment
rights by excluding as mitigating evidence
testimony from Petitioner’s cousin con-
cerning incriminating hearsay statements
that Petitioner’s brother had made to her.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Most of Petitioner’s claims are governed
by the standard of review set out in 28
U.S.C. § 2254(d). Under this section, if a
state court has adjudicated a claim on its

merits, a federal court may not grant ha-
beas relief unless the state court adjudica-
tion:

(1) resulted in a decision that was con-
trary to, or involved an unreasonable
application of, clearly established
Federal law, as determined by the
Supreme Court of the United States;
or

(2) resulted in a decision that was based
on an unreasonable determination of
the facts in light of the evidence pre-
sented in the State court proceeding.

[1]1 This standard is deliberately “diffi-
cult to meet.” Metrish v. Lancaster, —
U.S. —, 133 S.Ct. 1781, 1786, 185
L.Ed.2d 988 (2013). Before obtaining relief,
a prisoner must show that the state court
decision under review was “so lacking in
justification” that there is “no possibility
for fairminded disagreement.” Harrington
v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 131 S.Ct. 770, 786—
87,178 L.Ed.2d 624 (2011).

[2] A federal habeas court applies the
standard of review contained in Section
2254(d) to the “last reasoned opinion” of
the state courts. See Winfield v. Roper,
460 F.3d 1026, 1037-38 (8th Cir.2006)
(where 29.15 motion court denied claim as
untimely and Missouri Supreme Court did
not address claim at all, motion court’s
denial was the “last reasoned opinion” and
provided an independent and adequate
state ground barring consideration unless
petitioner demonstrated cause and preju-
dice or miscarriage of justice).

A. Subsection 2254(d)(1)

[3-5]1 The “clearly established Federal
law” described in this subsection includes
only holdings, not dicta, from the United
States Supreme Court. Howes v. Fields,
— U.S. ——, 132 S.Ct. 1181, 1187, 182
L.Ed.2d 17 (2012). Holdings sometimes an-
nounce guiding principles, and courts need
not “wait for some nearly identical factual
pattern before a legal rule must be ap-
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plied.” Panetti v. Quarterman, 551 U.S.
930, 953, 127 S.Ct. 2842, 168 L.Ed.2d 662
(2007). The more general the holding, the
broader the range of reasonable applica-
tions thereof. Yarborough v. Alvarado, 541
U.S. 652, 664, 124 S.Ct. 2140, 158 L.Ed.2d
938 (2004). Nonetheless, “even a general
standard may be applied in an unreason-
able manner.” Panetti, 551 U.S. at 953, 127
S.Ct. 2842.

[6] Federal law is “clearly established”
if Supreme Court precedent has supplied a
“clear answer” to the question presented,
and that answer may be derived from mul-
tiple cases. Wright v. Van Patten, 552 U.S.
120, 126, 128 S.Ct. 743, 169 L.Ed.2d 583
(2008); see also Rompilla v. Beard, 545
U.S. 374, 393, 125 S.Ct. 2456, 162 L.Ed.2d
360 (2005) (state court determination that
defense counsel had been effective was
unreasonable application of Strickland v.
Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052,
80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) as applied to failure-
to-investigate claims in Wiggins v. Smith,
539 U.S. 510, 123 S.Ct. 2527, 156 L.Ed.2d
471 (2003)); Carey v. Musladin, 549 U.S.
70, 74, 127 S.Ct. 649, 166 L.Ed.2d 482
(2006) (relief would be granted only if state
court decision was contrary to or unrea-
sonably applied “this Court’s applicable
holdings”); Abdul-Kabir v. Quarterman,
550 U.S. 233, 257-58, 127 S.Ct. 1654, 167
L.Ed.2d 585 (2007) (relief granted because
state court decision was contrary to and
unreasonably applied Supreme Court’s
“most relevant precedents”); Tyler v. Cain,
533 U.S. 656, 666 (Court) and 672 (Breyer,
J., dissenting), 121 S.Ct. 2478, 150 L.Ed.2d
632 (2001).

[7,8] The “contrary to” and “unreason-
able application of” standards also de-
scribed in this subsection are distinct.
Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362, 405, 120
S.Ct. 1495, 146 L.Ed.2d 389 (2000). A state
court’s decision is “contrary to” clearly
established federal law if it “arrives at a
conclusion opposite to that reached by the
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Supreme Court on a question of law” or
“arrives at a result opposite to one reached
by the Supreme Court on materially indis-
tinguishable facts.” Addai v. Schmalenber-
ger, 776 F.3d 528, 532 (8th Cir.2015).

[9-11] A state court’s decision is “an
unreasonable application of” clearly estab-
lished federal law only if it was “objective-
ly unreasonable, not merely wrong.” White
v. Woodall, — U.S. ——, 134 S.Ct. 1697,
1702, 188 L.Ed.2d 698 (2014) (noting that
“clear error” is insufficient). Under the
“unreasonable application” clause, “a fed-
eral habeas court may grant the writ if the
state court identifies the correct governing
legal principle ... but unreasonably ap-
plies that principle to the facts of the
prisoner’s case.” Williams, 529 U.S. at 413,
120 S.Ct. 1495. A state court decision may
be both “contrary to” and an “unreason-
able application of” clearly established fed-
eral law. Abdul-Kabir, 550 U.S. at 258, 127
S.Ct. 1654.

B. Subsection 2254(d)(2)

[12] A state court’s decision is based
on “an unreasonable determination of the
facts in light of the evidence presented in
state court proceedings,” as required to
grant habeas relief under subsection (2),
only if the petitioner “shows by clear and
convincing evidence that the state court’s
presumptively correct factual findings do
not enjoy support in the record.” Lomholt
v. Towa, 327 F.3d 748, 752 (8th Cir.2003)
(citing 28 U.S.C. § 2254(e)(1) (clear and
convincing evidence standard)); see also
Barnes v. Hommer, 765 F.3d 810, 814 (8th
Cir.2014).

[13] Like under the standard articulat-
ed in subsection (1), a federal habeas court
may not grant relief under subsection (2)
just because it “would have reached a dif-
ferent conclusion in the first instance.”
Wood v. Allen, 558 U.S. 290, 130 S.Ct. 841,
849, 175 L.Ed.2d 738 (2010). Instead, a
petitioner must show that the determina-
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tion of facts was “objectively unreason-
able.” Schriro v. Landrigan, 550 U.S. 465,
473, 127 S.Ct. 1933, 167 L.Ed.2d 836
(2007); see also Miller—El v. Dretke, 545
U.S. 231, 240, 125 S.Ct. 2317, 162 L.Ed.2d
196 (2005) (Section 2254(e)(1) standard is
“demanding but not insatiable”).

V. DISCUSSION

A. Claim 1A: Failure to investigate Dr.
Caruso

In his first claim, Petitioner argues that
his trial counsel was constitutionally inef-
fective for “failing to investigate, retain,
and present the testimony of a qualified
psychiatrist” at the sentencing phase of
his trial. Specifically, he claims that trial
counsel’s investigation of psychiatrist and
mitigation expert Dr. Keith Caruso was
constitutionally inadequate. Trial counsel
had retained Dr. Caruso to examine Peti-
tioner and testify about his mental health
during the penalty phase of Petitioner’s
trial. While the jury was deliberating in
the guilt phase, Dr. Caruso informed coun-
sel of professional misconduct during med-
ical school that might have subjected him
to serious impeachment. Based on this in-
formation, counsel decided not to call him
to testify. That left Petitioner with no miti-
gation evidence from a mental-health pro-
fessional who had examined him clinically
as an adult or who could testify about his
mental state at the time of the murder.
Petitioner asserts that counsel’s errors vi-
olated his Sixth Amendment right to coun-
sel as set forth in Strickland v. Washing-
ton, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80
L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) and applied in Wiggins
v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 123 S.Ct. 2527, 156
L.Ed.2d 471 (2003).

1. Petitioner had first filed a pro se motion,
which similarly did not contain any explicit
reference to counsel’s inadequate investiga-
tion of Dr. Caruso. Once a postconviction
movant is appointed counsel and that counsel
files an amended Rule 29.15 motion, the pro

i. Strickland standard

[14-16] Under Strickland, a petitioner
first must identify specific acts or omis-
sions made by counsel that “were outside
the wide range of professionally competent
assistance.” Id. at 690, 104 S.Ct. 2052.
Second, a petitioner must demonstrate
that “there is a reasonable probability
that, but for counsel’s unprofessional er-
rors, the result of the proceeding would
have been different.” Id. at 694, 104 S.Ct.
2052; see also Pryor v. Norris, 103 F.3d
710, 713 (8th Cir.1997) (petitioner must
satisfy both prongs). For alleged errors
during the penalty phase of a capital trial,
Petitioner “must demonstrate that there is
a reasonable probability that absent coun-
sel’s inadequate representation, the jury
would not have sentenced him to death.”
Winfield v. Roper, 460 F.3d 1026, 1033
(8th Cir.2006); see also Strickland, 466
U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (same standard
applies where sentence is imposed by
judge). For Strickland purposes, a “rea-
sonable probability” is “one ‘sufficient to
undermine confidence in the outcome.”
Id. (quoting Wiggins, 539 U.S. at 534, 123
S.Ct. 2527)).

[17] In Missouri, Strickland claims are
not cognizable on direct appeal. Instead,
such a claim may be brought for the first
time in a collateral postconviction proceed-
ing under Mo. Sup. Ct. R. 29.15.

ii. Cause and prejudice

[18] Petitioner failed to raise this claim
that counsel was ineffective in his amended
Rule 29.15 motion, which was the first
opportunity he had to do so in state court.!
He tried to raise it on appeal, but the

se motion is superseded and rendered a nulli-
ty. E.g., Tinsley v. State, 258 S.W.3d 920, 927
(Mo.Ct.App.2008). Thus, the claims in the
amended Rule 29.15 motion were ‘‘the only
matters before the motion court.” Day wv.
State, 143 S.W.3d 690, 693 (Mo.Ct.App.2004).
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Missouri Supreme Court declined to con-
sider it.2 McLaughlin v. State, 378 S.W.3d
at 340 (McLaughlin’s “allegations regard-
ing the requisite investigation into Dr. Ca-
ruso are not preserved for appeal and will
not be addressed”); see also State v. Clay,
975 S.W.2d 121, 141 (Mo. banc 1998) (is-
sues not raised in Rule 29.15 motion are
waived on appeal).

[191 The Missouri Supreme Court’s re-
jection of the claim for failure to follow a
state procedural rule constitutes an “inde-
pendent and adequate” state ground that
would normally preclude review of the
claim by a federal habeas court. Coleman
v. Thompson, 501 U.S. 722, 750, 111 S.Ct.
2546, 115 L.Ed.2d 640 (1991). A habeas
petitioner can only overcome this proce-
dural bar by demonstrating “cause for the
default and actual prejudice as a result of
the alleged violation of federal law.” Id.

[20] “Cause” must be “something ex-
ternal to the petitioner, something that
cannot fairly be attributed to him.” Id. at
753, 111 S.Ct. 2546 (emphasis in original).
The Supreme Court qualified this defini-
tion in Martinez v. Ryan, 132 S.Ct. at
1320. In that case, the Court held for the
first time that a petitioner can establish
cause by demonstrating that his initial-
review postconviction counsel was constitu-
tionally ineffective for failing to raise a
“substantial” claim of ineffective trial coun-
sel.

[21] A substantial underlying claim is
one that has “some merit.” Id. at 1318-19
(citing Miller—El v. Cockrell, 537 U.S. 322,
123 S.Ct. 1029, 154 L.Ed.2d 931 (2003), and
thereby incorporating standard for issuing
a certificate for appealability). “Substan-
tial,” in other words, means “that reason-
able jurists could debate whether (or, for
that matter, agree that) the petition should

2. Capital postconviction appeals in Missouri
bypass the intermediate appellate courts and
go directly to the Missouri Supreme Court.
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have been resolved in a different manner
or that the issues presented were adequate
to deserve encouragement to proceed fur-
ther.” Miller-El, 537 U.S. at 336, 123 S.Ct.
1029.

Relying on Masrtinez, Petitioner re-
quested an evidentiary hearing before this
court on the question of whether his post-
conviction initial-review counsel’s failure to
raise the Dr. Caruso claim constituted
“cause.” Respondent did not oppose the
motion. I determined that the underlying
ineffective-trial-counsel claim was substan-
tial because trial counsel had conducted no
investigation whatsoever into Dr. Caruso’s
credentials and had, as a result of exclud-
ing him at a late hour, presented no testi-
mony from any mental health practitioner
who could comment on Petitioner’s psycho-
logical state at the time of the murder.
Therefore, I granted Petitioner’s request
and held a hearing on May 11, 2015.
[CM/ECF Doc. No. 57.] See Sasser wv.
Hobbs, 735 F.3d 833, 8563-54 (8th Cir.2013)
(finding the procedural default of four po-
tentially meritorious ineffective-trial-coun-
sel claims excused under Martinez and
reversing district court denial of request
for evidentiary hearing on those claims).

iii. Ineffective assistance of postconvic-
tion counsel

At the hearing, Petitioner presented tes-
timony from five witnesses: trial co-counsel
Robert Steele; postconviction motion attor-
neys Pete Carter and Valerie Leftwich;
postconviction motion mitigation specialist
Cindy Malone; and postconviction appel-
late counsel Melinda Pendergraph. These
witnesses all worked for the Missouri Pub-
lic Defender System and were responsible
for Petitioner’s Rule 29.15 motion.

Although the witnesses had represented
numerous capital defendants and their rep-

Mo. Consr. Art. V, §8 3, 10; standing order of
June 16, 1988; see also Hall v. State, 16
S.W.3d 582, 584 (Mo. banc 2000).
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resentation of Petitioner had begun more
than seven years ago, they all testified
emphatically that they remembered the
Dr. Caruso situation. One reason was that
Petitioner’s co-trial counsel, David Kenyon,
had told the court on the record that he
was worried that he had been ineffective.
The postconviction team testified that,
when they are first assigned a case, they
read the transcript first. As such, they
learned of this potential claim almost im-
mediately after receiving Petitioner’s case:
Respondent’s attorney: What was your
reaction when you read [the exchange
between Mr. Kenyon and the Court]?
Ms. Malone: Well, when I read it, I'm
like, “Well, there you go. He’s handing it
to you on a silver platter.” One of our
issues.

(Evid. Hrg. Tr. 53:3-6 [CM/ECF Doc. 66];
see also Pendergraph testimony, Hrg. Tr.
84:2-6 (“It’s not very often we have trial
counsel admit they screwed up at trial.”)).

The postconviction witnesses testified
that it is their usual practice to divide the
claims to be presented in a Rule 29.15
motion among the various lawyers on the
team. They had discussed the Dr. Caruso
claim on multiple occasions, both formal
and informal, and agreed that Mr. Carter
would brief that claim. On the date the
motion was due, Ms. Leftwich took Mr.
Carter’s claims and her own and appended
them into a single document, but she did
not recall reading his claims. (Evid. Hrg.
Tr. 70:13-71:10.) No one recalled whether
Mr. Carter had provided a draft before-

3. Missouri has no procedure for amending a
Rule 29.15 motion a second time once a peti-
tioner is represented by counsel, Leisure v.
State, 828 S.W.2d 872, 878-79 (Mo. banc
1992), nor for reviewing a defaulted claim on
appeal under a “plain error”’ standard. Hos-
kins v. State, 329 S.W.3d 695, 699 (Mo. banc
2010); Johnson v. State, 333 S.W.3d 459, 471
(Mo. banc 2011).

hand, but Ms. Malone and Ms. Leftwich
agreed he sometimes did not do so. (Evid.
Hrg. Tr. 56:16-24, 69:25-70:6.) It was un-
disputed that no one caught the omission
until after the brief had been submitted.?

Ms. Leftwich, Ms. Malone, and Ms. Pen-
dergraph all testified that they realized the
claim had been omitted before the Rule
29.15 evidentiary hearing, discussed it
amongst themselves, and were not pleased.
They had allocated resources to hire a
psychiatrist to evaluate Petitioner and
present testimony at a postconviction hear-
ing, and they believed that testimony had
no value without a claim based on the
failure to investigate Dr. Caruso and the
resulting failure to call a psychiatrist dur-
ing mitigation. Counsel attempted to reme-
dy the oversight by eliciting testimony (at
the 29.15 hearing) from Mr. Kenyon about
Dr. Caruso, and later, unsuccessfully argu-
ing to the Supreme Court of Missouri that
the claim had been sufficiently raised. Ms.
Leftwich testified that it was a “major
omission”; Ms. Pendergraph stated that
she had been “very shocked.” She testified
that she had complained to Mr. Carter’s
supervisor. (Evid. Hrg. Tr. 85:3-15.) Ms.
Malone testified that she was “really up-
set” because the team “had discussed this
over and over and over again.” (Evid. Hrg.
Tr. 55:1-4.)

Mr. Carter, for his part, agreed that the
Dr. Caruso claim had been his responsibili-
ty. He testified credibly that he had in-
tended to raise it,* but he gave no reason
he had not done so:

4. Mr. Carter had cited the appropriate failure-
to-investigate cases, as required by Missouri’s
procedural rules, but then his brief fell silent
on the content of a failure-to-investigate
claim. (See Rule 29.15 motion, 1 8(F).) This
mismatch is evidence that it was an oversight.
He also pointed to an expense report he had
written, requesting funds to hire a psychiatrist
for the purpose of a failure-to-investigate
claim and describing what happened with Dr.
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Petitioner’s attorney: Have you had the
opportunity to review the amended post-
conviction petition [for this hearing]?

Mr. Carter: I have.
Q: Is—where in there is Dr. Caruso
mentioned?
A: No, not—not specifically that I could
see.
Q: Okay. Is there any specific allegation
that trial counsel were ineffective for
failing to investigate the credentials of
Dr. Caruso?
A: No, there’s not.
Q: Why wasn’t it raised if it was a
spotted and identified issue?
A: I—I'm sorry. I have no idea why it
wasn't raised that way. I—I—I've—I
have no reason to know. I mean I don’t
know. I honestly don’t know.
Q: Okay. And just so we're clear, there’s
not a tactical reason for not raising it?
A: I'm sorry?
Q: Is there a tactical reason for not
raising this point?
A: Oh, no, no. None.
Q: Okay. When did you realize that the
claim had been missed?
A: When you came to see me and you
came to talk to me prior to my testimo-
ny here and showed me the motion and
I realized that I had not included the
key language.

(Evid. Hrg. Tr. 21:24-22:22.)

Mr. Carter testified that he did not re-
ceive a copy of the motion court’s decision
when it came down and had not sought out
a copy himself. He stated that he was
aware that the Missouri courts strictly en-
force the state’s procedural rules, includ-
ing the particular formulation of how
claims are worded. See Storey v. State, 175
S.W.3d 116, 126 (Mo. banc 2005) (citing

Caruso. (Pet.’s Ex. A; see Docs. 63, 66 (exhibit
received at evidentiary hearing)).
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Thummel v. King, 570 S.W.2d 679, 685
(Mo. banc 1978)); (see also Evid. Hrg. Tr.
13:3-23.). His office knew the state insists
upon rigorous adherence to those rules by
its adversaries at the postconviction stage.
(Evid. Hrg. Tr. 77:17-78:4.) Yet he did not
present the claim in accordance with state
procedure.

[22] Had Mr. Carter had any reason-
able justification for omitting the claim,
this Court would apply the “strong pre-
sumption” that his decision was reason-
able. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct.
2052. But he gave no reason whatsoever.
Indeed, it is difficult to imagine what tacti-
cal justification there could be for bringing
nine other postconviction claims alleging
ineffective assistance of trial counsel and
not bringing the one claim about which
trial counsel had expressed concern to the
trial court.

[23] Not all mistakes by posteconviction
counsel have constitutional significance.
But here, testimony from his colleagues,
and from Mr. Carter himself, demonstrate
that his abandonment of the Dr. Caruso
claim fell below prevailing professional
norms. See also Shaw v. Wilson, 721 F.3d
908, 915 (7th Cir.2013), cert. denied in
Brown v. Shaw, — U.S. ——, 134 S.Ct.
2818, 189 L.Ed.2d 785 (2014) (appellate
counsel’s performance fell below prevailing
norms where he abandoned a nonfrivolous
claim that was both “obvious” and “clearly
stronger” than claim he actually present-
ed); ABA Standards for the Appointment
and Performance of Counsel in Death Pen-
alty Cases (2003), Guideline 10.15.1(C) and
accompanying commentary (postconviction
counsel should seek to litigate all “argu-
ably meritorious” issues; commentary spe-
cifically advises postconviction counsel that
a trial record may be incomplete because
the “trial attorney did not conduct an ade-
quate investigation in the first instance”).?

5. Although they are not compulsory, codified
professional practice standards can provide
important guidance on identifying prevailing
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Postconviction counsel’s omission was un-
intentional and unreasoned, and it did not
comport with prevailing norms.

Having found that the underlying claim
was “substantial” and that postconvietion
counsel’s failure to raise it establishes
“cause” for the default, this court must
determine whether postconviction’s defi-
cient performance caused Petitioner “actu-
al prejudice.” Coleman, 501 U.S. at 750,
111 S.Ct. 2546. As other district courts
have noted, Coleman/Martinez prejudice
and Strickland prejudice may technically
be two separate inquiries, but they over-
lap.® They are—under some circum-
stances—redundant. See Duncan v. Car-
penter, No. 3:88-00992, 2015 WL 1003611,
at *42 (M.D.Tenn. Mar. 4, 2015); Gray v.
Davis, No. 1:11CV630, 2014 WL 2002132,
at *4 n. 4 (E.D.Va. May 13, 2014).

[24] At least in this case—where post-
conviction counsel’s deficiency was his
complete failure to present a substantial
claim—the two types of prejudice are inex-
orably related: if there is a reasonable
probability that the sentencing would have
gone differently had trial counsel been
constitutionally adequate, there is neces-
sarily a reasonable probability that the
state court would have so found had post-
conviction counsel properly presented that
underlying claim. See Arkansas v. Sulli-
van, 532 U.S. 769, 121 S.Ct. 1876, 149
L.Ed.2d 994 (2001) (state supreme court,
like all lower courts, must abide by United
States Supreme Court’s interpretation of
constitutional rights). Therefore, for the
reasons given below, I conclude there is a
reasonable probability that Petitioner
would have succeeded on this claim had he

norms. Missouri v. Frye, — U.S. ——, 132
S.Ct. 1399, 1408, 182 L.Ed.2d 379 (2012).

6. Eighth Circuit precedent is mixed on wheth-
er Coleman ‘actual prejudice” requires a
stronger showing than Strickland prejudice.
See Armstrong v. Kemna, 590 F.3d 592, 606

raised it to the state courts in his amended
Rule 29.15 motion.

iv. Trial counsel’s failure to investigate
Dr. Caruso

[25] Martinez held that a petitioner’s
procedural default of a substantial ineffec-
tive-trial-counsel claim on state-law
grounds may be excused for cause if that
petitioner’s postconviction counsel was
himself ineffective. But postconviction
counsel’s inadequacy does not itself entitle
that petitioner to relief, only to review of
the underlying claim. That review is to be
conducted de novo. Dickens v. Ryan, 740
F.3d 1302, 1321-22 (9th Cir.2014); see also
Wiggins, 539 U.S. at 534, 123 S.Ct. 2527
(where state denies Strickland relief on
performance prong and therefore does not
reach prejudice prong, habeas court re-
views prejudice de novo).

David Kenyon, one of the two attorneys
who represented Petitioner at trial, testi-
fied at the Rule 29.15 hearing before the
motion court. He stated that he had in-
tended to call psychiatrist Caruso to testi-
fy during the penalty phase of Petitioner’s
trial. According to Dr. Caruso’s reports,
Mr. Kenyon had engaged Dr. Caruso to
evaluate Petitioner for competency to
stand trial and for possible mitigating fac-
tors. (See CM/ECF Doc. No. 51-2.)

Dr. Caruso had interviewed Petitioner
at least twice in September 2005 for a total
of at least seven hours. In reports he gave
to Mr. Kenyon, he opined that Petitioner
had been suffering from numerous psychi-
atric problems when he murdered Ms.
Guenther. Dr. Caruso diagnosed recurrent

(8th Cir.2010) (comparing Charron v. Gam-
mon, 69 F.3d 851, 858 (8th Cir.1995) and
Clemons v. Luebbers, 381 F.3d 744, 752-53 n.
5 (8th Cir.2004)). Even assuming “‘actual prej-
udice” is a more demanding standard, Peti-
tioner has met it here for the reasons dis-
cussed infra.
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and severe major depressive disorder with
psychotic features, ADHD, alcohol depen-
dence, alcohol intoxication, “rule out” bipo-
lar disorder, borderline personality disor-
der, and antisocial personality disorder.
He opined that Petitioner had been under
the influence of extreme mental or emo-
tional disturbance at the time of the mur-
der and that his capacity to appreciate the
criminality of his conduct or to conform his
conduct to the requirements of the law had
been substantially impaired at that time.
Like other experts, Dr. Caruso also de-
scribed the substantial trauma and abuse
Petitioner had borne during childhood. Dr.
Caruso noted that Petitioner’s conditions
had improved with medication, which Peti-
tioner willingly took. (Zd.)

Mr. Kenyon had hired Dr. Caruso after
a mitigation specialist on his team had
seen Dr. Caruso speak at a continuing
legal education program that focuses on
the death penalty. (29.15 Hearing Tr.
582:21-583:25.) Mr. Kenyon testified that
he did no independent investigation of Dr.
Caruso beyond reading his curriculum vi-
tae. Mr. Steele, Petitioner’s other trial
counsel, testified that Dr. Caruso had been
hired by someone else so Mr. Steele did
not investigate his credentials either.
(29.15 Hearing Tr. 553:15-554:10, Evid.
Hrg. Tr. 41:21-25.)

At the Rule 29.15 hearing, Mr. Kenyon
explained why trial counsel ultimately de-
cided against calling Dr. Caruso at trial:

Q: Can you tell us why he did not testify

at trial?

A: The evening before he was supposed

to testify, I received a very late night e-

mail from him. It was while the jury was

still deliberating the guilty phase, and I

was checking my e-mail from a comput-

er in the St. Louis County [Plublic [D]e-

fender’s Office, and I saw an e-mail that

he had sent me that night telling me
that there was one little detail about his
background that he hadn’t really men-
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tioned to us before, but in the interest of
full disclosure, he thought that he proba-
bly should.

And he told us or he explained in the
e-mail that when he was in medical
school, he had been disciplined for alter-
ing, fabricating, and destroying primary
laboratory data in some type of experi-
ment that he was working on for the
National Institute of Mental Health.
And he provided me with questions to
ask him to rehabilitate him in the event
the State was aware of this.

Q: To your knowledge, before you see
this e-mail, to your knowledge, was the
State aware of this problem?
A: To my knowledge, no.

(29.15 Tr. 585:25-586:22.)

Mr. Kenyon had received that email on
the last night of the jury’s deliberation on
guilt. The following day, September 28,
2006, the jury returned a guilty verdict
and the trial immediately proceeded to the
penalty phase. Despite now knowing about
the misconduct investigation, Mr. Kenyon
made an opening statement in which he
referred to Dr. Caruso by name and pre-
viewed Dr. Caruso’s testimony to the jury.
His penalty-phase opening statement takes
up eight transcript pages. Mr. Kenyon’s
description of Dr. Caruso’s testimony rep-
resents one of those eight pages, more
than his description of any other evidence:

You will also hear from a psychiatrist
named Dr. Keith Caruso. Dr. Caruso
evaluated Scott after Scott was incarcer-
ated for the charges which you have
convicted him of. Dr. Caruso is a psychi-
atrist, and he will describe to you the
voluminous records that he reviewed. He
reviewed school records, psychiatric rec-
ords, medical records. He reviewed po-
lice reports. He reviewed depositions.

He conducted personal interviews with

people, and he conducted ten interviews

with Scott himself. Dr. Caruso will share
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with you conclusions that he reached
after he evaluated Scott.

He will tell you that he diagnosed
Scott with bipolar disorder, and diag-
nosed Scott also with depression. And it
was Dr. Caruso’s opinion that at the
time these crimes were committed, that
Scott McLaughlin was suffering from a
depressive episode of bipolar disorder.

Dr. Caruso will tell you that the time
these crimes were committed, that Scott
was under the influence of extreme men-
tal or emotional disturbance. Dr. Caruso
will also tell you that based on the men-
tal illnesses that Scott had, he does not
have the ability to appreciate the crimi-
nality of his conduct or to conform to
conducts of the requirements of law,
which—that he was substantially im-
paired in this regard.

(Trial Tr. 1487:9-1488:7.)

Before penalty-phase closing arguments,
Mr. Kenyon made a statement to the court
on the record (but outside the hearing of
the jury). He told the court that when he
had a chance to return to his own office, he
had searched for “Dr. Keith A. Caruso” on
Google. The misconduct investigation—me-
morialized in a document from the United
States Office of Research Integrity—was
the third result. He read Dr. Caruso’s
email into the record, as well as the gov-
ernment document he had found. Mr. Ken-
yon told the court that he became “consid-
erably more concerned” at that point. He
met with his boss and his co-counsel “until
the wee hours of the morning.” His boss
opined that Mr. Kenyon would have to
turn over Dr. Caruso’s email to the State if
he were to testify. (Trial Tr. 1950:25-
1955:23.) Ultimately, Mr. Kenyon decided
it would be best not to call Dr. Caruso
because he was afraid the potential for
impeachment could “seriously harm” Peti-
tioner’s case. (29.15 Hearing Tr. 588:17-
20.) Mr. Kenyon testified at the Rule 29.15
hearing that although he did not plan on

submitting the statutory mitigator instruc-
tion to the jury, he had planned on asking
Dr. Caruso to testify about his conclusion
that two mitigating circumstances had
been present at the time of the murder.
(29.15 Tr. 588:21-589:16, 590:23-591:592:1.)
This is largely reflected in his penalty-
phase opening statement. (Trial Tr. 1488.)

a. Penalty-phase evidence

The Supreme Court of Missouri summa-
rized the penalty-phase evidence that was
presented to the jury as follows:

During the penalty phase of trial, the
jury heard victim-impact evidence from
Ms. Guenther’s family and extensive evi-
dence about Mr. McLaughlin’s troubled
and abusive childhood. Mr. McLaugh-
lin’s biological father was an alcoholic
and was abusive toward his mother, a
prostitute. When he was taken into the
custody of the juvenile division, he lived
in multiple foster homes until the age of
five, when he and his younger brother
and sister were placed with Louise and
Harlan McLaughlin, who eventually
adopted them. His adoptive parents also
were abusive toward Mr. McLaughlin.
His adoptive father, a police officer,
would hit him with a paddle referred to
as the “board of education” and would
use his taser and nightstick on him. The
McLaughlins often would limit the chil-
dren’s access to food by locking the re-
frigerator and cabinet doors. Their
house was referred to by Mr. McLaugh-
lin’s childhood friends as “the house of
horrors.”

During the penalty phase, Mr.

McLaughlin also presented expert testi-

mony regarding Mr. McLaughlin’s psy-

chological and mental problems to the
jury. Dr. Anthony Udziela, a psycholo-
gist, testified about extensive intelli-
gence testing the doctor performed on

Mr. McLaughlin when he was 9 years

old due to poor performance and pecu-

40a



876

liar behavior at school. The testing indi-
cated that Mr. McLaughlin has a full-
scale 1Q of 82, which is in the low aver-
age range. Dr. Udziela diagnosed Mr.
McLaughlin at that time with attention
deficit disorder with hyperactivity, ex-
pressed language disorder, and adjust-
ment disorder with depressed features.
Mr. McLaughlin also was evaluated
when he was 9 years old by Dr. Pasqua-
le Accardo, a pediatrician, for neurode-
velopmental impairments. Dr. Accardo
found that Mr. McLaughlin suffered
from brain impairment, although he
could not determine the cause. He testi-
fied that Mr. McLaughlin suffered from
cognitive limitations, language limita-
tions, and attentional limitations. Ac-
cording to Dr. Accardo’s testimony,
these limitations were neurologically
based.

Dr. Mark Cunningham, a clinical and
forensic psychologist, testified about his
examination of Mr. McLaughlin that he
performed prior to the Rule 29.15 hear-
ing.” He also testified about his inter-
views with Mr. McLaughlin’s biological
and adoptive family, as well as his exten-
sive review of Mr. McLaughlin’s school,
prison, and hospital records. Dr. Cun-
ningham testified that the abuse and
neglect Mr. McLaughlin was exposed to
as a child led to neurodevelopmental
problems, such as a low IQ, difficulty
with language, issues with visual-spatial
cognition, and symptoms of attention
deficit disorder with hyperactivity. Dr.
Cunningham also identified psychologi-
cal disorders affecting Mr. McLaughlin
as an adult. He diagnosed Mr.
MecLaughlin with major depression, anti-
social personality disorder, and border-
line personality disorder. According to
Dr. Cunningham’s testimony, each of

7. Dr. Cunningham testified at trial, and so his
interviews of Petitioner had not only taken
place before the Rule 29.15 hearing, but they
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these conditions existed at the time Mr.
MecLaughlin committed the crimes.
Finally, Mr. McLaughlin presented the
testimony of Dr. Sripatt Kulkamthorn,
Mr. McLaughlin’s treating physician in
2002 and 2003. During that time, Dr.
Kulkamthorn found that Mr. McLaugh-
lin struggled from both depression and
anxiety. To treat his depression and anx-
iety, he prescribed Paxil for Mr.
McLaughlin. Mr. MecLaughlin was un-
able to afford the prescription, however,
so he only received Paxil during office
visits with Dr. Kulkamthorn.

McLaughlin, 378 S.W.3d at 335-36.

b. State courts’ findings on Petitioner’s
failure-to-call-psychiatrist claim

At discussed above, in his amended mo-
tion for postconviction relief, Petitioner did
not raise a failure-to-investigate claim.
However, Petitioner did argue—without
mentioning Dr. Caruso—that Mr. Kenyon
had been ineffective for failing to call a
psychiatrist. The 29.15 motion court reject-
ed this claim, and the Supreme Court of
Missouri affirmed. The motion court ruled
that in light of the late hour, the consulta-
tion with “not only the entire defense team
but also their supervisors in the Public
Defender’s Office,” and the potential for
serious harm to Petitioner’s case, Mr. Ken-
yon’s decision not to call Dr. Caruso had
been “reasonable as a trial strategy.” (Le-
gal File p. 185.) The motion court consid-
ered the evidence that could have been
presented by Dr. Stephen Peterson, a psy-
chiatrist retained at the postconviction
stage. The court found that his testimony
would have largely been cumulative to Dr.
Cunningham’s testimony, so Petitioner was
not prejudiced by the absence of that evi-
dence.

had also taken place before the penalty phase
of the trial, which is more relevant to the
Court’s discussion.
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After finding that no claim related to
Dr. Caruso had been properly raised in the
motion court, the Missouri Supreme Court
made no specific findings related to Dr.
Caruso. The Court did, however, hold that
counsel had made a “reasonable strategic
choice” not to “seek out additional expert
witnesses” based on advice from Dr. Cun-
ningham and Dr. Caruso, who had “con-
cluded that the mental health experts re-
tained were sufficient to testify regarding
Mr. McLaughlin’s mental health issues.”
McLaughlin, 378 S.W.3d at 342.

In making the decision not to call a
psychiatrist or a neuropsychologist, the
Court held, “trial counsel knew that Dr.
Cunningham was an expert psychologist
and conducted extensive interviews of Mr.
MecLaughlin, his biological family, and his
adoptive family,” and reviewed Petitioner’s
records. “Trial counsel also knew that Dr.
Caruso, a psychiatrist, formed his advice
not to hire another expert or do more
testing after an extensive interview of Mr.
McLaughlin and his review of Mr.
MecLaughlin’s school records, psychiatric
records, and medical records.” Id. The
Court went on:

Mr. MecLaughlin’s trial counsel also

made a reasonable strategic decision to

not call a psychiatrist. ... Through the
testimony of Drs. Cunningham, Accardo,

Udziela, and Kulkamthorn at trial, Mr.

McLaughlin’s trial counsel presented

mitigating evidence of impaired intellec-

tual functioning and testified at the Rule

29.15 evidentiary hearing that they did

not call Dr. Caruso, a psychiatrist, due

to the existence of impeaching evidence
that may have harmed the defense’s
case. The selection of expert witnesses is

a matter of trial strategy that cannot be

challenged in a Rule 29.15 proceeding.

Mr. McLaughlin’s trial counsel were not

ineffective for failing to present the tes-

timony of Dr. Caruso or an alternative
psychiatrist that would present more fa-

vorable testimony of Mr. McLaughlin’s
mental impairments.

Id. at 343. The Court held that, even if
failing to present evidence from a psychia-
trist had been error, Petitioner had not
been prejudiced:
Dr. Peterson performed tests on Mr.
McLaughlin during the postconviction
proceedings and diagnosed him with
borderline intellectual and personality
disorders, intermittent explosive disor-
der, and learning disorders. This evi-
dence is cumulative to the testimony of
Dr. Cunningham that Mr. McLaughlin
suffered from intelligence disorders aris-
ing from personality disorders, intellec-
tual disorders, and neurological prob-
lems throughout his childhood and
adulthood.

Id. at 344.

c. Petitioner’s Wiggins failure-
to-investigate claim

Petitioner relies upon Wiggins v. Smith,
539 U.S. 510, 123 S.Ct. 2527, 156 L.Ed.2d
471 (2003), for his claim that his trial coun-
sel was ineffective in failing to investigate
Dr. Caruso’s background. The Supreme
Court in Wiggins held that the defendant’s
trial attorneys had unreasonably truncated
their investigation into their client’s life
history. Counsel had reviewed the defen-
dant’s presentence investigation report
and records from the Baltimore City De-
partment of Social Services, but had gone
no further. It turned out that the defen-
dant had been neglected and severely
abused by his alcoholic mother and, subse-
quently, by several foster parents through-
out his childhood. Counsel had promised
the jury in opening statement that they
would hear about the defendant’s “difficult
life,” but did not follow through.

The state courts denied the defendant’s
petition for relief on this ground. The fed-
eral district court granted habeas relief,
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but the appellate court reversed, holding
that counsel’s strategic decision to focus on
another issue during sentencing had been
reasonable. The Supreme Court reversed
again. It found that the lawyers’ decision
could not have been reasonable because it
had been based on inadequate investiga-
tion into the defendant’s background. That
cursory investigation was objectively un-
reasonable, “did not reflect reasonable pro-
fessional judgment,” and fell short of pre-
vailing norms. Wiggins, 539 U.S. at 524,
123 S.Ct. 2527. Furthermore, “red flags” in
the presentence report should also have
put counsel on notice that more research
was needed. Id. at 525, 123 S.Ct. 2527.

d. Trial counsel’s deficient performance

Wiggins did not modify Strickland’s
holding that strategic decisions made after
thorough investigation are “virtually un-
challengeable.” Id. at 521, 123 S.Ct. 2527
(quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690, 104
S.Ct. 2052). Instead, it held that courts
must assess whether the investigation
leading to a strategic decision “was itself
reasonable.” Id. at 523, 123 S.Ct. 2527
(emphasis in original).

[26] With that in mind, it is clear that
in light of the circumstances at that time,
trial counsel’s “ultimate decision”—made
after he discovered the damaging infor-
mation during the trial—mot to call Dr.
Caruso was reasonable. See English v.
Romanowski, 602 F.3d 714, 728 (6th Cir.
2010).® But counsel’s representation dur-
ing trial is not the extent of his constitu-

8. English is a good illustration of why this is
not the end of the analysis. In that case, trial
counsel did not call as a witness the defen-
dant’s girlfriend, who could have corroborat-
ed the defendant’s version of events. The state
courts held that counsel’s decision not to call
the girlfriend was a reasonable strategy and
did not constitute deficient performance un-
der Strickland. The federal district court disa-
greed and granted habeas relief on this
ground. The Court of Appeals disagreed with
the district court, holding that counsel’s fail-
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tional duty to his client. Lafler v. Cooper,
— US. —— 132 S.Ct. 1376, 1392, 182
L.Ed.2d 398 (2012) (Scalia, J., dissenting)
(“As the Court notes, . the right to
counsel does not begin at trial. It extends
to ’any stage of the prosecution, formal or
informal, in court or out, where counsel’s
absence might derogate from the ac-
cused’s right to a fair trial””) (quoting
United States v. Wade, 388 U.S. 218, 226,
87 S.Ct. 1926, 18 L.Ed.2d 1149 (1967)).
Counsel should never have been in the
situation of deciding, at the last minute,
between calling an expert with a serious
truthfulness problem and calling no ex-
pert at all. See Wiggins, 539 U.S. at 533,
123 S.Ct. 2527 (“‘strategic choices made
after less than complete investigation are
reasonable’ only to the extent that ‘rea-
sonable professional judgments support
the limitations on investigation’”) (quoting
Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690-91, 104 S.Ct.
2052); White v. Roper, 416 F.3d 728, 732
(8th Cir.2005) (trial counsel’s failure to
call a witness is usually presumed to be
reasonable trial strategy, but the
“strength of the presumption turns on the
adequacy of counsel’s investigation” and
in White, “counsel’s investigation was too
superficial to reveal” the value of testimo-
ny by several potential defense witnesses).

[27] It s, of course, a common practice
for capital defense attorneys to rely on
mitigation specialists to propose potential
experts, whom they may eventually call to
testify in mitigation. But in making the

ure to call the girlfriend was not unreason-
able. Id. at 728. But it held that the failure to
investigate that prompted that last-minute de-
cision was a “‘distinct (albeit related)” claim
that merited habeas relief on its own: “it was
objectively unreasonable for English’s trial at-
torney to decide before trial to call [the girl-
friend] as a witness, make that promise to the
jury, and then later abandon that strategy, all
without having fully investigated [the girl-
friend] and her story prior to opening state-
ments.” Id.
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decision whether to retain a particular ex-
pert, counsel must do something beyond
reviewing what the expert says about him-
self on his resume. In this case, Petition-
er’s counsel did not discharge his duty to
investigate by hearing secondhand that Dr.
Caruso gave a presentation. Indeed, he
failed to do much of anything, and under
the circumstances of this case, his inaction
was constitutionally inadequate. He had
not done the groundwork reasonably nec-
essary to make a strategic decision about
whether to call Dr. Caruso.” See Smith v.
Dretke, 422 F.3d 269, 284 (5th Cir.2005)
(“If trial counsel’s investigation was unrea-
sonable then making a fully informed deci-
sion with respect to sentencing strategy
was impossible.”) (citing Wiggins, 539 U.S.
at 527-28, 123 S.Ct. 2527).

This is not a case where counsel failed
to shop around for a more favorable ex-
pert or failed to pursue a strategy more
fruitful in hindsight: he failed, instead, to
investigate the expert he did hire and to
reasonably develop the strategy he had
settled on. Compare Cullen v. Pinholster,
563 U.S. 170, 131 S.Ct. 1388, 1400 n. 7, 179
L.Ed.2d 557 (2011) (“There comes a point
where a defense attorney will reasonably
decide that another strategy is in order,
thus ‘mak[ing] particular investigations un-
necessary.””) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S.
at 691, 104 S.Ct. 2052) (alteration in origi-
nal); see also Hutchison v. State, 150
S.W.3d 292, 307 (Mo. banc 2004) (reversing
lower court and granting defendant’s Wig-
gins claim in part because counsel had
failed to follow up after inadequate mental

9. Mr. Kenyon'’s co-counsel did not pick up the
slack. (See 29.15 Hearing Tr. 553:12-23 (when
co-counsel entered on the case, Dr. Caruso
had already been retained and “I assumed
that whoever retained him had done some
investigation in to Caruso or was familiar
with his work”’)).

10. The state also argues that counsel reason-
ably relied on their experts’ advice that no

health evaluation). Competent representa-
tion would have included, at a minimum,
some investigation of Dr. Caruso’s back-
ground for potential impeachment. Coun-
sel failed to adhere to prevailing profes-
sional norms when he failed to prepare for
this possibility by confirming Dr. Caruso’s
qualifications in some reasonable way. For
example, he could have conducted a brief
Internet search (as he did after Dr. Caru-
so told him of the evidence), or spoken to
other defense attorneys who had previous-
ly used Dr. Caruso, or even asked Dr.
Caruso himself about potential impeach-
ment evidence.' But he did none of these
things. See Rompilla v. Beard, 545 U.S. at
389, 125 S.Ct. 2456 (counsel was ineffective
for failing to review his client’s prior con-
viction file, which was publicly available,
when he knew it was likely the prosecutor
would use it to prove aggravation); Bullock
v. Carver, 297 F.3d 1036, 1050 (10th Cir.
2002) (“clearly negligent treatment of ...
an obvious strength of the defense will
render an attorney’s overall performance
inadequate”) (internal quotation marks
omitted); Kigozt v. United States, 55 A.3d
643, 652 (D.C.2012) (defense counsel’s fail-
ure to investigate impeachment of state
witness amounted to ineffective assistance
because “we have no doubt that any com-
petent defense attorney would have appre-
ciated the need to investigate the credibili-
ty of the key witness for the prosecution”
(internal brackets omitted)).

Nothing in the record suggests any stra-
tegic rationale, no matter how farfetched,
for failing to conduct this investigation.

other mental health experts were necessary.
This is unreasonable because those opinions
were given with the assumption that Dr. Ca-
ruso would be testifying. See Rompilla, 545
U.S. at 379, 125 S.Ct. 2456 (approving lower
court dissent that lawyers had unreasonably
relied on family members and experts to tell
them what records would be useful rather
than reasonably investigating those records
themselves).
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This is not a case where constraints forced
counsel to decide how to allocate limited
resources; uncovering the serious impeach-
ment evidence against Dr. Caruso would
have taken practically no time or money. It
is also not a case where a limited investi-
gation had not suggested the need for
followup. Here, counsel obviously recog-
nized the need for psychiatric evaluation,
and as a result, chose a mitigation strategy
that hinged on testimony from a psychia-
trist. In this respect, it is similar to State
v. Johnson, 968 S.W.2d 686 (Mo. banc
1998). In that case, the Missouri Supreme
Court recognized that counsel’s failure to
communicate with a chosen psychiatric ex-
pert had not reflected a reasonable trial
strategy. The psychiatrist’s testimony had
been “the cornerstone of [counsel’s] penal-
ty phase strategy,” and counsel “had not
planned for any other scheduled witness to
cover the majority of [the psychiatrist’s]
testimony, that portion devoted to [defen-
dant’s] mental state at the time of the
murders.” Id. at 699. As such, counsel’s
failure to “solidify arrangements” with the
psychiatrist so that he did not end up
testifying “fell short of the skill and dili-
gence” required of reasonably competent
counsel.

Likewise here, the record demonstrates
conclusively that the ultimate failure to
offer that testimony to the jury was based
on counsel’s mistake rather than the result
of a tactical decision. Harrington, 562 U.S.
at 109, 131 S.Ct. 770 (court may not “insist
counsel confirm every aspect of the strate-
gic basis for his or her actions” but also
may not “indulge post hoc rationalization
for counsel’s decisionmaking that contra-
dicts the available evidence of counsel’s
actions”) (internal quotation marks omit-
ted); see also Somnier v. Quarterman, 476

11. (See 29.15 Hearing Tr. 590:12-592:1) (at
the postconviction hearing, counsel testified
that he attempted to elicit testimony from Dr.
Cunningham about the statutory mitigating
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F.3d 349, 358 (5th Cir.2007) (where trial
attorneys’ investigation was not sufficient
to “fully inform[] [the defendant] of all
available mitigating evidence and their
opinion of its potential effectiveness based
on their professional knowledge and expe-
rience,” counsel was constitutionally inef-
fective, even when defendant failed to co-
operate with counsel).

Not all mistakes are objectively unrea-
sonable, but counsel compounded this mis-
take in at least two ways. First, there was
no built-in redundancy to counsel’s penal-
ty-phase strategy. Counsel planned to rely
heavily on Dr. Caruso’s testimony for the
case in mitigation, so the failure to investi-
gate had considerable consequences. Dr.
Caruso was a psychiatrist who would have
opined that Petitioner had been under the
influence of extreme mental or emotional
disturbance at the time of the murder and
that his capacity to appreciate the crimi-
nality of his conduct or to conform his
conduct to the requirements of the law had
been substantially impaired at that time.
None of the other experts that were pre-
sented by the defense presented opinions
based on current evaluations of Petitioner
or his mental state at the time of the
crime. Instead, two of the experts had only
examined Petitioner when he was nine
years old. Another was a primary care
doctor who provided samples of anti-de-
pressants but did little else. And the only
other expert was psychologist Dr. Cun-
ningham, who had not done any testing or
evaluation of Petitioner and did not offer
any opinions about his mental state at the
time of the offense.’! The State empha-
sized this gap repeatedly in its closing
argument. The prosecutor’s first statement
was:

circumstances, but he “said he wasn’t going
to be able to assist us because his focus wasn’t
on anything that happened at the time of the
crime’’).
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You know, ladies and gentlemen, I
just want to touch on a few things that
the defense brought up. You know, who
are the doctors that we heard about? We
heard doctors who saw him 24 years
ago. 24 years ago. The one thing I will
agree: Dr. Accardo. And what did he
say? He said that we know that Scott
McLaughlin was going to progress.
There’s no question. I remember him
saying that. We also remember that he
did progress. They all talked about that
he was doing better.

(Trial Tr. 1988:15-24.) The prosecutor went
on to stress that forensic psychologist Dr.
Cunningham had not examined Petitioner
or conducted testing:
The only doctor they brought in to talk
about anything was Dr. Cunningham.

And I will say he came up with all
sorts of excuses. I mean, really, he
should be called Dr. Excuse. When you
start looking at this man, you have to go
back and say, Okay. I know he’s a doc-
tor, but how much weight should I give
his testimony?

Well, first of all, you look at how many
tests did he do? Not one test. He didn’t
evaluate him. He never gave him an 1Q
test. He never gave him any type of
testing at all to see where he is. All he is
is Dr. Excuse.

(Trial Tr. 1989: 15-19; see also id. 1993:13-
1994:7 (pointing out that there was no
evidence Petitioner had been diagnosed
with bipolar disorder except for testimony
from a friend of the vietim, who testified
that she saw Petitioner take medication for
that condition, and stating that “that’s not
a doctor we’re relying on. Obviously not. I
mean, people just talk.”)). The jury was
aware they heard no diagnoses based on a

12. Those factors were: “The murder in the
first degree was committed while the defen-
dant was under the influence of extreme men-
tal or emotional disturbance” and ‘“The ca-
pacity of the defendant to appreciate the

firsthand clinical evaluation and could not
consider as substantive evidence any docu-
mentary proof of mental-health diagnoses.

As a result, the defense team elicited no
testimony on two statutory mitigating fac-
tors they considered applicable.'? Mr. Ken-
yon testified at the Rule 29.15 hearing that
he does not generally submit to the jury a
specific instruction on Missouri’s statutory
mitigators, so as not to leave the jury with
the impression that those are the only
possible mitigating circumstances. (29.15
Tr. 591:6-19.) This is undoubtedly a rea-
sonable strategic choice. Nonetheless,
counsel’s failure to investigate Dr. Caruso
deprived the jury of testimony about the
content of those potential mitigating cir-
cumstances, which they were entitled to
consider even if they received no specific
instruction to do so. (See 29.15 Tr. 590:23-
591:2; 591:20-25.) There was evidence of
Petitioner’s dysfunctional childhood, but
there was no one to testify based on any
clinical evaluation whether Petitioner was
undergoing a mental health crisis at the
time of the murder. See Martin v. Barrett,
279 Ga. 593, 619 S.E.2d 656, 6568-59 (2005)
(state Wiggins claim granted on grounds
that where expert retained at habeas stage
was the “only mental health expert who
examined [the petitioner] and his institu-
tional records,” his testimony was signifi-
cant factor in showing a reasonable proba-
bility that psychiatric testimony would
have changed the sentencing outcome)
(some brackets omitted) (emphasis in orig-
inal).

Second, and more importantly, even af-
ter Dr. Caruso informed counsel of the
misconduct investigation, counsel went on
to make an opening statement wherein he

criminality of his conduct or to conform his
conduct to the requirements of law was sub-
stantially  impaired.”” Mo. Rev. Stat.
§ 565.032.3(2) & (6).
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described Dr. Caruso’s anticipated testi-
mony in detail, mentioning him by name
six times. The penalty phase only lasted
four days; it is not reasonable to assume
the jury had forgotten counsel’s opening
statement by the time it began delibera-
tions. Indeed, the State referred to Dr.
Caruso again by name when it cross-exam-
ined Dr. Cunningham. (Trial Tr. 1855:4-5.)
Even if defense attorney’s failure to inves-
tigate Dr. Caruso could be considered mi-
nor enough to this point to escape constitu-
tional notice, his decision to plow forward
with an unedited opening statement would
have magnified the initial error into one of
constitutional proportion.

In State v. Zimmerman, 823 S.W.2d 220
(Tenn.Crim.App.1991), the defendant had
stabbed her husband to death. Up until
trial began, the defense strategy had been
to call the defendant to testify about the
abuse her husband had inflicted on her and
to call a treating psychologist to explain
battered wife syndrome, confirm the de-
fendant’s attempts to seek help for her
husband’s alcohol abuse, and opine that
she had not intended to kill the victim.
Defense counsel emphasized these points
repeatedly in his opening statement.

It appears that, during the trial, the two
defense attorneys had a disagreement and
one of them advised the defendant not to
testify. She accepted this advice and elect-
ed not to take the stand. As a result, the
defense also did not call the psychologist,
reasoning that hearing from him alone
would have an adverse effect because it
would “heighten” the jury’s desire to hear
from the defendant herself.

The court held that counsel’s perform-
ance had been constitutionally inadequate.
The attorneys had arbitrarily broken their
promises to the jury about what the evi-
dence would show, causing the jury to lose
“confidence in the credibility of the advo-
cate’s cause.” Id. at 226. Even assuming it
had been reasonable to advise the defen-
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dant not to testify because she “was a very
risky witness” and “there were inconsis-
tencies in her explanation of the events,”
nothing had changed about her testimony
between the adoption of the battered-wom-
an defense and counsel’s opening state-
ment. In other words, to the extent a
reasonable decision might have been made
not to call the defendant to the stand, it
would have to have been made in time to
formulate some other defense in order to
pass constitutional muster.

This is the same situation that occurred
in this case. Even if counsel had not en-
gaged in a deficient investigation, Dr. Ca-
ruso’s credibility problem was “just as ap-
parent” to Petitioner’s trial counsel before
his penalty-phase opening statement as it
was afterward. Id. Like in Zimmerman,
nothing changed between penalty-phrase
opening statements and counsel’s subse-
quent decision not to call Dr. Caruso;
there was “no basis for the sudden change
in strategy.” Counsel knew about Dr. Ca-
ruso’s professional misconduct at that
point and should have minimized the risk
of prejudice resulting from his loss of cred-
ibility in front of a jury that “may view
unsupported claims as an outright attempt
at  misrepresentation.” Id.  (quoting
McCloskey, Criminal Law Desk Book,
§ 1506(3)(0) (Matthew Bender, 1990) and
citing State v. Moorman, 320 N.C. 387, 358
S.E.2d 502 (N.C.1987) (ineffective assis-
tance based upon failure to present prom-
ised evidence)); see also Wiggins, 539 U.S.
at 515, 123 S.Ct. 2527 (at the conclusion of
her penalty-phase opening statement,
counsel promised jury they would hear
evidence of the defendant’s “difficult life”
but then failed to follow through); Robin-
son v. United States, 744 F.Supp.2d 684,
692-93 (E.D.Mich.2010) (where trial coun-
sel failed to call the defendant to testify
though “there were no evidentiary surpris-
es at any time before or during the trial
which would warrant such a change in
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strategy after he had promised the jurors
that they would hear from [the defen-
dant],” his performance was deficient).

The ABA Standards for the Appoint-
ment and Performance of Counsel in
Death Penalty Cases (2003) do not have
the force of law, but they can be instruc-
tive. See Bobby v. Van Hook, 558 U.S. 4, 8,
130 S.Ct. 13, 175 L.Ed.2d 255 (2009); ac-
cord Missouri v. Frye, 132 S.Ct. at 1408.
Guideline 10.7(A) provides that “Counsel
at every stage have an obligation to con-
duct thorough and independent investiga-
tions relating to the issues of both guilt
and penalty.” Counsel’s investigation of
Dr. Caruso’s credentials was neither thor-
ough nor independent. Certainly counsel
must pick and choose among potentially
infinite mitigating circumstances to investi-
gate, and there are many circumstances in
which it is reasonable to decide to discon-
tinue investigation of a particular avenue.
But this is not one of those circumstances;
this is a situation where counsel failed to
conduct an adequate investigation to sup-
port the strategy they actually presented.
See English, 602 F.3d at 726-27; Stevens v.
McBride, 489 F.3d 883, 896 (7th Cir.2007);
United States ex rel. Erickson v. Shomig,
162 F.Supp.2d 1020, 1044 (N.D.I11.2001)
(decision to call expert who had embel-
lished his credentials (and then was round-
ly impeached on cross-examination) could
not have been strategic because “trial
counsel did not verify [the expert’s] cre-
dentials or interview him regarding his
trial testimony and report” and “a strate-
gic decision necessarily rests on knowledge
about what a witness will say and the pros
and cons of presenting that testimony”)
(emphasis added).

Although admission by an attorney that
his own representation was inadequate is
not “decisive,” Walls v. Bowersox, 151 F.3d
827, 836 (8th Cir.1998), counsel’s recogni-
tion of his own ineffectiveness not two
days after his opening statement is further

evidence that counsel’s representation fell
below prevailing professional norms. See
Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct. 2052
(court should “evaluate the conduct from
counsel’s perspective at the time”). Peti-
tioner’s postconviction appellate counsel
also testified credibly to this court that, in
the more than 30 capital cases she had
worked on, she had never seen an attorney
promise in his penalty-phase opening
statement that a particular witness would
appear and then fail to deliver. (Tr. 84:7-
13.). This highlights the fact that counsel’s
failure to investigate Dr. Caruso’s creden-
tials fell outside the “wide range of reason-
able professional assistance.” Strickland,
466 U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct. 2052; see also
Anderson v. Butler, 858 F.2d 16, 17 (1st
Cir.1988) (where trial court failed to call as
promised a psychiatrist and a psychologist
to testify about the murder defendant’s
mental state as he carried out a murder,
“it was inexcusable to have given the mat-
ter so little thought at the outset as to
have made the opening promise” and since
there was no rule requiring counsel to
mention a specific witness to preserve
right to call that witness, there had been
“nothing to gain” by doing so in that case
but “potential embarrassment in case he
changed his mind”).

e. Prejudice

[28-30] This court is charged with ana-
lyzing both Strickland prongs de novo.
Dickens, 740 F.3d at 1321-22. To show
prejudice, a petitioner must demonstrate
that there is a reasonable probability that,
but for counsel’s professional errors, the
result of the proceeding would have been
different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 695, 104
S.Ct. 2052. A “reasonable probability” is
one sufficient to undermine confidence in
the outcome. Id. In a capital case:

the question is whether there is a rea-

sonable probability that, absent the er-

rors, the sentencer—including an appel-
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late court, to the extent it independently
reweighs the evidence—would have con-
cluded that the balance of aggravating
and mitigating circumstances did not
warrant death.

Id. (judge-imposed sentence); see also
Wiggins, 539 U.S. at 537, 123 S.Ct. 2527 (if
“there is a reasonable probability that at
least one juror would have struck a differ-
ent balance [when considering whether the
mitigating evidence outweighs the aggra-
vating evidence], the death penalty cannot
be imposed”).

In reweighing the mitigating and aggra-
vating circumstances in light of the evi-
dence now in the record, see Wiggins, 539
U.S. at 534, 123 S.Ct. 2527, and Sears, 561
U.S. at 956, 130 S.Ct. 3259, this court
considers the testimony given by Dr. Pe-
terson, the psychiatrist hired by the post-
conviction defense team.

Dr. Peterson testified that (like Dr. Cun-
ningham) he reviewed Petitioner’s school,
medical, and jail records and conducted
interviews of Petitioner and some family
members. He testified that, in coming to
his diagnoses, he relied in part on the
neuropsychological assessment and battery
of tests conducted by Dr. Heilbronner, the
posteonviction neuropsychologist, who had
concluded that Petitioner’s poor function-
ing was likely caused by a physical brain
injury he had sustained.’® But most impor-
tantly, Dr. Peterson had evaluated Peti-
tioner face-to-face and had asked questions
about Petitioner’s thinking at the time of
the murder and made clinical observations
about his behavior. Dr. Peterson testified
at the Rule 29.15 hearing that he diag-
nosed Petitioner with borderline personali-
ty disorder with narcissistic features and
intermittent explosive disorder. (29.15
Hearing Tr., 434:3-437:15, 440:3-442.) He
explained his opinion that, at the time of

13. Dr. Peterson testified that his opinion as to
the statutory mitigators would not have
changed even if he had not reviewed Dr.
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the murder, Petitioner was under extreme
duress (Tr. 453:14-21), had reduced capaci-
ty to conform his conduct to the require-
ments of law because of the borderline
intellectual functioning and borderline per-
sonality disorder (Tr. 453:22-454:8), and
had not been taking medication that had
previously helped him (Tr. 454:15-17). Dr.
Peterson testified that:

Persons with those kinds of difficulties
he has, a lower 1Q, very low frustration
tolerance, impulsive activity, and border-
line personality, frequently do things in-
credibly against their own interests
without thinking about the conflicts and
the consequences. I believe that’s what
happened with him. At that moment, he
was unable to conform his conduct to
law. Subsequently and obviously he tried
to cover things up, but not well.

(29.15 Hearing Tr. 455:16-456:3.)

In light of Dr. Peterson’s testimony,
there is a reasonable probability of a dif-
ferent sentencing outcome had trial coun-
sel adequately investigated Dr. Caruso be-
fore trial. Had he done so, the defense
would have presented testimony from a
qualified psychiatrist or other expert, such
as Dr. Peterson, who had evaluated Peti-
tioner as an adult. Case. That additional
testimony would have been qualitatively
different from what was presented: it
would have comprised the only evidence
from a mental-health expert bearing on
Petitioner’s psychological state at the time
of the murder.

The defense also would not have broken
its promise to the jury about what it would
hear as mitigation evidence. See Anderson,
858 F.2d at 17 (where defense counsel
promised psychiatric testimony but failed
to follow through, the jurors “would be-
lieve, in the absence of some other expla-
nation” that the promised witnesses were

Heilbronner’s assessment. (29.15 Hearing Tr.
522:14-523:11.)
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“unwilling” to testify and “[t]his they
would not forget”).

The jury rejected most of the aggrava-
ting circumstances proffered by the prose-
cution. Had it heard testimony from an
expert that Petitioner was unable to con-
form his conduct to the law at the time of
the murder, it may have found that his
commission of the crime, however outra-
geous, did not reflect “depravity of mind”
and thereby found Petitioner ineligible for
the death penalty. (See 29.15 Hearing Tr.
593:12-23) (one of counsel’s two penalty-
phase strategies was to create “reasonable
doubt as to all of the statutory aggravating
circumstances”). It also is reasonably prob-
able the jury would have weighed the ag-
gravating and mitigating circumstances
differently. This probability is particularly
acute because we do not know how many
members of the jury found in favor of the
defendant at that stage of the inquiry and
because the jury ultimately deadlocked.
Likewise, there is a reasonable probability
the court would have sentenced Petitioner
to life in prison without possibility of pa-
role if it had heard evidence supporting
the existence of two statutory mitigating
circumstances—even if counsel still would
not have submitted the instruction enu-
merating those statutory mitigators—be-
cause those mitigators related to Petition-
er’s mental state at the time of the crime.
See Griffin v. Pierce, 622 F.3d 831, 844-45
(Tth Cir.2010) (where the same judge pre-
sides over sentencing and post-conviction
hearing, his or her assessment that new
evidence would not have made a difference

14. Although Petitioner’s claims about the rec-
ords themselves are either procedurally de-
faulted or otherwise without merit, at least
some of the records could have been rendered
admissible under a state-law hearsay excep-
tion. See McLaughlin, 378 S.W.3d at 352-53
(noting that Petitioner’s school records were
admissible); State v. Moore, 721 S.W.2d 141,
143 (Mo.Ct.App.1986) (medical history neces-
sary for diagnosis and treatment admissible

is considered but not “conclusive”; rather,
in applying the “reasonable probability”
standard, habeas court must “conduct an
objective evaluation of the evidence”).

[311 The jury obviously found this to
be a close case, and an objective view of
the evidence confirms that it was a close
case. The jury rejected three statutory
aggravators and ultimately deadlocked. Its
weighing of the mitigating and aggravating
circumstances is riddled with uncertainty.
The prosecution argued that the mental-
health testimony actually presented was
obsolete and not relevant to Petitioner’s
mental status at the time of the crime. The
jury was prohibited from considering med-
ical records as substantive evidence in or-
der to corroborate Dr. Cunningham’s sec-
ondhand conclusions in some other way.'*
Considering the mitigation evidence pro-
vided by Dr. Peterson at the 29.15 hearing
on balance with the relatively weak case in
aggravation, confidence in the sentencing
outcome is undermined by trial counsel’s
failure to investigate Dr. Caruso. Wiggins,
539 U.S. at 534, 123 S.Ct. 2527 (quoting
Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct.
2052); Strickland, 466 U.S. at 695, 104
S.Ct. 2052 (a “weakly supported” conclu-
sion is “more likely to have been affected
by errors than one with overwhelming rec-
ord support”); see also Sears v. Upton, 561
U.S. 945, 953-56, 130 S.Ct. 3259, 177
L.Ed.2d 1025 (2010). Petitioner has dem-
onstrated there is a reasonable probability
that the outcome at sentencing would have
been different had trial counsel’s perform-
ance been objectively reasonable.’

under statutory hearsay exception codified at
Mo. Rev. Stat. §§ 490.680); see also State v.
Graham, 641 S.W.2d 102, 106 (Mo. banc
1982). Even if they were otherwise inadmissi-
ble hearsay, some of the records might have
been admitted under Green v. Georgia, 442
U.S. 95, 99 S.Ct. 2150, 60 L.Ed.2d 738
(1979).

15. Even if the deference required by Section
2254(d) might apply to any aspect of this
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B. Claim 1B: Failure to present neurop-

sychologist

[32,33] Unlike Claim 1A, the state
courts considered on the merits Petition-
er’s claim that trial counsel was ineffective
for failing to present the testimony of a
neuropsychologist at the penalty phase of
his trial. Therefore, this court reviews
their decision through the doubly deferen-
tial lens of Strickland and Section
2254(d)(1).16

claim, the state courts unreasonably applied
Strickland and Wiggins when they decided, in
rejecting Petitioner’s failure-to-call-a-psychia-
trist claim, that such testimony would have
been cumulative. Dr. Peterson’s testimony re-
lated to his examination of Petitioner and
concerning the commission of the murder
would have uniquely countered the prosecu-
tion’s chief argument in closing that the de-
fense’s expert opinions were too old to be
relevant.

The testimony Dr. Cunningham gave cen-
tered on Petitioner’s abusive upbringing: the
numerous damaging factors that enhanced
the risk that Petitioner would experience
functional and emotional defects throughout
his life. (See, e.g., Trial Tr. 1832:16-25.) He
testified about Petitioner’'s mental health
problems as an adult, but only in reference to
records he had reviewed secondhand, which
the trial court told the jury it could not con-
sider as substantive evidence. (See, e.g., Trial
Tr. 1704:18-1705:2; 1865:14-17.)

Dr. Peterson testified, in contrast, about
how Petitioner’s psychological defects—par-
ticularly borderline personality disorder—
contributed to his decision to murder Ms.
Guenther. In other words, he provided the
only evidence that the risks described by Dr.
Cunningham had come to bear. This testimo-
ny “might well have influenced the jury’s ap-
praisal of [Petitioner’s] moral culpability.”
Wiggins, 539 U.S. at 538, 123 S.Ct. 2527; see
also Sears v. Upton, 561 U.S. 945, 955, 130
S.Ct. 3259, 177 L.Ed.2d 1025 (2010) (“We
certainly have never held that counsel’s effort
to present some mitigation evidence should
foreclose an inquiry into whether a facially
deficient mitigation investigation might have
prejudiced the defendant.”); Shellito v. State,
121 So.3d 445, 456 (Fla.2013) (per curiam)
(though jury heard testimony from family and
saw psychological reports from defendant’s
childhood about abusive upbringing, psycho-
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The Missouri Supreme Court rejected
this claim on the merits. It held that de-
fense counsel’s decision not to seek out a
neuropsychologist had been a reasonable
strategy because they had reasonably con-
cluded that retaining such an expert
“would reveal no additional, beneficial in-
formation.” McLaughlin, 378 S.W.3d at
342. Citing Lyons v. State, 39 S.W.3d 32,
37-38 (Mo. banc 2001), the court found
that it had been reasonable for trial coun-

logical problems, learning disability, conduct
disorder, low-to-average I1Q, organic brain
disorder, suicide attempt, and stays in mental
diagnostic centers, and trial counsel made
tactical decision not to call mental-health ex-
pert, his performance was deficient “in failing
to have Shellito’s mental health issues pre-
sented by an expert at trial to explain their
significance and impact on his behavior at the
time of the murder”).

16. Petitioner argues that deference should not
apply to this claim or Claims 1C and 2 be-
cause the Missouri Supreme Court improper-
ly “parsed” them into separate components,
rather than evaluating the cumulative effect of
counsel’s errors. I agree that courts reviewing
a counsel’s representation under Strickland
should look to that counsel’s “overall per-
formance,” Kimmelman v. Morrison, 477 U.S.
365, 386, 106 S.Ct. 2574, 91 L.Ed.2d 305
(1986), but in order to get to this point in the
analysis, a court must find that counsel com-
mitted an error of constitutional proportion.
Wainwright v. Lockhart, 80 F.3d 1226, 1233
(8th Cir.1996) (“Errors that are not unconsti-
tutional individually cannot be added together
to create a constitutional violation.”’). As dis-
cussed below, it was not objectively unreason-
able for the state court to find no error in
failing to call a neuropsychologist, so there is
no opportunity to assess this purported defi-
ciency in light of counsel’s overall perform-
ance. Compare Porter v. McCollum, 558 U.S.
30, 38, 130 S.Ct. 447, 175 L.Ed.2d 398
(2009). Nonetheless, the absence of testimony
from a neuropsychologist who had examined
Petitioner and the absence of corroborating
documentary evidence in the form of medical,
jail, and school records are factors making
the failure to investigate Dr. Caruso and the
resulting failure to present a psychiatrist
more prejudicial.
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sel to rely on advice from Dr. Cunningham
and Dr. Caruso that the mental-health ex-
perts already retained were sufficient to
testify regarding Petitioner’s mental-
health issues. Though it acknowledged that
this advice had been formed before the
experts knew Dr. Caruso would not be
called to testify, it noted that this “does
not affect the reasonableness of relying on
Dr. Caruso’s expert opinion as to whether
additional expert testimony concerning
Mr. McLaughlin’s brain impairment was
necessary.” McLaughlin, 378 S.W.3d at
343 n. 4.

Unlike counsel’s failure to investigate
Dr. Caruso, there is no evidence in the
record that counsel’s failure to hire a neu-
ropsychologist was a mistake. Instead,
there is—as the state court noted—evi-
dence that it was a reasoned decision
based on advice from the experts counsel
did hire. (See 29.15 Hearing Tr. 572:19-
573:11.) Dr. Caruso had incentive to omit
his professional misconduct from his cur-
riculum vitae, and a minimally competent
counsel would have verified his credentials
rather than relying on Dr. Caruso’s selec-
tive self-characterization. See KErickson,
162 F.Supp.2d at 1044. But relying on the
experts’ opinions within their respective
areas of professional expertise—psychiatry
and psychology—is qualitatively different,
and something counsel was entitled to do.
See Marcrum v. Luebbers, 509 F.3d 489,
511 (8th Cir.2007); Worthington v. Roper,
631 F.3d 487, 502 (8th Cir.2011). This is
especially true because Dr. Cunningham
had reviewed “a substantial collection of
records pertaining to [Petitioner’s] social
and medical history,” and presumably
counsel could count on him to recommend
a neuropsychologist if he had seen sugges-
tions in those records indicating one was
needed. Worthington, 631 F.3d at 502. As
Petitioner points out, it is likely those opin-
ions would have been modified by counsel’s
ultimate decision not to call Dr. Caruso,
but that limitation is rectified by this

court’s holding as to Claim 1A. Because his
counsel relied appropriately on expert ad-
vice about the extent of his investigation,
Petitioner has not shown that the state
court’s rejection of this claim was based on
an unreasonable application of Strickland
such that counsel’s failure to call a neurop-
sychologist was outside the acceptable
“wide range of professionally competent
assistance.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690,
104 S.Ct. 2052.

Nor has he shown that the state high
court acted “contrary to” Strickland by
arriving at a conclusion opposite that of
the United States Supreme Court on a
question of law. Although the state court
stated, by way of shorthand, that the selec-
tion of expert witnesses “cannot be chal-
lenged” at the postconviction stage, it is
clear this statement was meant to empha-
size the difficulty of overcoming the pre-
sumption that trial counsel acted effective-
ly. Compare Forrest v. Steele, 764 F.3d
848, 861 (8th Cir.2014). Elsewhere the
court correctly articulated and applied
Strickland. McLaughlin, 378 S.W.3d at
343 (“Trial counsel’s selection of which ex-
pert witnesses to call at trial is generally a
question of trial strategy and is virtually
unchallengeable.”).

Since Petitioner has not fulfilled the
Strickland “performance” prong, this
court need not re-weigh the mitigating evi-
dence presented at the postconviction
stage along with the mitigating and aggra-
vating evidence presented at trial to make
a determination about prejudice.

C. Claims 1C and 2: School, medical, and
Jail records

[34] Petitioner’s Claim 1C and both
parts of his Claim 2 are related, and I will
consider them in tandem. In Claim 1C,
Petitioner argues that trial counsel was
ineffective for failing to introduce as sub-
stantive evidence his school, medical, and
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jail records, which reflect his troubled fam-
ily history, learning issues, and psychologi-
cal problems. In Claim 2, Petitioner argues
the trial court violated his Eighth Amend-
ment rights by instructing the jury not to
consider those records as substantive evi-
dence (Claim 2A) and that his defense
counsel was ineffective in failing to object
to these instructions (Claim 2B).

[35] In his motion for a new trial and
on direct appeal, Petitioner did not make
any claim related to his school, medical,
and jail records. (See Resp.’s Exs. E, F.)
In Missouri, claims of trial court error,
including constitutional claims of trial
court error, must be raised on direct ap-
peal. See, e.g., Middleton v. State, 103
S.W.3d 726, 740 (Mo. banc 2003); Griffin v.
State, 7194 S.W.2d 659, 661 (Mo. banc 1990).
Because Petitioner failed to present this
claim to the Missouri state courts in accor-
dance with the state’s procedural rules, his
Claim 2A is procedurally defaulted and
cannot be considered by this court. See
Skillicorn v. Luebbers, 475 F.3d 965, 976
(8th Cir.2007); see also L.F. 185-86 (29.15
motion court recognized this claim had
been defaulted at direct appeal stage).

Even assuming that it has properly been
presented to the state courts, the corollary
claim—that his counsel ought to have ob-
jected to the trial court’s limiting instruc-
tions—must also be denied. See 28 U.S.C.
§ 2254(b)(2) (federal court may deny habe-
as petition on the merits notwithstanding
petitioner’s failure to exhaust state reme-
dies). As the Missouri Supreme Court rec-
ognized (and Petitioner does not dispute),
“trial counsel did not seek to introduce the
records, nor did they lay the adequate
foundation to admit such records.”

17. Strictly speaking, the Missouri Supreme
Court held that the 29.15 motion court had
not erred in denying Petitioner’'s motion to
hold an evidentiary hearing on this claim. In
order to be entitled to a postconviction evi-
dentiary hearing on trial counsel’s compe-
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McLaughlin, 378 S.W.3d at 354. Without
attempting to proffer the records for their
truth or to prove their foundation, any
objection to the trial court’s limiting in-
structions would not have been meritori-
ous. Storey v. State, 175 SW.3d 116, 132
(Mo. banc 2005) (failure to make a non-
meritorious objection not prejudicial under
Strickland); Martin v. Durham, 933
S.w.2d 921, 923-24 (Mo.Ct.App.1996) (lim-
iting instruction appropriate when expert
describes hearsay he or she relied on in
reaching an opinion).

But Petitioner also argues that his trial
counsel was ineffective for failing to pres-
ent the records in the first place (Claim
1C). He made that claim to Missouri Su-
preme Court at the postconviction stage,
and that court rejected it on its merits.
The court held that because the records
were cumulative to other evidence present-
ed in mitigation during the penalty phase
of the trial and that they pertained to
uncontested issues, Petitioner had failed to
demonstrate Strickland prejudice.!”

More specifically, as to the school rec-
ords, the court found they showed “child-
hood abuse and neglect,” and would only
have duplicated testimony from Petition-
er’s biological aunt, cousin, and sister
about how Petitioner had been treated and
the problems he had in school. Although
the “Court recognize[d] the different
weight that may be afforded to documenta-
ry evidence over testimony from family
members,” it held that because “[t]he pros-
ecution did not suggest that [the family
members’] testimony was fabricated, and
there [was] no basis to think that this
additional evidence would have made a
difference at trial,” Petitioner had not

tence, a movant must ‘“‘allege facts, unrefuted
by the record” to support the two Strickland
prongs. McLaughlin, 378 S.W.3d at 352
(quoting Webb v. State, 334 S.W.3d 126, 128
(Mo. banc 2011)).
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demonstrated Strickland
McLaughlin, 378 S.W.3d at 353.

As to the jail and medical records, the
Missouri Supreme Court held that:
Just as the hospital and jail records
indicate that Mr. McLaughlin was de-
pressed, was medicated for that depres-
sion, and that he had borderline person-
ality order [sic], these conditions were
fully described by the testimony of Drs.
Cunningham and Kulkamthorn, as well
as Mr. McLaughlin’s friend, Kimberly
Barrett.
Id. Tt also noted that Virginia Aurich, a
friend of the victim, had testified that she
saw Petitioner take medication for bipolar
disorder. The court stated that the prose-
cution had not “claim[ed] that these condi-
tions were a recent fabrication or would
not be supported by the medical or jail
records.” Id. Because the records were
cumulative and “because whether [he] had
such a mental health history was not a
central contested issue,” the Missouri Su-
preme Court held, Petitioner “was not
prejudiced by his trial counsel’s failure to
introduce the records into evidence.”

prejudice.

Petitioner contends that the determina-
tions that the evidence was cumulative and
the issues undisputed were both unreason-
able determinations of fact. See 28 U.S.C.
§ 2254(d)(2) (no habeas relief unless state
court decision was based on an unreason-
able determination of the facts in light of
the evidence presented to the state court).
He argues that the school records could
not possibly be cumulative because no

18. See Trial Tr. 1988:17-24 (emphasizing that
Dr. Accardo had seen Petitioner 24 years ago
and there was ‘‘no question” Petitioner was
“going to progress”’ and ‘“did progress”);
1989:6-11 (stating “all [Dr. Kulkamthorn] is
doing is writing prescriptions. How many
times did he even see him?”’); 1989:11-1991:7
(among other things, calling Dr. Cunningham
“Dr. Excuse,” pointing out that he “didn’t
evaluate” Petitioner and “never gave him any
type of testing at all to see where he is,” that

teachers or school counselors testified at
trial. He also states, essentially, that the
jail and hospital records describing his
mental-health problems were not cumula-
tive because they were either significantly
newer (than testimony from Dr. Accardo),
importantly corroborative (to testimony
from Dr. Cunningham), or from a more
trustworthy source (than testimony from
the lay witnesses, Dr. Cunningham, or Dr.
Kulkamthorn).

It is true that the prosecution attacked
the credibility of these other sources in
closing argument.!’® But even “[a]ssuming
evidence should be seen as non-cumulative
where it is significantly more credible than
existing evidence,” the difference between
viewing [Petitioner’s] medical records and
learning their contents from witnesses . ..
is not so great as to make the Missouri
Supreme Court’s finding unreasonable.”
Forrest v. Steele, 764 F.3d 848, 856-57 (8th
Cir.2014). Where the record supports the
high court’s finding that the evidence
would have been cumulative, so that it was
not “objectively unreasonable,” this habeas
court must accept that finding. Here, Peti-
tioner does not dispute that the records
would have corroborated and bolstered the
testimony already given, and therefore,
that they largely “encompassed” the evi-
dence already presented. Bucklew v. Lueb-
bers, 436 F.3d 1010, 1020 (8th Cir.2006);
see also Hall v. Luebbers, 296 F.3d 685,
693 (8th Cir.2002) (counsel not ineffective
for failing to present cumulative evidence
during guilt phase of capital trial). Peti-

the jury “better believe there’s bias. He'’s
made millions of dollars doing this.”);
1993:13-23 (stating “There is no evidence that
[Petitioner] was bipolar” because ‘Do you
recall the only time you saw [mention of bipo-
lar] is when Dr. Cunningham came in, and
what did the judge instruct you on? That’s not
evidence.”); 1994:5-7 (stating that victim'’s
friend Ms. Aurich was ‘“not a doctor we're
relying on. Obviously not. I mean, people just

talk.”).
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tioner has not pointed out any specific
diagnosis, course of treatment, medical
event, psychological condition or symptom,
or family history that the jury did not hear
from some other source (except what has
already been discussed about Dr. Caruso),
or any other clear and convincing evidence
that the records were non-cumulative. Be-
cause he has not shown Strickland preju-
dice, I need not examine trial counsel’s
performance.

D. Claim 3: Ring violation

In Claim 3, McLaughlin argues that his
death sentence by the judge was based on
findings of fact not made by the jury, in
violation of his Sixth Amendment right to
a jury trial as described in Ring v. Ari-
zona, 536 U.S. 584, 122 S.Ct. 2428, 153
L.Ed.2d 556 (2002). In a supplemental tra-
verse, he argues that the Supreme Court’s
recent decision in Hurst v. Florida, —
U.S. —, 136 S.Ct. 616, 193 L.Ed.2d 504
(2016), further supports this interpretation
of Ring’s application to his case.

The jury found one statutory aggrava-
ting factor, depravity of mind. At sentenc-
ing the judge made comments about why
he agreed with the jury’s finding on this
factor. The Missouri Supreme Court re-
jected Petitioner’s argument that these
comments were additional findings prohib-
ited by the Sixth Amendment. The Mis-
souri Court’s determination on this part of

19. Petitioner did not raise this claim properly
in state court, so the Missouri Supreme Court
reviewed it for plain error only. See McLaugh-
lin, 265 S.W.3d at 265-66. Plain-error review
does not resurrect an otherwise-defaulted
claim, see Clark v. Bertsch, 780 F.3d 873, 876—
77 (8th Cir.2015), so Petitioner’s failure to
preserve this claim would normally preclude
review by this habeas court. However, the
Supreme Court has unequivocally confirmed
procedural default is an affirmative defense
that must be raised by the State. See, e.g.,
Trest v. Cain, 522 U.S. 87, 89, 118 S.Ct. 478,
139 L.Ed.2d 444 (1997).
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the argument is not contrary to Ring and
Huprst does not change this analysis in any
way.

[36,37] But from the verdict form in
this case no court could determine whether
the jury made the other factual findings
required by Missouri law to render
McLaughlin eligible for the death penalty,
so those findings were made by the judge
in violation of McLaughlin’s Sixth Amend-
ment right. The state court’s rejection of
this argument was contrary to and an un-
reasonable application of Ring and Mills v.
Maryland, 486 U.S. 367, 108 S.Ct. 1860,
100 L.Ed.2d 384 (1988).*

i. Missouri’s capital sentencing statute

When a defendant is convicted of capital
murder in Missouri, sentencing is gov-
erned by Mo. Rev. Stat. § 565.030. In rele-
vant part, the statute provides:

.... The trier shall assess and declare
the punishment at life imprisonment
without eligibility for probation, parole,
or release except by act of the governor:

(1) If the trier finds by a preponderance
of the evidence that the defendant is
intellectually disabled; or

(2) If the trier does not find beyond a
reasonable doubt at least one of the
statutory aggravating circumstances set
out in subsection 2 of section 565.032; or

Respondent has not raised procedural de-
fault with respect to this claim, and so this
court is permitted, but not required, to con-
sider it. See id.; King v. Kemna, 266 F.3d 816,
822 (8th Cir.2001); see also Dansby v. Hobbs,
766 F.3d 809, 824 (8th Cir.2014) (if a court
chooses to address procedural default sua
sponte, it must give the parties fair notice and
an opportunity to be heard). Because the Mis-
souri courts fully considered this claim on the
merits and both sides have fully briefed it, this
court will consider the claim on the merits
under the deferential standard of review set
out in the AEDPA. See Perruquet v. Briley, 390
F.3d 505 (7th Cir.2004).
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(3) If the trier concludes that there is
evidence in mitigation of punishment,
including but not limited to evidence
supporting the statutory mitigating
circumstances listed in subsection 3 of
section 565.032, which is sufficient to
outweigh the evidence in aggravation
of punishment found by the trier; or
(4) If the trier decides under all of the
circumstances not to assess and declare
the punishment at death. If the trier is a
jury it shall be so instructed.

If the trier assesses and declares the
punishment at death it shall, in its find-
ings or verdict, set out in writing the
aggravating circumstance or circum-
stances listed in subsection 2 of section
565.032 which it found beyond a reason-
able doubt. If the trier is a jury it shall
be instructed before the case is submit-
ted that if it is unable to decide or agree
upon the punishment the court shall as-
sess and declare the punishment at life
imprisonment without eligibility for pro-
bation, parole, or release except by act
of the governor or death. The court shall
follow the same procedure as set out in
this section whenever it is required to
determine punishment for murder in the
first degree.

(emphasis added).

ii. Factual sentencing determinations

The jury here had been provided alter-
nate forms of verdict; it returned the ver-
dict form indicating that it was unable to
decide or agree on the punishment (the
third step of the penalty decision in this
case). On the form the jury filled in the
answers regarding steps one and two of
the sentencing findings. (L.F. 865-866). It
found the aggravating factor that the mur-
der involved depravity of mind: “That the
defendant committed repeated and exces-
sive acts of physical abuse upon [the vie-
tim] and the killing was therefore unrea-
sonably brutal.” It did not find the other
aggravators on which it had been instruct-

ed, namely, that the murder was commit-
ted as part of forcible rape, or to prevent
the victim from being a witness in either
the burglary prosecution or the order of
protection case that McLaughlin was fac-
ing at the time of the murder. (Instruction
No. 23, L.F. 856-857).

With regard to mitigating factors, the
jury was asked:
Does the jury unanimously find that
there are facts and circumstances in mit-
igation of punishment sufficient to out-
weigh facts and circumstances in aggra-
vation of punishment?
It answered “No” to this question. (L.F.
866). At the later sentencing hearing, the
judge stated:

The Court finds that the findings
made by the jury in the second stage of
the sentencing stage, in particular, the
depravity of mind, by repeated and ex-
cessive acts of physical abuse encom-
passing beating, stabbing, and sexual in-
tercourse on a continuous basis, and are
part of the murder, the Court finds that
particular aggravating circumstances
and concurs with that and with the
jury’s findings in that regard.

The court concurs with that finding.
And the Court further concurs with the
jury that there’s not—mno substantive
mitigating circumstances to outweigh
the aggravating circumstances.

By mitigating circumstances, I know
it’s been brought up that it’s not clear
from the instructions as to what was
considered, but certainly what was con-
sidered would be evidence that we've
heard throughout the trial and certainly
have considered the mental condition of
Mr. McLaughlin as well as his relation-
ship and the volatility of the relationship
between him and Beverly Guenther as
well as anything that would be mitigat-
ing that was brought up on his behalf,
and I agree with the findings of the jury
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that they don’t outweigh the aggravating
circumstances that was found.

(Tr. Trans. 2004:5 to 2005:1).

iii. Jury instructions

The jury instructions given in this case
were patterned from the third edition of
the Missouri Approved Instructions for
criminal cases (MAI-CR 3d). Missouri
courts in criminal cases are required to use
the MAI-CR if they include an instruction
relevant to the case. See Mo. Sup. Ct. R.
28.02(c), 28.02 (f). The MAI-CR are pro-
mulgated by the Missouri Supreme Court.
Blackmon v. White, 825 F.2d 1263, 1266
(8th Cir.1987).

Instruction No. 24 provides that “if you
have unanimously found beyond a reason-
able doubt that one or more” statutory
aggravators existed, “you must then deter-
mine whether there are facts or circum-
stances in mitigation of punishment which
are sufficient to outweigh facts and circum-
stances in aggravation of punishment.” It
continues in relevant part, “It is not neces-
sary that all jurors agree upon particular
facts and circumstances in mitigation of
punishment. If each juror determines that
there are facts or circumstances in mitiga-
tion of punishment sufficient to outweigh
the evidence in aggravation of punishment,
then you must return a verdict fixing de-
fendant’s punishment at imprisonment for
life by the Department of corrections with-
out eligibility for probation or parole.”
(L.F. 858) (emphasis added). See MAI-CR
314.44.

Instruction No. 26 provides in relevant
part, “If you unanimously decide that the
facts or circumstances in mitigation of
punishment outweigh the facts and circum-
stances in aggravation of punishment, then
the defendant must be punished” by im-
prisonment for life without parole. (L.F.
860) (emphasis added). See MAI-CR
314.48.
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Instruction No. 26 explained what the
jury was to do if it deadlocked at Section
565.030 step 3, the weighing of aggravating
and mitigating circumstances:

If you do unanimously find the exis-
tence of at least one statutory aggrava-
ting circumstance beyond a reasonable
doubt, ... and you are unable to unani-
mously find that the facts or circum-
stances in mitigation of punishment out-
weigh the facts and circumstances in
aggravation of punishment, but are un-
able to agree upon the punishment, your
foreperson will complete the verdict
form and sign the verdict form stating
that you are unable to decide or agree
upon the punishment. In such case, you
must answer the questions on the ver-
dict form.... If you return a verdict
indicating that you are unable to decide
or agree upon the punishment, the
Court will fix the defendant’s punish-
ment at death or at imprisonment for
life. ... You will bear in mind, however,
that under the law, it is the primary
duty and responsibility of the jury to fix
the punishment.

(L.F. 861-62.)

iv. Ring v. Arizona

In Ring the United States Supreme
Court applied its earlier decision in Ap-
prendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 120
S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000) to hold
Arizona’s death penalty statute unconstitu-
tional because the judge, not the jury,
determined the presence or absence of ag-
gravating factors required by the Arizona
statute for imposition of the death penalty.
Apprendi recognized that under the Sixth
Amendment a defendant could not be “ex-
posed to a penalty exceeding the maximum
he would have received if punished accord-
ing to the facts reflected in the jury ver-
dict alone.” Ring, 536 U.S. at 588-89, 122
S.Ct. 2428 (quoting Apprendi, 530 U.S. at
483, 120 S.Ct. 2348). Arizona had enacted a
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capital punishment statutory scheme
that—like Missouri’'s—required a sentenc-
er to consider aggravating and mitigating
circumstances before selecting the death
penalty. By statute, Arizona made the
presence of at least one statutory aggrava-
ting factor a prerequisite for imposition of
the death penalty. It also required the
sentencer to determine that there were no
mitigating circumstances that called for
leniency. Because the jury found Ring
guilty only of felony murder, the judge was
required to conduct a separate evidentiary
hearing to consider the aggravating and
mitigating factors and determine the sen-
tence.

In Ring the Arizona statute ran afoul of
the Sixth Amendment jury right because
the judge, and not a jury, made the factual
findings regarding aggravation that quali-
fied him for the death penalty. The Court
overruled the distinction between “ele-
ments” and “sentencing considerations”
that it had earlier found valid in Walton v.
Arizona, 497 U.S. 639, 110 S.Ct. 3047, 111
L.Ed.2d 511 (1990) and stated: “If a State
makes an increase in a defendant’s author-
ized punishment contingent on the finding
of a fact, that fact—mo matter how the
State labels it—must be found by a jury
beyond a reasonable doubt.” 536 U.S. at
602, 122 S.Ct. 2428. Nonetheless, the Court
noted that Ring’s challenge was “tightly
delineated” and that he made “no Sixth
Amendment claim with respect to mitigat-
ing circumstances.” Id. at 597 n. 4, 122
S.Ct. 2428. It cited Apprendi’s comment
that the Court had “often recognized” a
distinction between facts in aggravation
and facts in mitigation.

Recently, in Hurst v. Florida, — U.S.
—— 136 S.Ct. 616, 193 L.Ed.2d 504
(2016), the Supreme court held that Flori-
da’s capital sentencing scheme violated the
Sixth Amendment because under the Flor-
ida law the jury merely made advisory
findings and a recommendation for the

death penalty, and the judge was required
to hold a separate hearing and determine
whether sufficient aggravating circum-
stances existed to justify imposing the
death penalty.

v. State v. Whitfield

[38] The Supreme Court of Missouri
had occasion to apply Ring soon after it
was handed down. In State v. Whitfield,
107 S.W.3d 253 (Mo. banc 2003), the state
high court recognized that the Ring Court
had declined to decide whether the Sixth
Amendment required a jury to find miti-
gating factors. Addressing that question
itself, the Missouri Supreme Court consid-
ered whether, under the Missouri statuto-
ry scheme, the weighing of mitigating fac-
tors was a “subjective and discretionary
opinion” that could be determined by a
judge or a “factual finding” on which the
maximum available punishment would be
predicated, and thus reserved for a jury.
Id. at 259. The Court held that the first
three steps of the then-four-step sentenc-
ing process, including the weighing of miti-
gating and aggravating circumstances,
were not opinions but “factual findings
that are prerequisites to the trier of fact’s
determination that a defendant is death-
eligible.” 107 S.W.3d at 261. Thus, Mis-
souri law requires factual findings regard-
ing mitigation, and under Ring a jury must
make those factual findings.

In Whitfield, as in the instant case, the
jury had convicted the defendant of first-
degree murder but could not agree on
punishment. It had voted 11 to 1 in favor
of life imprisonment. Complying with the
statute as then written, the judge under-
took the four-step sentencing process and
sentenced the defendant to death. At that
time, it was not yet the practice in Mis-
souri death cases to use special interroga-
tories on the verdict form, so it was not
clear at which stage the jury had dead-
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locked. The Missouri Supreme Court could
not know whether the jury had decided the
factual issues: the presence of at least one
statutory aggravator and its greater or
equal weight than any mitigators.

The Whitfield court noted, however, that
a Ring violation would not invalidate a
death sentence if the State could prove
beyond a reasonable doubt that the error
had not contributed to the verdict imposed.
Keeping the harmless-error standard in
mind, it considered the constitutionality of
the judge’s factual findings at each step of
the then-four-step process. First, it held
that the judge could properly have deter-
mined the presence of statutory aggrava-
tors because they were prior convictions.
See Almendarez—Torres v. United States,
523 U.S. 224, 118 S.Ct. 1219, 140 L.Ed.2d
350 (1998). Second, it held that the second
step (since repealed)—requiring a finding
that aggravating evidence warrants the
death penalty—should have been commit-
ted to a jury. Allowing the judge to make
the finding required to complete this step
was not harmless error, despite jury in-
structions that partially cured this misstep
and a presumption that the jury had relied
on them. Third, and most importantly for
the instant petition, it held that it was not
harmless error to commit the weighing of
mitigating circumstances to the judge. It is
worth quoting the decision at length be-
cause it involved the same jury instruc-
tions and verdict directors at question
here:

In regard to step 3, the jury was
instructed that if it found that aggrava-
tors warranting the imposition of death
were present, “each of you must then
determine whether one or more mitigat-
ing circumstances exist which outweigh
the aggravating circumstance or circum-
stances so found to exist.” The jury was
informed that if all of the jurors agreed
that one or more mitigators were pres-
ent that were sufficient to outweigh the
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factors in aggravation, then it must re-
turn a verdict of life imprisonment.

Unlike for step 2, however, the jury
was not told in regard to step 3 that it
had to return a verdict of life imprison-
ment if it could not unanimously agree
whether the mitigating facts outweighed
the aggravating facts. Sec. 565.030.4; see
also MAI-CR3d 313.48; [State wv.]
Thompson, 85 S.W.3d [635] at 639 [ (Mo.
banc 2002) ]. Under the instruction, if
even one juror, but not all, determined
“there is evidence in mitigation of
punishment ... which is sufficient to
outweigh the evidence in aggravation
of punishment ...,” the jurors would
be unable to agree on punishment
and, under the instructions, the jury
would be deadlocked and would return
a verdict form so stating.

Here, the jury returned a verdict stat-
ing that it was unable to agree on pun-
ishment. This Court, and any court, can
only act on the record, and the record
does not show that the jury deadlocked
after rather than before it made the
requisite finding under step 3.

107 S.W.3d at 263-64 (emphasis added).

vi. Analysis of state court decision and
Ring

On direct appeal in the instant case, the
Missouri Supreme court noted that al-
though there was now a three-step vs.
four-step procedure since Whitfield (as the
jury was no longer to make a separate
finding that the aggravating circumstances
warranted the death), the portions of the
statute relevant here had not changed, and
in particular, if the jury deadlocked at any
step, the court was required to follow the
same procedure as the jury. McLaughlin,
265 S.W.3d at 263-264. It ultimately held
that because the jury had made all the
necessary factual findings, there was no
constitutional infirmity in the judge mak-
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ing the ultimate determination to sentence
Petitoner to death.

The Court rejected the argument that
the judge made factual findings about the
aggravating circumstance that were not
found by the jury. It held that the sentenc-
ing judge’s comments referring to acts
“encompassing beating, stabbing and sexu-
al intercourse on a continuous basis” were
not findings but just his explanation for
why he agreed with the jury. Because the
jury had found Petitioner guilty of forcible
rape, the judge’s statements were not ad-
ditional factual findings. This is neither an
unreasonable determination of the facts
nor an unreasonable application of Ring.

The Missouri Supreme Court’s conclu-
sion that the jury verdict showed it had
made all the other factual findings re-
quired under the statute, however, is an
unreasonable application of clearly estab-
lished federal law. In response to the sec-
ond question, all the jury verdict said was
that the jury had not unanimously deter-
mined that mitigating facts outweighed the
aggravating factor. This is merely a find-
ing of what the jury did not find—it does
not tell us whether the factual finding nec-
essary under the statute was made. It may
be that eleven jurors found mitigating
facts did outweigh aggravating factors:
one person voting the other way would
mean the a the finding was not unanimous,
which is what the verdict form asked.

In Mills v. Maryland, 486 U.S. 367, 108
S.Ct. 1860, 100 L.Ed.2d 384 (1988), the
Supreme Court held that Maryland’s capi-
tal sentencing statute failed to comport
with the Eighth and Fourteenth Amend-
ments because, in light of the verdict di-
rectors and instructions given, it was likely
jurors thought they were precluded from
taking any particular mitigator into ac-
count for weighing purposes unless they
unanimously agreed that mitigator existed.
486 U.S. at 370, 108 S.Ct. 1860. The Court
considered a hypothetical proposed by the

petitioner: under the governing statute,
eleven jurors could have found six mitigat-
ing circumstances, but if none was found
unanimously, there would be nothing to
weigh against any aggravating -circum-
stances. The death penalty would be im-
posed “even though eleven jurors think the
death penalty wholly inappropriate.” The
Supreme Court commented that “it would
certainly be the height of arbitrariness to
allow or require the imposition of the
death penalty under the circumstances so
postulated.” Id. at 374, 108 S.Ct. 1860.

The appellate court in M:lls had agreed
that the governing statute was unclear as
to “what was to transpire when unanimity
was lacking” as to any particular mitigator.
But it applied a “saving” construction to
fill the gap and instructed each juror to
individually weigh the mitigating circum-
stances he or she found. The Supreme
Court found this inappropriate because the
statute and instructions as written were
susceptible to two interpretations, only one
of which was constitutional:

With respect to findings of guilt on crim-

inal charges, the Court consistently has

followed the rule that the jury’s verdict
must be set aside if it could be sup-
ported on one ground but not on anoth-
er, and the reviewing court was uncer-
tain which of the two grounds was relied
upon by the jury in reaching the verdict.

In reviewing death sentences, the Court

has demanded even greater certainty

that the jury’s conclusions rested on
proper grounds. Unless we can rule out
the substantial possibility that the jury

may have rested its verdict on the “im-

proper” ground, we must remand for

resentencing.

While conceding that the Court of Ap-

peals’ construction of the jury instruc-

tions and verdict form is plausible, we
cannot conclude, with any degree of cer-
tainty, that the jury did not adopt peti-
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tioner’s interpretation of the jury in-
structions and verdict form.

Id. at 377, 108 S.Ct. 1860.

In the instant case the Supreme Court
of Missouri relied on an earlier case, State
v. Zink, 181 S'W.3d 66, 74 (Mo. banc 2005),
which had rejected an argument that the
same instruction and verdict form given
here had “improperly raised [defendant’s]
burden to obtain a unanimous jury deci-
sion that evidence in mitigation of punish-
ment was sufficient to outweigh the evi-
dence in aggravation.” But in Zink the
jury had sentenced the defendant to death,
so there was no Ring issue or question
about what the trier had actually found.
The court here acknowledged that the
statute does not reference unanimity on its
face, McLaughlin, 265 S.W.3d at 267, nev-
ertheless held that unanimity was re-
quired, and assumed that the jury had
been unanimous in favor of death eligibili-
ty.

The Missouri Supreme Court looked to
the plain language of the statute, as re-
quired by state law. See, e.g., State v.
Daniel, 103 SW.3d 822, 826 (Mo.Ct.App.
2003). After noting that each step of the
capital sentencing statute referenced “the
trier,” it held that “if the legislature in-
tended a majority vote to fulfill the re-
quirement that ’the trier concludes’ that
mitigating evidence outweighs aggravating
evidence,” then it must also have intended
a majority vote to be sufficient under the
other three subdivisions of that section.”
McLaughlin, 265 S.W.3d at 267. The Court
went on to note that anything less than a
unanimous decision on any of the sentenc-
ing factors would mean a deadlocked jury.
Id. at 268. It then interpreted the jury’s
answer to the weighing question to mean
that the jury unanimously found the miti-
gators did not outweigh the aggravators,
when in fact we cannot know whether that
is what the jury actually found. It is equal-
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ly likely that the jury was deadlocked at
this stage of the sentencing process.

Given the uncertainty, the jury’s answer
to this question shows that the death pen-
alty in this case does not comply with the
constitutional mandate described by Ring
and applied in Whitfield to Missouri’s stat-
utory sentencing prerequisites. Because
the question asked about unanimity for a
negative proposition, it does not clear up
whether it was zero or eleven jurors (or
something in between) who found that the
mitigating circumstances outweighed the
aggravators. All we know from the special
interrogatory is what they did not find.
Under Ring, where death-eligibility hinges
on a finding of fact under state law, that
fact must be decided by the jury. Under
Missouri law, the weighing of mitigating
and aggravating circumstances is a finding
of fact. Therefore, that weighing should
have been committed to the jury. Because
the judge could not have known what the
jury decided, he could not have relied upon
it in imposing the death penalty, and so he
must have made the factual finding him-
self. This violates the Sixth Amendment.

Reading a unanimity requirement into
§ 565.030 (and unreasonably basing that
reading on Ring) also was contrary to
Mills. Mills made clear that an unconstitu-
tional state sentencing procedure cannot
be “saved” through curative instructions to
the jury or a post hoc reconciliation be-
tween instruction and statute, especially
where it may result in the imposition of
the death penalty contrary to the wishes of
a majority of jurors. Mills specifically
found incompatible with the Constitution a
situation where eleven jurors found miti-
gating circumstances sufficient to outweigh
the aggravating circumstances, yet the
death penalty was imposed anyway. Mis-
souri’s capital sentencing statutes are not
appreciably different from Maryland’s, and
it was objectively unreasonable for the
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Missouri Supreme Court to find that case
inapplicable. McLaughlin, 265 S.W.3d at
266. Precisely like in Mills, here we simply
do not know how the jury weighed the
mitigating and aggravating circumstances
attendant to the murder committed by Pe-
titioner.

[39]1 Of course, this court is bound by
the state courts’ interpretation of state
law and that interpretation may not be
questioned on habeas review. See, e.g.,
Bradshaw v. Richey, 546 U.S. 74, 76, 126
S.Ct. 602, 163 L.Ed.2d 407 (2005). But in
this case, it is this court’s acceptance of
that state-law interpretation that leads to
the constitutional problem. Missouri Su-
preme Court’s “saving” interpretation of
§ Section 565.030 as containing an implicit
unanimity requirement was based on an
unreasonable application of Ring. That cu-
rative interpretation is what led to a deci-
sion contrary to Ring and M:lls: approval
of the trial court’s imposition of a sentence
without knowledge that the predicate find-
ings of fact had been found by the jury.
This is not constitutionally sufficient. As
there was no finding of fact for the judge
to rely on at sentencing, his imposition of
the death penalty violated the McLaugh-
lin’s Sixth Amendment right to trial by

jury.

E. Claim 4: Failure to present evidence
of brother’s rape of victim

[40] In his fourth ground for relief,
Petitioner argues that trial counsel was
ineffective for failing to present two types
of evidence about his brother Billy
McLaughlin’s alleged rape of the victim:
(1) testimony from three lay witnesses to
whom his brother allegedly admitted rap-
ing Ms. Guenther the night of the mur-

20. Petitioner presents a separate ground for
relief that the trial court improperly excluded
hearsay testimony from one of these wit-
nesses, Petitioner’s cousin Shawn Delgado, at
the penalty phase of trial. According to Peti-

der? and (2) testimony from a DNA ex-
pert that would have corroborated those
incriminating statements and contradicted
the testimony of the DNA expert offered
by the prosecution. Petitioner argues that
this evidence would have provided a viable
defense to the rape charge and would have
rebutted the aggravating circumstance
that Petitioner committed the murder dur-
ing the course of a rape.

Both parts of this ground for relief were
presented to the state courts, which denied
them on the merits. Therefore, the defer-
ential standard codified in Section 2254(d)
applies to Claim 4.

i. State courts reasonably applied Strick-
land in concluding trial counsel was
not ineffective for failing to introduce
hearsay about Billy McLaughlin’s in-
criminating statements

The Supreme Court of Missouri consid-
ered the first part of this claim at the
postconviction stage and found it without
merit. The Court concluded that the testi-
mony would have been hearsay, so trial
counsel was not obligated to introduce it.
See Henderson v. Norris, 118 F.3d 1283,
1288 (8th Cir.1997) (counsel is not ineffec-
tive for failing to offer inadmissible evi-
dence).

In making this determination, the Court
discussed the hearsay exception for state-
ments against penal interest, which Peti-
tioner argues should have applied here to
render admissible the testimony from the
three lay witnesses. As the Court pointed
out, Missouri’s adoption of this exception
has been limited to the minimal require-
ments of Fourteenth Amendment due pro-
cess, as applied in Chambers v. Mississip-

tioner, Ms. Delgado would have testified that
Billy McLaughlin told her he had helped Peti-
tioner dispose of Ms. Guenther’s body. (Trial
Tr. 1622:16-1624:14.) This ground for relief is
discussed in Claim 12.
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pi, 410 U.S. 284, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d
297 (1973) (guilt phase) and Green v. Geor-
gia, 442 U.S. 95, 99 S.Ct. 2150, 60 L.Ed.2d
738 (1979) (per curiam) (penalty phase).
See State v. Blankenship, 830 SW.2d 1, 6
(Mo. banc 1992) (out-of-court declarations
against penal interest remain inadmissible
“except to the extent required by Cham-
bers”).

[41,42] For the Constitution to require
a hearsay statement to be admitted not-
withstanding a state evidentiary rule to
the contrary, it must meet certain criteria:
among other things, it must have been
made under circumstances marked with
“Indicia of reliability” and, if believed, it
must exonerate the defendant. Chambers,
410 U.S. at 298, 93 S.Ct. 1038. One factor
tending to show reliability is whether a
statement was “made spontaneously to a
close acquaintance shortly after the mur-
der had occurred.” Id. The Missouri Su-
preme Court affirmed the motion court’s
finding that—among other things—Billy
McLaughlin’s statements lacked the requi-
site indicia of reliability because they were
made approximately six months after the
murder. It also held that, even assuming
the hearsay statements were Dbelieved,
they would fail to exonerate Petitioner be-
cause they implicated Billy McLaughlin in
the crime but did not contradict the evi-
dence against Petitioner.

In Chambers, the victim had been shot
in a crowded bar. The defendant had
sought to introduce out-of-court state-

21. Testimony from Ms. Delgado and her
mother, Tammy Sinclair, did not support Pe-
titioner’s position that he did not rape Ms.
Guenther. (Trial Tr. 1623:5-6; 29.15 Hearing
Tr. 30:4-6.) Even if there was no question
about admissibility, it was reasonable trial
strategy not to call those witnesses. Winfield
v. State, 93 S.W.3d 732, 739 (Mo. banc 2002)
(not ineffective assistance to fail to call a
witness if “counsel believes a witness’ testi-
mony would not unequivocally support his
client’s position”). Further, though Petition-
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ments from a person who had confessed
repeatedly to friends that he had shot the
vietim with his own gun. That person’s
confessions did not implicate the defendant
whatsoever. See id. at 292-93.

This situation is different. None of the
lay witness testimony would have exoner-
ated Petitioner of the rape. If believed, the
testimony tends (at best) to show Petition-
er acted in concert with Billy McLaughlin,
not that Billy McLaughlin acted alone
without Petitioner. (See 29.15 Hearing Tr.
18:4-10, 29:3-30:23, 95:22-96:3.) As such,
Petitioner has not established that out-of-
court statements Billy McLaughlin made
were admissible, much less that his attor-
neys were ineffective for failing to offer
them into evidence.?! The state courts’ de-
cision to deny relief on this claim reflects a
reasonable application of federal law as
clearly established in Strickland, Cham-
bers, and Green.

ii. State courts reasonably applied
Strickland in concluding trial coun-
sel was not ineffective for failing to
call DNA expert

The Supreme Court of Missouri also
considered this part of Petitioner’s claim
and found it without merit. At trial, the
prosecution had called a DNA expert, Alan
Derickson, who had explained the analysis
he had conducted of the DNA sample re-
covered from vaginal swabs of Ms. Guen-
ther. See 378 S.W.3d at 348. Mr. Derickson
concluded that Petitioner and Ms. Guen-

er’s trial counsel had not contacted the third
potential witness, Mr. Connor, that witness
merely was present at the same conversation
Billy McLaughlin allegedly had with Ms. Del-
gado. His recollection did not entirely match
Ms. Delgado’s recollection. (Compare 29.15
Hearing Tr. 92:20-22 and Trial Tr. 1623:5-6.)
It is reasonable trial strategy not to call wit-
nesses who will contradict one another. See
Dunn v. Wallace, 4:12CV766 JCH, 2015 WL
331573, at *4 (E.D.Mo. Jan. 26, 2015).
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ther could not be excluded as contributors
to the DNA mixture and that, in the Cau-
casian population, only 1 in every 2.2 mil-
lion individuals could be a contributor to
that mixture. He testified that both Peti-
tioner and Ms. Guenther were such indi-
viduals.? Trial counsel testified at the Rule
29.15 hearing that he had hired an inde-
pendent consultant to test the recovered
DNA, but the consultant’s tests also did
not exclude Petitioner as a potential con-
tributor. (L.F. 179; 29.15 Hearing Tr.
579:19-581:23.) Based on the consultant’s
findings, trial counsel decided not to chal-
lenge the state’s analysis.

At the postconviction hearing, the de-
fense presented testimony from another
DNA expert, Dr. Dean Stetler, who had
reviewed Mr. Derickson’s analysis and also
tested DNA from Billy McLaughlin and
the brothers’ biological parents. Billy
MecLaughlin’s DNA profile had become
available after Petitioner’s trial (and after
the Rule 29.15 motion had been filed) be-
cause Billy McLaughlin had been arrested
for an unrelated sexual assault. Dr. Stetler
testified that, among other things, even
once he had extracted only the male DNA
from the genetic sample recovered from
the victim’s body, there was more than one
allele present at most of the loci tested. He
also concluded that Petitioner, Billy
MecLaughlin, and Ms. Guenther shared an
unusually high number of alleles and all
could have contributed to the genetic mix-
ture recovered.?

22. Mr. Derickson discovered three alleles at
one of the fourteen loci he examined. He
testified at trial that he excluded the thir-
teenth locus when conducting a statistical
analysis of the likelihood that Petitioner and
Ms. Guenther were contributors. He also tes-
tified that he had not found any evidence of
any individual other than Petitioner or Ms.
Guenther. (Trial Tr. 1358:1-18.) Mr. Derick-
son backed off that statement at the postcon-
viction hearing. (29.15 Hearing Tr. 667:23-
669:4.)

The state courts rejected Petitioner’s in-
effective-assistance claim for several rea-
sons. They found Petitioner had waived
the claim, at least partially, because he had
not made any argument about Billy
MecLaughlin’s DNA profile in his amended
Rule 29.15 motion. The motion court also
found Dr. Stetler’s analysis not scientifical-
ly credible. Finally, the state courts found
that even crediting Dr. Stetler’s testimony,
it had not excluded Petitioner as a contrib-
utor to the DNA mixture recovered from
the victim’s body. As such, it was not
beneficial to his position, and counsel had
not been ineffective for failing to elicit it.

Putting aside Petitioner’s waiver of this
claim, the Missouri Supreme Court’s deci-
sion was not contrary to or an unreason-
able application of Strickland, and it did
not rest on an unreasonable finding of fact.
It was not objectively unreasonable for
counsel to fail to ask the independent DNA
consultant to compare Billy McLaughlin’s
DNA to the sample recovered from the
victim because Billy MecLaughlin’s DNA
was not available at that time.?* It was not
objectively unreasonable for counsel to fail
to ask the consultant to estimate the prob-
ability that Billy McLaughlin’s DNA was
consistent with the sample because it
would not have exculpated Petitioner. See
Kramer v. Kemna, 21 F.3d 305, 309 (8th
Cir.1994) (counsel not ineffective for failing
to introduce non-exculpatory evidence). In-
deed, even Dr. Stetler’s testimony did not
exculpate Petitioner because it did not

23. Mr. Derickson testified at the postconvic-
tion hearing that the DNA sample excluded
Billy McLaughlin as a contributor because he
possessed certain alleles not present in the
mixture.

24. Billy McLaughlin asserted his Fifth
Amendment privilege against self-incrimina-
tion at trial (Trial Tr. 1374:14—1376:8).
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eliminate the probability that Petitioner’s
DNA was part of the recovered genetic
material found inside Ms. Guenther’s body.
Trial counsel acted reasonably in relying
on the DNA testing conducted by the inde-
pendent consultant and not following up
with that consultant. See Marcrum, 509
F.3d at 511; Worthington v. Roper, 631
F.3d at 502. This claim does not merit
relief.

F. Claim 5: Trial court did not improper-
ly admit as aggravating evidence out-
of-court statements made by the vic-
tim
[43] Petitioner claims that his Sixth,

Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendment

rights were violated by the court’s admis-

sion of evidence of the victim’s statements
to law enforcement about Petitioner’s
threatening and assaultive actions toward
her. He alleges that the statements should
have been excluded under Crawford wv.

Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S.Ct. 1354,

158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004). The Missouri Su-

preme Court rejected this claim on the

merits, concluding essentially that Craw-
ford had been limited by Giles v. Califor-

nia, 554 U.S. 353, 128 S.Ct. 2678, 171

L.Ed.2d 488 (2008), and the trial court’s

decision to admit the evidence was in line

with Giles.

[44] In Crawford, the Court held that
prior “testimonial” statements from wit-
nesses who have since become unavail-
able must have been subject to cross-ex-
amination, or their admission violates the
Confrontation Clause. What makes a
statement testimonial has not been “com-
prehensively defined” by the Supreme
Court. United States v. Wright, 536 F.3d
819, 823 (8th Cir.2008). However, even a
testimonial statement is admissible if it
falls under the “forfeiture by wrongdo-
ing” exception. Under that exception, a
testimonial statement can be admitted
notwithstanding the Confrontation Clause
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if the defendant engaged in conduct de-
signed to prevent the speaker from testi-
fying. Giles, 5564 U.S. at 359, 128 S.Ct.
2678.

In Giles, a criminal defendant had been
convicted of murdering his former girl-
friend to prevent her from cheating on
him. He argued that the court should have
excluded evidence of statements the victim
had made to police about his threats of
violence. Giles resulted in a fragmented
opinion. First, a six-justice majority held
that the prosecution had not proved the
defendant had killed his former girlfriend
for the purpose of preventing her from
testifying, so the admission of the state-
ments might have violated his constitution-
al right to confront hostile witnesses. The
Court remanded and allowed that, if the
state court determined the defendant had
murdered his former girlfriend for some
other reason than preventing her testimo-
ny, it might have been error for the trial
court to admit the statements.

However, the Court went on to describe
the kind of evidence the state court should
consider in making that determination.
Holding that the domestic-violence context
of the crime was “relevant” in determining
whether otherwise inadmissible evidence
could be admitted under the wrongdoing-
by-forfeiture exception, Justice Scalia (still
writing for six justices) held that:

Acts of domestic violence often are in-

tended to dissuade a victim from resort-

ing to outside help, and include conduct
designed to prevent testimony to police
officers or cooperation in criminal prose-
cutions. Where such an abusive relation-
ship culminates in murder, the evidence
may support a finding that the crime
expressed the intent to isolate the victim
and to stop her from reporting abuse to

the authorities or cooperating with a

criminal prosecution—rendering her pri-

or statements admissible under the for-
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feiture doctrine. Earlier abuse, or
threats of abuse, intended to dissuade
the victim from resorting to outside help
would be highly relevant to this inquiry,
as would evidence of ongoing criminal
proceedings at which the victim would
have been expected to testify.
Id. at 377, 128 S.Ct. 2678; see also id. at
379, 128 S.Ct. 2678 (Souter, J., writing for
himself and Ginsberg, J., concurring); see
also id. at 405, 128 S.Ct. 2678 (Breyer, J.,
dissenting, writing for himself, Stevens,
and Kennedy, JJ.). Taking the Giles opin-
ions in tandem, it is clear that at least
seven justices agreed that a state court
should—at the very least—consider evi-
dence of an intimate abusive relationship
between murderer and murder victim in
considering whether out-of-court state-
ments by that victim should be admitted
under the forfeiture-by-wrongdoing excep-
tion.

Petitioner argues that, under Supreme
Court precedent, the victim’s statements
should necessarily have been excluded be-
cause they were testimonial, but that is a
misreading of Crawford and Giles. Al-
though Petitioner is correct that the Giles
majority explicitly “declined to adopt a
blanket exception to Crawford for domes-
tic violence cases resulting in murder,” it
reaffirmed that the wrongdoing-by-forfei-
ture exception can apply even to testimoni-
al statements. The key question in deter-
mining admissibility of hearsay evidence of
Ms. Guenther’s statements, therefore, was
not whether they were testimonial, but
whether Petitioner had killed her to pre-
vent her from testifying against him.

Faced with this question, the trial court
found that the statements were admissible
because Petitioner had killed Ms. Guen-
ther to prevent her from testifying against
him in ongoing burglary and abuse cases.

25. Moreover, the trial court standard for de-
termining admissibility was ‘“‘clear and con-
vincing,” whereas the jury was required to

McLaughlin, 265 S.W.3d at 272. In light of
Giles, the court was entitled to consider,
among other things, “ongoing criminal pro-
ceedings at which the victim would have
been expected to testify” in deciding
whether the victim’s hearsay statements
were admissible under the wrongdoing-by-
forfeiture exception. Therefore, the Mis-
souri Supreme Court did not unreasonably
apply Crawford when it affirmed that ad-
missibility determination by the trial court.

That the jury ultimately disagreed with
the trial court about Petitioner’s purpose
for murdering Ms. Guenther does not
mean the trial court’s evidentiary ruling
was improper.”® The jury rejected two
statutory aggravating circumstances prof-
fered by the prosecution related to Peti-
tioner’s motive for the murder: that it was
committed for the purpose of preventing
the victim from testifying in the pending
burglary and domestic abuse investigations
and prosecutions. Petitioner argues the
Missouri Supreme Court’s failure to take
the jury’s findings into account means that
its decision rests on an unreasonable de-
termination of fact in violation of Section
2254(d)(2). But admissibility of evidence
does not—and logically could not—turn on
the jury’s ultimate acceptance of that evi-
dence. The Missouri Supreme Court’s deci-
sion was based on a reasonable determina-
tion of facts, and this claim will be denied.

G. Claim 6: Prosecutor’s penalty-phase
closing argument

[45] In this ground for relief, Petition-
er argues that certain statements made by
the prosecutor in penalty-phase closing ar-
gument were improper. Petitioner claims
these statements were so inappropriate
that they infected the trial with unfairness,
and the resulting death sentence violated

find the aggravating factors “beyond a rea-
sonable doubt.” See McLaughlin, 265 S.W.3d
at 272; L.F. 858.
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his Eighth and Fourteenth Amendment
rights. See Donnelly v. DeChristoforo, 416
U.S. 637, 94 S.Ct. 1868, 40 L.Ed.2d 431
(1974). He argues that his trial counsel was
ineffective for failing to object to the argu-
ment, thereby failing to preserve it as an
issue for appeal.

Petitioner identifies three problematic
portions of the prosecutor’s argument.
First, in the “soldier” portion, the prosecu-
tor stated:

You know, sometimes when you come
in, you have a duty. You've all seen this.
You've all seen the soldiers in World
War II. You know, they’re now what? In
their 70s and 80s, if they're still around.

They went back in World War II, and
they did their duty. The war wasn’t
something I'm sure they took pleasure
in. They didn’t want to do that. They
didn’t want to get taken away from their
families and go over and fight the Ger-
mans and the Nazis. That wasn’t what
they wanted to do; they had a duty to do
it, and they did their duty. And just as
you have a duty to do. . ..

When you talk to those men now, and
you look at those men, you know what?
They’re able to stand up there tall, and
they’re proud. They’re not proud be-
cause of what they had to do to those
other young men, but they’re proud be-
cause they’re able to do their duty. They
did what was right even though it was
hard to do that.

(Trial Tr. 1994-95.) Second, the prosecutor
stated that:

So, ladies and gentlemen, you've
heard all the evidence. You've heard
both the aggravating and the mitigating.
It’s up to you to decide. In doing that, if
you're trying to think why should you do
this, well, number one, the evidence is
there for you to do it. And, number two,
you know, you could send a message.
Even if it only stops one other person

173 FEDERAL SUPPLEMENT, 3d SERIES

from doing what he did, that’s a mes-
sage you want to send.

(Id. 1995.) Third, the prosecutor referred
to Petitioner’s mitigating evidence as “ex-
cuses” and labeled forensic psychologist
Dr. Cunningham “Dr. Excuse.” (Id. 1989.)

[46] When trial counsel does not object
to a closing argument, federal habeas re-
lief is only available “if the prosecutor’s
closing argument was so inflammatory and
so outrageous that any reasonable trial
judge would have sua sponte declared a
mistrial.” Kennedy v. Kemna, 666 F.3d
472, 481 (8th Cir.2012) (quoting James v.
Bowersox, 187 F.3d 866, 869 (8th Cir.
1999)); see also Copeland, 232 F.3d 969,
974 n. 2 (8th Cir.2000) (the same test
applies to guilt-and penalty-phase argu-
ments, but “if there is any distinction be-
tween guilt and penalty phase arguments,
it would seem that there should be a more
searching review of the penalty phase”).
Here, Petitioner’s trial counsel objected to
three other statements but did not object
to those at issue in this claim. Petitioner
argues that, together, the prosecutor’s
statements represent “repeated acts of
misconduct” that betray a “calculated
strategy by the prosecution to distract the
jury from following the law.” (Pet., p. 38.)

i. “Soldier” language

The Missouri Supreme Court rejected
the “soldier” claim on direct appeal. The
Court distinguished the prosecutor’s re-
marks from more “extensive, direct,
graphic” arguments in Brooks v. Kemp,
762 F.2d 1383 (11th Cir.1985), vacated on
other grounds 478 U.S. 1016, 106 S.Ct.
3325, 92 L.Ed.2d 732 (1986), and Weaver v.
Bowersox, 438 F.3d 832 (8th Cir.2006). The
Court reasoned that the prosecutor in this
case had not told the jury it had a duty to
kill, just that it had a duty to “hear the
evidence and decide on a punishment.” The
prosecutor had concluded his argument by
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stating, “It’s up to you to decide,” which
was different from Brooks and Weaver.
Additionally, the court’s instructions to the
jury had “focused the jury’s attention on
the individualized facts and circumstances
of the case and also repeatedly reminded
the jury that it was the jury’s job to decide
the punishment.” 265 S.W.3d at 276.

Petitioner contends the Missouri Su-
preme Court’s decision ran afoul of clearly
established federal law because the prose-
cutor’s argument was “nearly identical” to
one found to violate a criminal defendant’s
due process rights in Viereck v. United
States, 318 U.S. 236, 63 S.Ct. 561, 87 L.Ed.
734 (1943).% Viereck involved a German
national convicted of willfully concealing
activities that should have been listed on a
government-required form registering
himself as an agent of a foreign power. His
case went to trial a few weeks after Pearl
Harbor. The prosecutor reminded jurors
the country was at war and told them they
should find Viereck guilty because, among
other things, there were people out there
“plotting your death and my death; plot-
ting our death and the death of our fami-
lies,” and the American people were rely-
ing on the jury to protect them against
“this sort of a crime,” just as much as they
relied on the military. He went on, “As a
representative of your Government I am
calling upon every one of you to do your
duty.” Id. at 247 n. 3, 63 S.Ct. 561.

The Viereck argument is different in a
number of ways than the one at issue here.
The prosecutor in that case implied that
the defendant was a danger to the jurors
themselves, used his position of authority
to virtually command a conviction, and em-
phasized that the whole country was rely-
ing on the jurors to protect them in “a
fight to the death.” Id.; see also Weawver,
438 F.3d at 841 (using the conscience of
the community as a guiding principle

26. Strictly speaking, the Court vacated Vier-
eck’s conviction on an unrelated ground, and

places too high a burden on a single defen-
dant). The argument here did none of
those things, nor did it explicitly encourage
the jury to consider the defendant a part
of some greater adversary in deciding
whether to impose the death penalty. Cone-
pare United States v. Young, 470 U.S. 1,
16-18, 105 S.Ct. 1038, 84 L.Ed.2d 1 (1985)
(prosecutor’s admonition to jury to “do its
job” was improper but, even considered in
concert with other improper remarks, had
not “undermine[d] the fundamental fair-
ness of the trial.”); Weaver, 438 F.3d at
841 (it was improper for prosecutor to
imply that execution of the defendant
would further society’s greater “war on
drugs”).

ii. “Send a message” and ‘“‘excuses” lan-

guage

[47,48] Respondent disputes that Peti-
tioner “fairly presented” to the state court
his arguments related to the other inap-
propriate statements made by the prosecu-
tor in closing arguments. See Baldwin v.
Reese, 541 U.S. 27, 29, 124 S.Ct. 1347, 158
L.Ed.2d 64 (2004) (to comply with 28
U.S.C. § 2254(b)(1), requiring exhaustion
of state remedies before habeas review,
petitioner must “fairly present” his claim
in each appropriate state court). A fairly
presented claim rests on the same “factual
arguments and legal theories” as proffered
in state court and does not “present signif-
icant additional facts.” See Kenley .
Armontrout, 937 F.2d 1298, 1302-03 (8th
Cir.1991) (citing Tippitt v. Lockhart, 903
F.2d 552, 554 (8th Cir.1990) and Stramn-
ghoener v. Black, 720 F.2d 1005, 1007-08
(8th Cir.1983)).

In his state-court appeals, Petitioner ar-
gued that prosecutorial misconduct during
closing argument violated his Fourteenth
Amendment right to due process but did

its comments related to the prosecutor’s argu-
ment were dicta.
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not quote the “sending a message” and
“excuses” language, only the “soldier” re-
mark. He argues these claims were none-
theless fairly presented because there is
an “arguable factual commonality” be-
tween what he said in state court and what
he says here. Id.

I disagree. Petitioner relies on “signifi-
cant additional facts” in basing these
claims on language he did not bring to the
attention of the state courts. I cannot con-
clude that the state court had an opportu-
nity to “pass upon and correct” these al-
leged constitutional violations. Baldwin,
541 U.S. at 29, 124 S.Ct. 1347 (quoting
Duncan v. Henry, 513 U.S. 364, 365, 115
S.Ct. 887, 130 L.Ed.2d 865 (1995) (per
curiam)); see Brown v. Luebbers, 344 F.3d
770, 782 (8th Cir.2003), overturned on oth-
er grounds, 371 F.3d 458 (8th Cir.2004) (en
banc) (where defendant raised claim in
state court that one prosecutorial remark
improperly shifted burden of proof, but
argued to habeas court that two remarks
together shifted burden of proof, habeas
claim was procedurally barred).

[49] Even assuming Petitioner’s claims
were reviewable by this court, the prosecu-
tor’s statements were not so inflammatory
and outrageous as to require the sua
sponte declaration of a mistrial, even when
considered together. See 28 U.S.C.
§ 2254(b)(2) (federal court may deny habe-
as petition on the merits notwithstanding
petitioner’s failure to exhaust state reme-
dies). To determine whether a prosecutori-
al remark infected a defendant’s trial with
unfairness, a court must first determine
whether the remark was improper. Sim-
mons v. Bowersox, 235 F.3d 1124, 1137
(8th Cir.2001). Then, the court must:

(1) measure the type of prejudice that

arose from the argument;

(2) examine what defense counsel did in

rebuttal to minimize prejudice;

(3) review jury instructions to see if the

jury was properly instructed; and
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(4) determine if there is a reasonable

probability that the outcome of the sen-

tencing phase would have been different,

taking into account all of the aggrava-

ting and mitigating circumstances.
Antwine v. Delo, 54 F.3d 1357, 1363 (8th
Cir.1995) (citing Newlon v. Armontrout,
885 F.2d 1328, 1337 n. 10 (8th Cir.1989)).
The Eighth Circuit has held that a “send-
ing a signal” remark “puts an improper
burden on the defendant because it pre-
vents an individual determination of the
appropriateness of capital punishment.”
Weaver, 438 F.3d at 841.

Applying the Antwine considerations to
both remarks, the “message” remark was
the last thing the jury heard; defense
counsel could not rebut the remarks and
did not object when they were made. How-
ever, the “excuses” statement and the
“sending a message” statement together
comprised a small portion of the overall
argument. The jury had been instructed
that arguments were not evidence and had
been reminded several times when defense
counsel objected during closing argument
to what he considered mischaracterizations
of evidence. (See L.F. 863 (Instruction No.
27); Trial Tr. 1991:2-3, 1992:10-12, 1993:3-
4.))

Importantly, taking the argument as a
whole, the prosecutor was clear that the
chief reason the jury should impose the
death penalty was that the evidence in this
individual case supported that punishment.
In suggesting the jury “send a message”
to other potential violent offenders, the
prosecutor appears to have been emphasiz-
ing one reason our society has the death
penalty as punishment and why that pun-
ishment was appropriate for this case. The
prosecutor’s statement, when taken in con-
text, did not encourage the jurors to abdi-
cate their responsibility to particularize
sentencing to Petitioner. Unlike the prose-
cutor in Weaver, here the state did not
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prey on the jury’s general fear of crime.
Compare Weaver, 438 F.3d at 841-42 (cit-
ing Copeland v. Washington, 232 F.3d 969,
972-73 (8th Cir.2000)).

Similarly, referring to “Dr. Excuse” and
calling mitigating evidence “excuses” was
not advisable. See, e.g., United States v.
Mitchell, 502 F.3d 931, 995 (9th Cir.2007).
Nonetheless, this remark was not so im-
proper to infect the trial with unfairness.
Darden v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 168, 181,
106 S.Ct. 2464, 91 L.Ed.2d 144 (1986); see
also Malicoat v. Mullin, 426 F.3d 1241,
1257 (10th Cir.2005) (“excuses” language
was a proper argument “regarding the
appropriate weight to afford the mitigating
factors”); United States v. Johnson, 495
F.3d 951, 966 (8th Cir.2007) (prosecutor’s
argument that jury give “no weight” to
defendant’s lack of a criminal record was
not improper because it did not suggest
the jury exclude the factor from consider-
ation). Considering these two isolated re-
marks in the context of the argument as a
whole, the proper and repeated jury in-
structions, and defense counsel’s extensive
discussion of Dr. Cunningham’s testimony,
there is not a reasonable probability that
the outcome would have been different had
the remarks not been made.

Because the underlying claim has no
merit, its corollary ineffective assistance of
counsel claim must also be denied. See
Gray v. Bowersox, 281 F.3d 749, 756 n. 3
(8th Cir.2002); see also 28 U.S.C.
§ 2254(b)(2).

H. Claim 7: Beck v. Alabama claim

[50] Petitioner argues that the trial
court erred in refusing to submit to the
jury an instruction on second-degree felo-
ny murder. He contends that the failure to
give the jury the option of convicting him
of a lesser-included offense violated Beck
v. Alabama, 447 U.S. 625, 100 S.Ct. 2382,
65 L.Ed.2d 392 (1980).

The Beck Court examined an Alabama
statute that prohibited instructions on less-
er-included offenses in death-penalty
cases. The Court concluded that the stat-
ute violated the Eighth Amendment; in a
death-penalty case, the jury must be in-
structed on a lesser-included offense sup-
ported by the evidence in order to give the
jury a third option between outright ac-
quittal and conviction of a capital offense.
Id. at 637-38, 100 S.Ct. 2382.

The Supreme Court of Missouri adjudi-
cated Petitioner’s Beck claim on the mer-
its. It agreed with Petitioner that the evi-
dence presented would have supported an
instruction on felony murder. McLaughlin,
265 S.W.3d at 271; see also Mo. Rev. Stat.
§ 565.021.1(2) (statutory definition of felo-
ny murder). But it held that because the
jury here had been instructed on conven-
tional second-degree murder, there was no
danger of the “all-or-nothing” problem in-
herent in Beck, and so the Eighth Amend-
ment did not require a felony-murder in-
struction.

The court did not unreasonably apply
Beck in so holding. Since Beck, the United
States Supreme Court decided another
case involving this issue. In Schad v. Ari-
zona, 501 U.S. 624, 111 S.Ct. 2491, 115
L.Ed.2d 555 (1991), the habeas petitioner
had been convicted of capital murder. He
argued that, under Beck, he had been enti-
tled to a jury instruction on the lesser-
included offense of robbery. A divided
Court held that the “central concern of
Beck simply [was] not implicated” because
the Schad jury had been instructed on
second-degree murder.

Relying on Spaziano v. Florida, 468
U.S. 447, 104 S.Ct. 3154, 82 L.Ed.2d 340
(1984), overruled on other grounds by
Hurst v. Florida, — U.S. ——, 136 S.Ct.
616, 193 L.Ed.2d 504 (2016), Petitioner
argues that the trial court did not dispose
of its constitutional duty by instructing on
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one lesser-included offense. Petitioner ar-
gues that Spaziano applied Beck to a situ-
ation involving multiple lesser-included of-
fenses, and so both instructions should
have been given here. At worst, Petitioner
argues, Spazianoclearly established that
he should have been given a choice about
whether he wanted an instruction on con-
ventional second-degree murder or felony
murder.

I disagree. Spaziano did not hold that a
defendant is constitutionally entitled to
choose among multiple lesser-included of-
fenses. Instead, it held that Beck did not
require instruction on lesser-included of-
fenses if the statutes of limitation on those
offenses had already run. In other words,
Spaziano is not an extension of Beck but a
limitation thereof, providing for a situation
where it is constitutional for a jury not to
be instructed on lesser-included offenses at
all.

Again, the standard here is whether the
Missouri Supreme Court’s rejection of this
claim was an unreasonable application of
or contrary to clearly established federal
law. In light of Schad, as well as the
deference owed to the state court decision,
the Missouri Supreme Court did not un-
reasonably apply Beck when it held that
the Eighth Amendment did not require the
trial court to submit to the jury an instruc-
tion on felony murder. See also Driscoll v.
Delo, 71 F.3d 701, 714 (8th Cir.1995) (in a
capital case, petitioner’s trial counsel had
not been constitutionally ineffective for
failing to request felony-murder instruc-
tion where jury had been instructed on
conventional second-degree murder); Kil-
gore v. Bowersox, 124 F.3d 985, 995 (8th
Cir.1997) (same, noting that “a crime
which carried a drastically lesser sentence
would leave the jury with something dan-
gerously close to the all-or-nothing choice
prohibited by Beck” but conventional sec-
ond-degree murder was a “reasonable sec-
ond option”); Spaziano, 468 U.S. at 455,
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104 S.Ct. 3154 (“The goal of the Beck rule

. is to eliminate the distortion of the
factfinding process that is created when
the jury is forced into an all-or-nothing
choice between capital murder and inno-
cence.”); Six v. Delo, 885 F.Supp. 1265,
1275 (E.D.Mo.1995).

I. Claim 8: “Depravity of mind” statuto-
ry aggravator

[61] Petitioner argues that the sole
statutory aggravating circumstance found
by the jury, that the murder of Ms. Guen-
ther had involved “depravity of mind,” is
unconstitutionally vague and overbroad.
He contends that, in violation of the
Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments, the
instruction on depravity of mind failed to
provide meaningful guidance to the jury
for distinguishing between the few mur-
ders for which the death penalty is appro-
priate and the many for which it is not. See
Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238, 310, 92
S.Ct. 2726, 33 L.Ed.2d 346 (1972); Godfrey
v. Georgia, 446 U.S. 420, 433, 100 S.Ct.
1759, 64 L.Ed.2d 398 (1980).

Responding to Godfrey, the Supreme
Court of Missouri held in 1984 that in-
structing the jury that it should find de-
pravity of mind anytime a murder was
“wantonly vile, horrible, and inhuman,”
without more, was unconstitutionally
vague. See State v. Preston, 673 S.W.2d 1
(Mo. banc 1984); see also Godfrey, 446 U.S.
at 428-29, 100 S.Ct. 1759 (“There is noth-
ing in these few words, standing alone,
that implies any inherent restraint on the
arbitrary and capricious infliction of the
death sentence.”). The Preston Court set
out a list of concrete circumstances on
which a jury could be instructed that, in its
view, would appropriately limit the deprav-
ity-of-mind aggravator. Id. at 11; see also
State v. Griffin, 756 S.W.2d 475 (Mo. banc
1988) (at least one Preston factor must be
present for depravity-of-mind aggravator
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to be supported by the evidence). One of
the Preston factors was “brutality of [the]
defendant’s conduct,” which the Court sub-
sequently defined as involving “serious
physical abuse.” Griffin, 756 S.W.2d at
490. Though it did not elaborate on serious
physical abuse, the Missouri Supreme
Court did state in Griffin that evidence of
beating or numerous wounds would sup-
port the depravity-of-mind aggravating cir-
cumstance.

The language of the jury instruction giv-
en in this case reflects Griffin and Pres-
ton, though the wording is slightly differ-
ent:

Whether the murder of Ms. Guenther
involved depravity of mind and whether,
as a result thereof, the murder was out-
rageously and wantonly vile, horrible,
and inhuman. You can make a determi-
nation of depravity of mind only if you
find:

That the defendant committed re-
peated and excessive acts of physical
abuse upon Ms. Guenther and the killing
was therefore unreasonably brutal.

(L.F. 856.)

Petitioner argues specifically that the
phrase “repeated and excessive acts of
physical abuse” was insufficient to comply
with Godfrey and its progeny and thereby
constitutionally narrow the pool of capital-
eligible murders. He points out that “re-
peated” would apply to any homicide other
than one committed with a single act of
force, such as a single gunshot. “Exces-
sive,” according to Petitioner, is vague be-
cause the jury did not know whether it
should consider or ignore those acts com-
mitted in furtherance of the murder or just
other acts of physical abuse.

The Supreme Court of Missouri rejected
this claim on the merits. Missouri law
charges the state’s high court with con-
ducting an independent proportionality re-
view. Mo. Rev. Stat. § 565.035.3. One of
the determinations it is required to make

as part of that review is whether the evi-
dence supports any statutory aggravating
circumstance. Here, the court agreed with
the jury that the crime had involved “de-
pravity of mind” because of the “repeated
and excessive acts of physical abuse” com-
mitted by Petitioner. It described the ter-
rible defensive wounds the victim had sus-
tained. Relying on this evidence, the court
found not only that the “depravity of
mind” statutory aggravating circumstance
existed in this case but also that aggrava-
tor, as narrowed by the “repeated and
excessive acts” language, was not constitu-
tionally vague. See McLaughlin, 265
S.W.3d at 277-78; see also id. 277 n. 14
(“Stalking a woman, and later raping her
and stabbing her seven times as she fights
for her life constitutes repeated and exces-
sive brutality under any definition of the
term”).

This is not contrary to or an unreason-
able application of Godfrey. The Godfrey
Court held that, to comply with the Eighth
and Fourteenth Amendments, a state
“must channel the sentencer’s discretion
by clear and objective standards, that pro-
vide specific and detailed guidance, and
that make rationally reviewable the pro-
cess for imposing a sentence of death.” 446
U.S. at 428, 100 S.Ct. 1759 (internal quota-
tion marks omitted). It was not objectively
unreasonable for the state courts to hold
that “repeated” and “excessive” meet
these criteria. Although “repeated,” stand-
ing alone, might not sufficiently narrow
the pool of crimes for which the death
penalty is constitutionally imposed, see
Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238, 92 S.Ct.
2726, 33 L.Ed.2d 346 (1972), it must be
considered in light of the jury instruction
in its totality. “Repeated and excessive
acts of physical abuse” is a readily under-
standable phrase, and one clearly sup-
ported by the evidence in this case. As a
whole, it was not unreasonable for the
state courts to conclude that the “depravi-
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ty of mind” statutory aggravating circum-
stance was defined by clear and objective
language that the sentencers understood
would limit their discretion to impose the
death penalty. See also Maynard v. Cart-
wright, 486 U.S. 356, 364, 108 S.Ct. 1853,
100 L.Ed.2d 372 (1988) (applying Godfrey
and holding that a depravity-of-mind ag-
gravator would be “constitutionally accept-
able” if it were subject to an instruction
limiting it to murders involving “some kind
of torture or physical abuse”); Mallett v.
Bowersox, 160 F.3d 456, 462 (8th Cir.1998).

J. Claim 9: Victim impact evidence

[562] In his Claim 9, Petitioner argues
that the trial court erred in allowing the
prosecutor to elicit testimony from the vic-
tim’s son about the tragic deaths of his
toddler brother and his grandfather when
he was a child. Ms. Guenther’s son testi-
fied among other things that those deaths
had devastated his mother and had con-
tributed to his parents’ subsequent di-
vorce. It is undisputed that those deaths
occurred many years before Ms. Guenther
was murdered and long before she entered
a relationship with Petitioner.

Petitioner argues that the testimony was
irrelevant to “the specific harm caused by
the crime in question,” Payne v. Tennes-
see, 501 U.S. 808, 825, 111 S.Ct. 2597, 115
L.Ed.2d 720 (1991), and its admission—
over defense counsel’s objection—rendered
his sentencing fundamentally unfair in vio-
lation of his Fourteenth Amendment due
process rights. See Darden, 477 U.S. at
179-183, 106 S.Ct. 2464. Petitioner con-
tends that the testimony and argument
inflamed the passion of the jury and creat-
ed an unreasonable risk that a death sen-
tence would be imposed based on “caprice
or emotion.” Gardner v. Florida, 430 U.S.
349, 358, 97 S.Ct. 1197, 51 L.Ed.2d 393
(1977). Under Supreme Court precedent,
he argues, victim impact evidence is admis-
sible at the sentencing phase of a capital
trial but only to further the traditional
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purposes of sentencing and not to evoke
sympathy for the victim or her family
based on events totally unrelated to the
victim’s murder.

The Supreme Court of Missouri consid-
ered this claim on the merits and held that
although “it would have been preferable
not to admit the evidence,” Petitioner had
not demonstrated that the evidence was
“so unduly prejudicial that it rendered the
trial fundamentally unfair.” McLaughlin,
265 S.W.3d at 273. Quoting its own prece-
dents, the Missouri Supreme Court rea-
soned that “[i]t is not necessary that every
piece of victim impact evidence relate to
the direct impact of the victim’s death on
the witness.” Id. (quoting State v. Forrest,
183 S.W.3d 218, 225 (Mo. banc 2006), cert.
denied 549 U.S. 840, 127 S.Ct. 75, 166
L.Ed.2d 68 (2006)).

The Missouri Supreme Court’s decision
was not contrary to or based on an unrea-
sonable application of Payne. The Payne
Court stated that victim impact evidence is
not offered “to encourage comparative
judgments” between more and less “de-
serv[ing]” victims, but “designed to show

. each victim’s uniqueness as an individ-
ual human being.” 501 U.S. at 823, 111
S.Ct. 2597 (internal quotation marks omit-
ted). The Court noted that, following
Payne, state prosecutors would no longer
be barred under the Eighth Amendment
from “offering a ‘quick glimpse of the life’
which a defendant ’chose to extinguish.””
1d. (quoting Mills v. Maryland, 486 U.S.
367, 397, 108 S.Ct. 1860, 100 L.Ed.2d 384
(1988) (Rehnquist, J., dissenting)). The tes-
timony from the victim’s son arguably rep-
resented a “glimpse of the life” of the
victim. Although it is undisputed that the
deaths of the Ms. Guenther’s son and fa-
ther were unrelated to her murder, neither
Payne nor any other Supreme Court case
precludes wholesale the admission of any
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testimony about the victim not directly
related to the crime in question.

The question is then whether this evi-
dence, unrelated as it is to the murder,
was so unduly prejudicial as to render the
trial fundamentally unfair. Payne, 501 U.S.
at 825, 111 S.Ct. 2597; see also Storey v.
Roper, 603 F.3d 507, 529 (8th Cir.2010)
(“The ’fundamentally unfair’ due process
standard typically means that the petition-
er must show that there is a reasonable
probability that the alleged error affected
the outcome of the trial and that absent
the impropriety, the verdict likely would
have been different.”) (citing Skillicorn v.
Luebbers, 475 F.3d 965, 972 (8th Cir.
2007)).

The Missouri Supreme Court found that
Petitioner had not demonstrated undue
prejudice because all he could cite was the
jury’s inability to agree on a verdict, and
“there [was] nothing to connect the jury’s
deadlock to the admission of this peripher-
al testimony.” McLaughlin, 265 S.W.3d at
273. This may be true, but it is not the
appropriate way to measure whether the
improper admission of evidence rendered a
trial fundamentally unfair. If a defendant
were required to affirmatively connect a
jury’s verdict to a particular piece of evi-
dence, the Due Process Clause would be
virtually meaningless: neither criminal de-
fendants nor the courts are privy to jury
deliberations and so neither can say with
absolute certainty how a jury came to a
conclusion.

[53] Instead, a court must consider—
based on the totality of evidence admitted
at trial and the nature of that evidence—
the risk that improper evidence led to the

27. Petitioner argues that the prosecutor re-
ferred to the death of the victim’s young son
in closing argument, but he is incorrect. The
victim had three sons. The victim’s son Corey
had died as a toddler. (Trial Tr. 1495:3-20.)
Her son Christopher testified that his remain-
ing living brother, Nick, was “pretty shook

jury’s verdict. E.g., Estelle v. Williams,
425 U.S. 501, 504, 96 S.Ct. 1691, 48
L.Ed.2d 126 (1976) (“The actual impact of
a particular practice on the judgment of
jurors cannot always be fully deter-
mined. ... Courts must do the best they
can to evaluate the likely effects of a par-
ticular procedure, based on reason, princi-
ple, and common human experience.”) Al-
though a direct connection between a piece
of evidence and a verdict can be a factor in
assessing this risk, such as when the jury
responds to special interrogatories, it can-
not be the only factor.

But even assuming it had applied the
correct standard and reached the same
conclusion, the state court’s decision could
not be considered “objectively unreason-
able.” The improper testimony from the
victim’s son must be taken in context with
the rest of his proper testimony and the
fact that the prosecutor did not mention
the deaths in his closing argument.?” See
Gray v. Bowersox, 281 F.3d 749, 755 (8th
Cir.2002). Neither the victim’s son nor the
prosecutor stated or implied that Petition-
er was somehow responsible for those
deaths or that the jury should consider
them when imposing a sentence, and the
risk that this testimony influenced the de-
cision is small. See Storey, 603 F.3d at
518-21 (in light of the other properly ad-
mitted victim impact evidence and the
“grisly nature” of the crime, even obvious-
ly prejudicial evidence had not rendered
trial fundamentally unfair).

The state courts’ decision was not con-
trary to or an unreasonable application of
any of the other Supreme Court due pro-
cess cases cited by Petitioner, none of

up” and could not testify because he
“[could]n’t even take it.”” (Trial Tr. 1504:9-14.)
The prosecutor stated, “Nick, the baby in the
family, as Chris said, couldn’t even come in.”
(Id. 1963:3-4.) He did not refer to the de-
ceased child, Corey, during his argument.
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which speak directly to the effect of im-
proper victim impact evidence. Claim 9 will
be denied.

K. Claim 10: Forcible rape conviction

[64] In his Claim 10, Petitioner argues
that the evidence of forcible rape was le-
gally insufficient to support his conviction.
The governing statute provides that “[a]
person commits the crime of forcible rape
if such person has sexual intercourse with
another person by the use of forcible com-
pulsion. ...” Mo. Rev. Stat. § 566.030.1. It
defines “forcible compulsion” as “physical
force that overcomes reasonable resis-
tance” or “a threat, express or implied,
that places a person in reasonable fear of
death, serious physical injury or kidnap-
ping of such person or another person.” Id.
§ 566.061(12).

Petitioner contends that the statute re-
quired the state to prove that Ms. Gunther
was still alive when he had sexual inter-
course with her. The statute is silent on
whether a live victim is required, but Peti-
tioner argues that its terms “person,”
“forcible compulsion,” and “reasonable re-
sistance” are inconsistent with a victim
being dead at the time of sexual inter-
course.

In support of his contention that there is
not enough evidence for a reasonable jury
to have found beyond a reasonable doubt
that he had forcibly raped Ms. Guenther
while she was alive, Petitioner points to
two things: (1) although the jury convicted
him of forcible rape, it acquitted him of
Count IV, armed criminal action for the
rape,?® and (2) the jury sent a note to the
trial court asking, “Is it rape if a person
has sexual intercourse with a person who

28. The Count IV instruction told the jury that
if it found Petitioner had committed forcible
rape and had ‘“knowingly committed that of-
fense by or with or through the use or assis-
tance or aid of a dangerous instrument,” it
should find him guilty of Count IV. (L.F. 832.)

173 FEDERAL SUPPLEMENT, 3d SERIES

is deceased, by law?” (L.F. 840.) The court
told the jury it was not permitted to re-
spond to the question and reminded the
jury to be guided by the evidence and
instructions. (Id. 841.) As a corollary, Peti-
tioner claims the trial court erred by refus-
ing his proffered instruction that forcible
rape requires the victim to be alive.

The Supreme Court of Missouri adjudi-
cated this claim on the merits. It held that
“where the forcible compulsion that leads
to the rape begins before the death of the
victim, the defendant is guilty of rape even
if the jury believes defendant killed the
viectim before penetration or before the
sexual assault was concluded.” In so doing,
it noted that it was adopting the “ongoing
criminal assault” rule, which had been ac-
cepted by the majority of jurisdictions to
examine the issue. It therefore held that it
had not been error for the trial court to
refuse to instruct the jury that the crime
of forcible rape requires the victim to be
alive throughout the assault. McLaughlin,
265 S.W.3d at 268-70.

Aware of the deferential standard this
habeas court must apply, Petitioner argues
that the Missouri Supreme Court based its
decision on an unreasonable application of
Supreme Court due process cases. Jackson
v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S.Ct.
2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979) (Fourteenth
Amendment protects criminal defendant
against conviction unless any rational trier
of fact could have found every essential
element of the charged offense beyond
reasonable doubt); see also In re Winship,
397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25
L.Ed.2d 368 (1970) (this is a federal consti-
tutional claim cognizable on habeas re-
view); Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S.

The prosecutor had argued that the knife used
by the Petitioner was a dangerous instrument
he had used to aid in the forcible rape. (E.g.,
Trial Tr. 1991:10-22.) Petitioner contends that
the jury’s acquittal on Count IV shows it
rejected this theory.
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466, 476-77, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d
435 (2000) (Sixth Amendment also protects
defendant’s right to have a jury make this
determination). Petitioner argues that the
Missouri Supreme Court’s decision is also
based on an unreasonable determination of
the facts before the state courts because it
failed to consider the jury’s supposed re-
jection of the prosecution’s theory that
Petitioner’s stabbing of Ms. Guenther ful-
filled the “forcible compulsion” element of
forcible rape.

i. State court decision was based on rea-
sonable interpretation of law

The Missouri Supreme Court’s decision
that, under Missouri law, forcible rape
does not require the victim to be alive at
the time of penetration, does not offend
clearly established federal law on the suffi-
ciency of evidence. According to the Mis-
souri Supreme Court’s reading of Mo. Rev.
Stat. § 566.030.1, a live victim is not an
essential element of the crime of forcible
rape. A criminal defendant has no constitu-
tional right to “proof beyond a reasonable
doubt of elements not necessary to consti-
tute the crime charged.” United States v.
Inman, 558 F.3d 742, 748 (8th Cir.2009).
Therefore, the sufficiency of the state’s
evidence that Ms. Guenther was alive
when she was raped is irrelevant.

ii. State court interpretation of forcible
rape was not impermissible ex post
facto enlargement of criminal stat-
ute

As a corollary to this claim, Petitioner
challenges the constitutional propriety of
the Missouri Supreme Court’s retroactive
interpretation of Mo. Rev. Stat.
§ 566.030.1. He argues that the Missouri
Supreme Court’s adoption of the “ongoing

29. The forcible rape and forcible sodomy stat-
utes include an identical “forcible compul-
sion” element. The Legislature amended both
statutes at the same time and intended the

criminal assault” rule essentially removes
an element of forcible rape (either that the
victim be alive at the time the rape is
perpetrated or that, at the time force is
applied, the defendant intends to rape the
victim) and constitutes an improper ex post
facto judicial enlargement of a criminal
statute. See, e.g., Bouie v. City of Colum-
bia, 378 U.S. 347, 3563-54, 84 S.Ct. 1697, 12
L.Ed.2d 894 (1964). The Supreme Court
has clarified that a retroactive interpreta-
tion of a criminal statute only violates a
defendant’s due process rights if the inter-
pretation is “unexpected and indefensible
by reference to the law which had been
expressed prior to the conduct in issue.”
Rogers v. Tennessee, 532 U.S. 451, 461, 121
S.Ct. 1693, 149 L.Ed.2d 697 (2001) (quot-
ing Boute, 378 U.S. at 354, 84 S.Ct. 1697).

Niederstadt v. Nixon, 505 F.3d 832,
836-39 (8th Cir.2007), involves a related
Missouri criminal statute and is instructive
here. In that case, the defendant had ap-
proached his victim while she was asleep
and penetrated her vagina with his finger.
He was convicted of forcible sodomy at the
trial level, but the appellate court vacated
his conviction, holding that because the
victim had been asleep when the defendant
assaulted her and stopped when she awak-
ened, there was no evidence he used “forc-
ible compulsion” as required by the gov-
erning statute prohibiting forcible sodomy.
“Forcible compulsion” is defined by statute
as “[p]hysical force that overcomes reason-
able resistance.”® The Missouri Supreme
Court reinstated the conviction, holding
that the defendant had used the requisite
physical force by merely inserting his fin-
ger in the victim’s vagina.

At habeas review, the Kighth Circuit
held that the Missouri Supreme Court had

provisions of each statute to correspond. See
id. at 837 (quoting comment to Mo. Rev. Stat.
§ 566.060(1)).
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not unreasonably applied Bouie and Rog-
ers in holding that the forcible coercion
element was satisfied by the force inherent
in a sex offense committed on a sleeping
victim, who cannot resist. The circuit court
noted that the holding was not “unexpect-
ed and indefensible,” as required to consti-
tute an improper ex post facto judicial
enlargement of a criminal statute, because
the state courts had long recognized—un-
der an earlier statute prohibiting ravish-
ment of women—that unconsented pen-
etration of a sleeping woman necessarily
involved force, even if no other force was
applied and even in the face of claims
exactly like that of the Niederstadt defen-
dant. Id. at 838 (citing State v. Welch, 89
S.W. 945 (Mo0.1905) and State v. Atkins,
292 S.W. 422 (Mo.1926)).

[65] Likewise, the Missouri Supreme
Court did not unreasonably apply Bouie
and Rogers in this case. Petitioner argues
that by finding him not guilty of armed
criminal action related to the rape, the
jury must have disagreed with the trial
court that stabbing Ms. Guenther to death
fulfilled the “forcible compulsion” element
of forcible rape. Assuming this is so, Nied-
erstadt shows it was not objectively unrea-
sonable for the Missouri Supreme Court to
hold that the state had proffered enough
evidence of forcible compulsion by proving
there was force inherent in Petitioner’s
rape of Ms. Guenther. If a sleeping person
cannot reasonably resist, see id. at 836,
neither can a deceased person. See Mis-
sourt v. Niederstadt, 66 S.W.3d 12, 15 (Mo.
banc 2002) (in considering sufficiency of
evidence that force was calculated to over-
come reasonable resistance, a victim’s “ina-
bility to resist does not inure to the benefit
of the accused”). This negates the question
of whether the state was constitutionally
required to show Petitioner intended to
rape Ms. Guenther at the time he stabbed
her; he does not dispute there was evi-
dence of his intent to rape her when he
actually engaged in that conduct. Affirm-
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ing his conviction based on this evidence
does not run afoul of any clearly estab-
lished federal law. See also Lipham wv.
Georgia, 488 U.S. 873, 109 S.Ct. 191, 102
L.Ed.2d 160 (1988), denying cert. to Lip-
ham v. State, 257 Ga. 808, 364 S.E.2d 840,
842 (1988).

L. Claim 11: Failure to give jury instruc-
tion matching statute

[66] Petitioner argues that the trial
court erred in refusing to give a jury in-
struction mirroring precisely the language
in Mo. Rev. Stat. § 565.032. That statute
provides, in relevant part:

1. In all cases of murder in the first
degree for which the death penalty is
authorized, the judge in a jury-waived
trial shall consider, or he shall include in
his instructions to the jury for it to
consider:

(1) Whether a statutory aggravating
circumstance or circumstances enu-
merated in subsection 2 of this section
is established by the evidence beyond
a reasonable doubt; and

(2) If a statutory aggravating cir-
cumstance or circumstances is proven
beyond a reasonable doubt, whether
the evidence as a whole justifies a
sentence of death or a sentence of
life imprisonment without eligibility
for probation, parole, or release ex-
cept by act of the governor. In deter-
mining the issues enumerated in sub-
divisions (1) and (2) of this subsection,
the trier shall consider all evidence
which it finds to be in aggravation or
mitigation of punishment, including
evidence received during the first
stage of the trial and evidence sup-
porting any of the statutory aggrava-
ting or mitigating circumstances set
out in subsections 2 and 3 of this
section
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(emphasis added).*

The Supreme Court of Missouri rejected
Petitioner’s claim of instructional error. It
noted that a criminal defendant is not gen-
erally entitled to particularly worded in-
structions. It held that the instructions
actually given were “proper substitutes,”
see State v. Carson, 941 S.W.2d 518, pin
(Mo. banc 1997), which had adequately in-
formed the jurors that it was their respon-
sibility to determine whether the evidence
as a whole justified life or death. It pointed
specifically to Jury Instruction 24 (in
weighing the mitigating and aggravating
circumstances, “you may consider all of
the evidence presented in both the guilt
and the punishment stages of trial”), In-
struction 25 (“You are not compelled to fix
death as the punishment” even if you do
not find the mitigating circumstances out-
weigh the aggravating circumstances;
“You must consider all the evidence in
deciding whether to assess and declare the
punishment at death”), and Instruction 26
(“if you unanimously decide, after consid-
ering all of the evidence and instructions of
law given to you” to assess death as the
punishment) (emphasis added). (L.F. 858-
62.) Petitioner does not (and could not) ask
this court to review the propriety of this
holding. See Estelle v. McGuire, 502 U.S.
62, 67, 112 S.Ct. 475, 116 L.Ed.2d 385
(1991) (“it is not the province of a federal
habeas court to reexamine state-court de-
terminations on state-law questions”).

The Missouri Supreme Court also re-
jected Petitioner’s argument that refusing
his proffered instruction violated Ring v.
Arizona, 536 U.S. 584, 122 S.Ct. 2428, 153
L.Ed.2d 556 (2002). Although I have al-
ready determined that the imposition of
the death penalty in this case violated the

30. The emphasized language, as it is worded
in the statute, is not in the pattern instruc-
tions in the Missouri Approved Instructions—
Criminal (MAI-CR). As stated earlier, Mis-

rule established in Ring, I do not agree
that this jury instruction presents a sepa-
rate constitutional problem. Petitioner ar-
gues that the language in question—
“whether the evidence as a whole justifies
a sentence of death”—is a Ring-type pre-
requisite that the Constitution reserves for
a jury. He claims that imposing the death
penalty without separately asking the jury
this question violated his Sixth Amend-
ment right as described in Ring.

[571 The success of a Ring claim de-
pends on the content of state law. State
law must condition eligibility for the death
penalty on some determination of fact be-
fore the Sixth Amendment will protect a
defendant’s right to have that determina-
tion made by a jury. As the Missouri Su-
preme Court held, Missouri “statutes no-
where state such a finding [“whether the
evidence as a whole justifies a sentence of
death”] is required in order to impose a
death sentence; the legislature set out the
required findings in section 565.030, not
section 565.032.1.” McLaughlin, 265
S.W.3d 257, 265 (Mo. bane 2008). The find-
ing of fact discussed in Claim 3, s listed in
Mo. Rev. Stat. 565.030 and thereby is a
state-required precondition for death-pen-
alty eligibility, which the state has re-
peatedly recognized. See, e.g., Whitfield,
107 S.W.3d at 259; State ex rel. Baker wv.
Kendrick, 136 SSW.3d 491, 491 (Mo. banc
2004). But because it was reasonable to
conclude that the “evidence as a whole”
language does not have the same force
under state law, the Missouri Supreme
Court did not unreasonably ignore Ring
when it decided that a separate, special
jury finding using that language was not
constitutionally required. This claim is de-
nied.

souri state courts in criminal cases are re-
quired to use the MAI-CR if they include an
instruction relevant to the case. Missouri Su-
preme Court Rule 28.02(c), ().
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M. Claim 12: Court’s exclusion of hear-
say did not violate Petitioner’s due
process rights

In Claim 12, Petitioner argues that the
court improperly excluded as mitigating
evidence testimony from his cousin, Shawn
Delgado. The trial court excluded the testi-
mony because it violated the state’s hear-
say rules. On appeal, the Missouri Su-
preme Court held that this claim had not
been presented in Petitioner’s motion for a
new trial and was therefore procedurally
defaulted under state law. Nonetheless,
the state high court exercised its discretion
to review the claim for plain error. It
found none. McLaughlin, 265 S.W.3d at
273-74.

[58] At the time this petition was filed,
there was an intra-circuit split on whether
an unpreserved claim reviewed by the Mis-
souri Supreme Court for plain error could
be considered by a habeas court applying a
“manifest injustice” standard. Since then,
the Eighth Circuit has resolved the issue.
A procedurally defaulted claim is unre-
viewable by a habeas court, even if adjudi-
cated by the state courts under discretion-
ary plain-error review. Clark v. Bertsch,
780 F.3d 873, 876-77 (8th Cir.2015).

In a brief filed after the evidentiary
hearing held in this court, Petitioner ar-
gues that his counsel’s failure to preserve
this claim in the motion for a new trial
constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel
that amounts to “cause” to excuse the pro-
cedural default. But Martinez v. Ryan, —
U.S. —, 132 S.Ct. 1309, 182 L.Ed.2d 272
(2012), on which he relies, was limited, for
good reason and by its own terms, to
claims of ineffective assistance of trial
counsel. Id. at 1317-18. It has not been
extended to claims of evidentiary or other
error. See Dansby v. Hobbs, 766 F.3d 809,
833 (8th Cir.2014) (Martinez does not ap-
ply to claims of ineffective assistance of
appellate counsel or to claims of trial er-

173 FEDERAL SUPPLEMENT, 3d SERIES

ror). Therefore, it has no application here,
and Claim 12 must be denied.

VI. CERTIFICATE OF APPEALABILI-
TY

[59] Under 28 U.S.C. § 2253, an ap-
peal may not be taken to the court of
appeals from the final order in a 28 U.S.C.
§ 2254 proceeding unless a circuit justice
or judge issues a Certificate of Appealabili-
ty. 28 U.S.C. § 2253(c)(1)(A). To grant
such a certificate, the justice or judge must
find a substantial showing of the denial of
a federal constitutional right. Id.
§ 2253(c)(2); see Tiedeman v. Benson, 122
F.3d 518, 522 (8th Cir.1997). A substantial
showing is a showing that issues are debat-
able among reasonable jurists, a court
could resolve the issues differently, or the
issues deserve further proceedings. Cox v.
Norris, 133 F.3d 565, 569 (8th Cir.1997). I
find that reasonable jurists could not differ
on any of the claims I denied, so I will
deny a Certificate of Appealability on
those claims.

Accordingly,

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the
petition of Scott McLaughlin for writ of
habeas corpus [#15] is granted as to the
sentence of death only, based on Claim 1A
and Claim 3 as discussed above, and de-
nied in all other respects. Petitioner’s
death penalty is vacated, and he must ei-
ther be sentenced to life in prison without
the possibility of parole or must be given a
new penalty hearing.

An appropriate judgment granting the
writ of habeas corpus is issued this same
date.
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